

# Hugvísindasvið

# Njáls saga in AM 162 B fol. 1

An Analysis and Edition of the Manuscript

Ritgerð til MA-prófs í íslensku- og menningardeild

Jerel Lai-Jing Lai

Maí 2014

Háskóli Íslands Hugvísindasvið Medieval Icelandic Studies

# Njáls saga in AM 162 B fol. 1

An Analysis and Edition of the Manuscript

Ritgerð til MA-prófs í íslensku- og menningardeild

Jerel Lai-Jing Lai

Kt.: 301088-3459

Leiðbeinandi: Haraldur Bernharðsson

**Maí 2014** 

## **Table of Contents**

INTRODUCTION	2
1. CODICOLOGICAL DESCRIPTION	4
2. CONTENTS AND TEXTUAL TRANSMISSION	9
3. PALAEOGRAPHICAL CHARACTERISTICS	15
4. LINGUISTIC AND ORTHOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	23
5. DATE	39
6. PROVENANCE	50
7. EARLIER EDITIONS	52
8. THIS EDITION	53
9. NOTES ON THE TRANSCRIPTION	56
BIBLIOGRAPHY	61
FACSIMILE TEXT OF AM 162 B FOL. 1	I
DIPLOMATIC TEXT OF AM 162 B FOL. 1	XXI
NORMALISED TEXT OF AM 162 B FOL. 1	XXXII

#### Introduction

Being the most well known and most read of all the sagas, *Brennu-Njáls saga*, also known as *Njáls saga*, has been preserved in over 60 manuscripts. 19 of them are said to be written between 1300 and 1550. All of these manuscripts, however, are incomplete. The manuscripts, which are longer and near completion (i.e. manuscripts with fewer missing leaves), tend to be used in the compilation of the saga; this inevitably leaves out many of the other manuscripts. The smaller fragments if used at all in variations of the text are often found bunched with others of the same family of manuscripts. As a means to help increase accessibility and to increase participation of more manuscripts in scholarly research and studies involving manuscripts, this thesis will focus on a manuscript fragment of *Njáls saga*, AM 162 B fol. 1.

The aim of the thesis is estimate a dating of the manuscript based on, while also providing, an in depth description of and a detailed analysis of the palaeography and orthography in the manuscript AM 162 B fol. 1. As it has never been published in full, the manuscript has been transcribed and edited into three levels: facsimile, diplomatic, and normalised. The edition is done digitally using the mark-up language XML on the programme *Oxygen XML Editor* and it is the author's intention to publish the full text of the manuscript online in the *Medieval Nordic Text Archive* (MENOTA).

This thesis has been done in collaboration with the on-going research project

The Variance of Njáls saga at the Árni Magnússon Institute in Reykjavík, with the

Principal Investigator being Dr Svanhildur Óskarsdóttir.

Digital images of the manuscript were provided by the Árni Magnússon Institute, both in colour and black and white (taken in ultraviolet light), for the purpose of the thesis.

## 1. Codicological Description

AM 162 B fol. 1 is a parchment fragment, which consists of four conjoint leaves (i.e. two bifolia. The state of the leaves ranges from poor to manageably legible. The parchment is darkest on the outermost pages and is progressively lighter in shade with each page leading to the centre of the gathering; that is to say the recto side of the first leaf is very dark, especially in the area closer to the binding and the top of the page, in comparison to the other pages. In comparison to 1 recto, the other side (1 verso) of the same leaf is rather dark, but lighter than 1 recto, while 2 recto is lighter than 1 verso. 2 verso, on the other hand, is very light in the middle left portion of the page due to the rub-offs, while leaving the top and bottom quarters, along with the area close to the binding as dark as 2 recto. 3 recto and 3 verso have similar shades throughout the page with 3 verso being a little bit lighter in shade than 3 recto. 4 recto is lighter than 3 verso, although much darker closer to the binding. 4 verso is darker than 4 recto overall and much darker in the area close to the binding. It would be of no surprise if the manuscript had at one point in its history been used as a book cover.

All four leaves have at least a crease showing that it has been folded across them, of which the second and third leaves have three fold lines each, two horizontal and one vertical. These lines vary in the amount of damage they cause to the text ranging from illegibility to somewhat legible. There are small holes along these fold lines. On the first leaf, the fold mark is seen throughout the second line of the text and, in addition, some creases on the twelfth line and between lines 15 and 16 in the first column of the recto side. On the second leaf, the fold line is along the same area as the first, but between lines eight and nine with holes along the fold.

Another fold is seen at the bottom of the page, approximately along the third last line. There seems to have been a vertical fold between the two columns of the second leaf as well. The fold marks on the third leaf is similar to that of the second, but another horizontal fold mark appears in the bottom margin. On the fourth leaf, a single horizontal fold mark appears along the third line. It can thus be safely assumed that all the leaves combined were used at one point as a double-strength book cover.

Both the first and the last leaves of the fragment have been trimmed on all three sides (i.e. top, bottom and fore-edge), while the second leaf is only trimmed on the edge, leaving the third leaf undamaged by trimmings. The first and the fourth leaves, being the most trimmed and the smallest in terms of area, have lost large amounts of text on the top, bottom and from the column closest to the foreedge (23 mm wide of the text block remaining). Even though the leaf suffered least from trimmings, the third leaf is very damaged from "rot" and holes (of which, most appear to have been patched up). This brings to the surface a strong possibility that this fragment has in fact been used as a book cover at some point, with the third leaf being exposed as the outer facing side (thus being the most damaged of the leaves) while the other trimmed leaves are "safely" tucked inside. It is also interesting to note that even though the first and fourth leaves (part of a sheet) are trimmed on three sides, there are narrow remains on the top and bottom where they bind that reaches the same length as the second and third leaves. The fore-edge of the third leaf is drooped vertically downward with its upper text curving downwards. The manuscript was possibly wet and left to stand upright at one point in its history.

The size of the smallest leaves (the first and fourth leaves) is circa 154 mm x 128 mm. The second leaf (the second least trimmed) measures circa 162.5 mm x 269 mm, while the third leaf measures 266 mm x 200 mm.

The text in the fragment does not flow continuously (excluding the trimmed-off areas) between the two bifolia. Approximately seven and a half chapters are missing between 1v and 2r, and between 3v and 4r (see chapter 2).

The text is arranged into two columns of approximately 204–214 mm x 85–77 mm with 37 lines on the untrimmed leaf, which can be assumed to be what it would have been originally. The narrowest width on a trimmed column measures 19 mm (on 4 verso column a), while the widest width on a trimmed column measures 64 mm (on 2 verso column a). On the heavily trimmed leaves, i.e. the first and fourth leaves, there are 26 lines in each column with remnants of descenders or ascenders (excluded in the 26 line-count) on the very top and bottom of several of the leaves. The space between columns is between 5 mm and 8 mm. The margins on the outer side of the third leaf (the untrimmed leaf) measure ca. 20 mm, while the inner margins vary between 9 mm (4 recto) and 24 mm (1 verso). There does not appear to have any signs of prickings or rulings on the manuscript.

There are no illuminations in the manuscript; however, initials are used instead to mark the beginning of each chapter or, in some instances, a new paragraph. These initials are simply enlarged letters with the body of the letter taking up two lines; the initials "P" and "h" have their left vertical stroke running in the margin, extending further lower and higher than the body. Nearly half (four) of which are in red, and are not fancily decorated. Of the initials that are not in red, two are in yellow and one in turquoise (perhaps it was green at one point and faded over time). Three of the initials are decorated with green 'vines' around them.

Table 1: Frequency of initials in manuscript.

Chapter	Initial	Colour	Word
110	Þ	Red	Þat
113	M	Red	Mað2
114	S	(Unclear)	Sn0221
116	h	Green	hılldıgvn <i>r</i>
117	S	(Unclear)	SI <sub>F</sub> °
120	A	Red	ASg¹m²
120	G	Red/Green	Gvomo2
121	A	Red/Green	Anan

On the recto side of the first leaf, marginalia by a much younger hand (18<sup>th</sup> or 19<sup>th</sup> century) in the inner margin can be read as follows: "Nials s. c. 103 – 106". On the recto side of the second leaf, the number "2" is written in the middle of the top margin, while in the bottom margin, "Nials s. c. 110 – 118" can be seen. On the verso side of the same leaf, there are two lines of illegible writing curving downwards on the bottom of the page. On the recto side of the third leaf, the number "3" is written in the middle of the top margin. On the verso side of the same leaf, "Fragm. membr. h." and "fol 1" are written in the bottom margin. On the recto side of the fourth leaf, "Nials s. c. 120 – 22" is written in the inner margin.

The fragment has been rebound in modern day into a paper folder. According to information of the manuscript on *handrit.is*, the fragment was repaired and bound by Birgitte Dall on November 1965.

Attached in the folder is a slip (measuring 144mm  $\times$  153 mm) by Árni Magnússon's hand, which reads:

ur Nials Sogu sem gisle Jonsson i Reykiarfirde hefur ätt, og rifed i

sundur.

('from Njáls Saga that Gísli Jónsson in Reykjarfjörður have owned, and ripped apart.')

For more information on Gísli Jónsson in Reykjarfjörður, refer to the chapter on Provenance.

#### 2. Contents and Textual Transmission

The text of the manuscript has been identified from *Brennu-Njáls saga* both by Árni Magnússon and Kristian Kålund (Kålund 1889). Using the *Íslenzk fornrit*-edition of *Brennu-Njáls saga* (Einar Ólafur Sveinsson 1954) as reference for chapters, pages and lines, the fragment contains the following:

- Chapter 102 (260<sup>13</sup>–264<sup>9</sup>, 264<sup>26</sup>–267<sup>2</sup>): begins on the second line of the first poem, "randa suðr á landi..." 16 lines missing (trimmed top and bottom of manuscript) in the middle of the chapter, where it picks off again is uncertain based on the first two lines of the second column as they have been trimmed off.
- Chapter 103 (267<sup>3</sup>–267<sup>6/7</sup>, 268<sup>3</sup>–269<sup>5</sup>): unsure where it ends on end of column as only two characters remain after trimming. Final 5 lines are missing.
- Chapter 104 ( $269^{18}$   $270^{13}$ ): first seven lines of the chapter in the manuscript are missing.
- Chapter 105 (270<sup>14</sup>–271<sup>9</sup>): first third of chapter, ending with "...til lǫgbergs ok nefndu hvárir tveggju".
- Chapter 109 (278<sup>15</sup>–279<sup>20</sup>): continues off middle of chapter with "at viðr alla nóttina..." and down to the end of the chapter.
- Chapter 110 (279<sup>21</sup>–280<sup>14</sup>): complete
- Chapter 111 (280<sup>15</sup>–281<sup>28</sup>): complete
- Chapter 112 (282<sup>1</sup>–283<sup>25</sup>): complete
- Chapter 113 (283<sup>26</sup>–286<sup>3</sup>): complete
- Chapter 114 (286<sup>4</sup>–287<sup>11</sup>): complete
- Chapter 115 (287<sup>12</sup>–289<sup>22</sup>): complete

- Chapter 116 (289<sup>23</sup>–293<sup>14</sup>): complete
- Chapter 117 (293<sup>15</sup>–293<sup>26</sup>): first third of the chapter ending with "...þó hefir ek svarit eiða at skiljask".
- Chapter 119 (301<sup>2</sup>– 302<sup>3</sup>, 302<sup>17</sup>–303<sup>14</sup>): continues from the last third of the chapter, "...honum at sitja. Ásgrímr mæti". A third is missing between where it continues from and the end of chapter.
- Chapter  $120 (303^{15} 304^3, 304^{19} 305^{16}, 306^2 306^{15})$ : Approximately two quarters of the chapter is missing.
- Chapter 121 ( $306^{16}$ – $307^7$ ): first third available, ending with "at senda þegar mann af  $\flat 000$ ".

The *Table 2* below breaks up the available text that is present on each page and column of the manuscript corresponding to the text in AM 468 4to (*Reykjabók*) and in *Íslenzk fornrit XII*:

Table 2: Content of AM 162 B fol. 1, separated by leaf and column in correspondence to the corresponding text in AM 468 4to (Reykjabók) and Íslenzk Fornrit XII-edition.

Page	Column	In AM 468	In Íslenzk fornrit XII-editio
		4to	
		(Reykjabók-	
		edition)	
1r	a (trimmed top and	104 <sup>4</sup> -105 <sup>9</sup>	260 <sup>13</sup> –264 <sup>9</sup>
	bottom)		
	b (trimmed top,	105 <sup>21</sup> -106 <sup>19</sup>	264 <sup>26</sup> -267 <sup>10</sup>
	bottom and right		
	side)		

In order to calculate the amount of text that is missing from the manuscript from trimmings and missing leaves, assuming that the current leaves 1 and 4 are the outermost bifolio of the two and also the outermost bifolio in the original, the

available text is compared with the text in AM 468 4to (*Reykjabók*) as Einar Ól. Sveinsson has concluded that *Reykjabók* was most similar to AM 162 B fol. 1 (Einar Ól. Sveinsson 1953, 98-99). As both the first and the last leaves have been trimmed on the top and bottom, the following calculations will be made from the first visible word on 1ra (with trimmed top) to last visible word on 4vb (with trimmed bottom) (i.e. "randa suður á landi ... senda þegar mann af"), as it would be difficult to estimate where the text would begin were it not trimmed. The same selection of corresponding text in the manuscript found in AM 468 4to (*Reykjabók*) contains 9,266 words (42,202 characters without spaces), while the normalised edition of AM 162 b fol. 1 contains 4,280 words (19,036 characters without spaces). In result, slightly more than 4,980 words (23,166 characters without spaces) are missing from the manuscript in the forms of trimmed-off areas of the parchment, giving its percentage of missing text to be at least 54%; this would take into account of the trimmed-off area at the beginning and the end.

As mentioned in the prior chapter, approximately seven and a half chapters are missing between the two bifolia, that is so say, the text from the bottom of 1vb to the top of 2ra and the text from the bottom of 3vb to the top of 4ra. By using the number of words contained in the only untrimmed leaf (i.e. 3r and 3v) as a point of reference, it can be estimated that a bifolio (two leaves) is missing between the two bifolia in the manuscript fragment. That is to say that the bifolio containing leaves 2 and 3 would form the innermost bifolio of a quire, due to the continuous text between 2r and 3v. This would mean that in the event that the iota fragment were the remnants of an eight-leaf quire, the outermost bifolio of the quire would also be missing.

Both 3r and 3v contained a total of 1,432 legible words (6,921 characters, including unclear characters), while the number of missing words (from the

Reykjabók-edition) between the first and second leaves is 1,682 (7,376 characters), and 1,680 (7,478 characters) words between the third and fourth. With the numbers of characters and words obtained from the third leaf, it can be deduced through a rough estimation that the full and complete manuscript of Brennu-Njáls saga, of which this fragment remains, would have had approximately between 62 and 68 leaves, given that this fragment closely follows AM 468 4to (Reykjabók, which contains a total of 97,578 words and 433,030 characters). The approximation was achieved by dividing the total number of words in the Reykjabók-edition by the number of characters in leaf 3 (giving a number of characters in leaf 3)

Being known as the longest and most popular of the Icelandic Family Sagas, the transmission of Brennu-Njáls saga is impressively extensive. To date, there are slightly more than 60 manuscripts containing Njáls saga; 19 of them (all parchment) are believed to be from 1300 to 1550, although, none of them are complete however (Einar Ólafur Sveinsson 1954, CXLIX). There are also five parchment manuscripts, most of which are fragments, from around the 17<sup>th</sup> century, although 'their text [is] no better than the text from paper manuscripts from the same period' ("texti þeirra engu betri en texti pappírshandrita frá sama tíma") (Einar Ólafur Sveinsson 1954, CXLIX). The text contained in AM 162 B fol. 1 does find itself in the following: AM 468 4to (Reykjabók), partially AM 133 fol. (Kálfalækjarbók), GKS 2870 4to (Gráskinna), partially AM 162 B fol. \$\phi\$, partially GKS 2868 4to (Skafinskinna), partially AM 162 B fol. \$\phi\$, partially GKS 2868 4to (Skafinskinna), 4to (Bæjarbók) (Einar Ólafur Sveinsson 1953). *Table 3* below gives an overview of the manuscripts in which the text is preserved, arranged chronologically from oldest to youngest by the ONP dating.

 $Table\ 3:\ Other\ manuscripts\ in\ which\ the\ text\ is\ preserved.$ 

Manuscripts	Dating
GKS 2870 4to (Gráskinna)	c1300/1500-1550
AM 468 4to (Reykjabók)	c1300-1325
AM 162 B fol. γ	c1325
AM 133 fol. (Kálfalækjarbók)	c1350
AM 162 B fol. ε	c1350-1375
GKS 2868 4to (Skafinskinna)	c1350-1400
AM 466 4to (Oddabók)	c1460
AM 309 4to (Bæjarbók)	1498

## 3. Palaeographical Characteristics

The number of hands in AM 162 B fol. ι has never been mentioned specifically in existing manuscript catalogues: the online catalogue Handrit.is (2013), Kålund's *Katalog* (1889), and ONP (*Ordbog over det Norrøne prosasprog. Registre* 1989). The handwriting and script are consistent throughout the manuscript, hence giving no indication for the possibility of more than one scribe working on the manuscript. The hand(s) has not been identified in any other manuscripts.

The script type employed in the manuscript is *Gothic semi-cursive* script (also known as *hybrida*) or what Guðvarður has labelled "árléttiskrift"; Derolez refers to the script type as *Cursiva Antiquior*, i.e. the textualised variant that has the general appearance of *Cursive*, but frequently lacks loops on the ascenders. The loops on the ascenders are omitted, with the exception of "d" rotunda, δ; some of the "l"s, "b"s and "h"s have loops on the ascenders as well. The top of the ascenders is either bifurcated or "decorated with a vertical or downwards sloping hairline to the left" (Derolez 2003, 163–165). Most of the letter forms are retained from Cursiva, in which the tall "f" extends below the baseline and the two-lobe Insular "ϝ"; and from Gothic Textualis, two-storey "a". Guðvarður Már Gunnlaugsson states that "Hybrid script did not make its appearance in Iceland until about 1400, but continued in use until after the middle of the sixteenth century" (Derolez 2003; Guðvarður Már Gunnlaugsson 2007, 255).

The letter "a" appears as the so-called "two-storey a" throughout the manuscript; this is known to be a feature typical of Pregothic, late Carolingian script and later Textualis (Derolez 2003, 73), which gradually prevailed in the course of the 14th century



Figure 1: "Twostorey a" in the word "þá", 1vb

(Stefán Karlsson 2002, 836).

The letter "d" is written in the shape of a "looped d" (Derolez 2003, 134), in which its shaft bends towards the left, curves upwards, making a skinny loop on the top before ending by joining the right side of the bowl; this form became particularly common during the 14th



"Looped d"

century (Stefán Karlsson 2002, 836). The use of the letter "ð" is non-existent in the

manuscript. A possibility is that both "d" and "ð" would be written to similarly to be distinguished from each other.

Although the main reason that "ð" is non-



Figure 3: Odd d in "undraðisk", 4va21.

existent is due to the Norwegian influence of the "o"-less tradition. An oddly written "d" is also found and only one occurrence of this (see Figure 3); it appears that the scribe might have made a mistake and hence attempted to change what he had written into a "d".

The letter "f", throughout the manuscript, is written primarily as the Insular "f", " $\mathfrak{f}$ ", or more specifically, the two-lobe Insular " $\mathfrak{f}$ ", which is a later development of the older Insular "r". From the older Insular "p", the horizontal bars bend downwards and meet back the vertical shaft. The leftmost vertical stroke of the Insular "F" descends below the line. This form of the Insular "p", although was used in the first half of the 14th century, only "became predominant in Icelandic script, both in

book and charters, in the second half of the 14th century and was used to a

great extent up to the 17th century" (Stefán Karlsson 2002, 136). In spite

of the two-lobe Insular "r" being predominant in the script of iota, a small

number of Insular "p"s came in short in re-joining the lower lobe back to

the vertical shaft (see Figure 5).



Insular f" in

Insular f".

The letter "g" is written very similar to, as Albert Derolez calls it, "the 'Rücken'-g (g 'with a back')" (Derolez 2003, 88). The letter "g", in general, is formed with the upper half of the letter Example of 'g' in resembling the letter "o", while the bottom half varied depending margir, 2ra20 on the time period. The form of "g" used in the manuscript differs from the 'Rucken'-"g" by the slight concave of the vertical stroke. This variant of the letter "g" used in the manuscript is formed with a single vertical stroke connecting the right section of both upper and lower lobes; this vertical stroke then continues by bending to the of "g" in "gengu", left, and then upwards to finally form the lower bowl joining the 1vb32. upper bowl. This form of "g" "became predominant during the 14th century" (Stefán Karlsson 2002, 836). Despite the aforementioned description of the letter "g" seen throughout the manuscript, there is a small number of openbowled-"g"s (i.e. a "g" that has a lower bowl not connecting the upper bowl on its final stroke, ending on the horizontal stroke) spotted in the manuscript (see Figure 7).

The letter "h" is written with its left stroke starting vertically down and upon reaching the line, it turns right and continues diagonally upwards joining the right stroke; its right stroke extends below the line and ending the stroke by bending diagonally upwards to the left; this form of "h" was

Figure 8: Example of letter "h".

predominant in the 14th century (Stefán Karlsson 2002, 837).

The letter "j" has only been used once in the word "snjallr" (1ra8) in the manuscript. The letter "i" (with or without acute accent mark) was used to denote both the vowel *i* and semivowel *j* (as in the name "Hjalti"). "i" appeared mostly among "m" and "n", i.e. in cases



that make it difficult to distinguish an "1" among other letters with similar strokes.

The letter "k" appears to be composed of three strokes; the two strokes on the right segment of the letter often form a bowl in the midsection, the main vertical stroke bends right at the bottom (frequently joining up to the upper bowl, thus creating two bowls). According to Stefán Karlsson, this form of "k" was common "during the 14th century" (2002, 837).

There are no instances in which the right minim of the letters "n" or "m" extends below the line; the style wherein the right minims of "n" and "m" extend below the line became rare from around the middle of the 14th century (Stefán Karlsson 2002, 837).

The letter "r" appears as both the straight and round variant in the manuscript. The straight variant of "r" is written resembling the letter "v", wherein the lower tip of the stem continues upwards to the shaft, as was common during the 14th century, starting in charter script (Stefán Karlsson 2002, 837). The "round r", or the "r rotunda", "2", is seen written after "a", "b", "b", "e", "e", "g", "h", "1", "o" (as well as "6" and "o"), "2", "v" (as well as "w"), "y", "æ", as well as in word initial position. This extensive use of the "r rotunda" indicates a more 15th century feature as earlier manuscripts have shown to have specific and limited uses for the "r rotunda". The use of the "r rotunda" in the word initial position is rare and very much unconventional, and it appears in the word initial position in the manuscript in two words: "2au\da" (3ra9, rau\deltar 'red'), "2\ellar (3rb33, r\ellar sta 'clean/sweep'). This use of "r rotunda" is attributed to be from the 15th century since its use seem to be without regard to the preceding letter; furthermore, there are two occurrences in which "r rotunda" is seen in word initial position, which was rarely seen before 1500 (Stefán Karlsson 2002, 837). Below is a table showing which succeeding letters "r rotunda" and straight "r" occur.

Table 4: Frequency of 'r' and '2' following 'a', 'b', 'd', 'e', 'r', 'g', 'h', '1', 'o', '2', 'v', 'y', 'b', 'æ'.

	a	b	9	e	F	g	h	1	0,	2	v,	y	þ	æ	-
									ó,		a				(word
									ò						initial)
2	5	22	141	2	1	14	6	4	133	3	33	30	61	2	2
r	41	2	2	17	1	1	0	17	1	3	1	0	0	4	9

Two forms of the letter "s" are utilised in the manuscript, the so-called "long s", "f", and the "round s", "s"; the "long s" variant ("f") is the dominant of the two. The "f" is composed of one stroke (and occasionally two strokes, one on the top) that extended below the line, which was predominant in the 14th century (Stefán Karlsson 2002, 837). The "round s", on the other hand, were written in such a way that the bows close off that it closely resembled the numeral "8". There does not appear to be a rule that dictates where and when "f" and "s" are to be used. There were many circumstances in which both variants were used in the same word, for example, "sṗδı" (1ra30 spurði) and "ſṗδı" (2rb2 spurði). For the third person masculine personal pronoun in genitive hans, the round "s" is exclusively used to denote the genitive form, i.e. "hs" (example 2rb5, 2rb17). Apart from the aforementioned example, the round "s" appears mostly in word initial position either capitalised or not. In environments in which a round "s" could have been used to denote the geminate ss, two "f" take that place instead (for example, "beffa" in 3va33, bessa). The use of "f" appears to be more versatile than the more restricted utilisation of the round "s"; Table 5 below shows the letters in which the round "s" follows.

Table 5: Appearance of round "s" following the letters "A", "h", "o", "g", "ı", "l", "ø", "b".

- (word	ħ	A	9	g	1	1	Ø	Þ	Total
initial)									number
23	13	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	43

Besides the appearances of the round "s" in word initial position and following ħ, the round "s" is found in the following words: "þings" (2va27), "riskreka" (3ra7), "þozgils" (3ra7), "lòs" (3ra18), "zøskv" (3ra31), "iþse" (3va34), "ASg¹m̈" (4rb25).

The letters "u" and "v" are both used interchangeably for both the vowel u and the semivowel v regardless of their position in the word. The letter "w" does not appear in the manuscript. The shape of the letter "v" is rounded at the base, similar to "u"; the only distinguishing mark is the final vertical stroke downwards on the right side.

The letter "y" has its upper half similarly shaped to the letter "v", the right stroke then continues down below the line and curls left before continuing downwards. None of the "y"s have a dot nor an accent mark above. This type of "y" was seen "in the 13th century and into the 14th century" (Stefán Karlsson 2002, 838).

The letter "z" appears in the manuscript with a crossbar; this variant of "z" became increasingly common over the course of the 13th and more so in the 14th century (Guðvarður Már Gunnlaugsson 2007, 261; Stefán Karlsson 2002, 838).

Commonly used words (such as conjunctions and personal pronouns) in the manuscript tend to be abbreviated in some way; the most common, by far, abbreviation used in the manuscript is a horizontal bar, also commonly referred to as the "nasal stroke" as it was mainly used to represent the letters "m" and "n"

(Guðvarður Már Gunnlaugsson 2007, 262), for example "ħ" (hann). The usage of the "nasal stroke" is not only limited to the nasal consonants "m" and "n", but its use also extends to commonly written names and personal pronouns, such as "ħ" (þat) and "ħ²" (þeir). There is also one occurrence in the whole manuscript in which a horizontal bar below the baseline was used for the same purpose as a horizontal bar above: "ħ" (2ra24 þeim); þeim is otherwise written as "ħm".

The conjunction ok is replaced with a special abbreviation sign, known as the crossed form of the "Tironian note", " $\epsilon$ ", with eleven exceptions in which the conjunction is spelt out in full. The "Tironian note" with the crossbar gained popularity in the 14th century (Hreinn Benediktsson 1965, 91).

Other superscript abbreviations were mostly used for representing a front vowel + r, and r or v + a. The sequence ar is denoted with the superscript "r", which distinguishes from the superscript "2" by a more curved lower stroke to the right; the sequences er and ir are denoted with either "" (a zigzag mark over the letter) or the superscript "1", which comes in two variants. These two variants include one with the top half curving towards the left, and the other towards the right; the latter tends to represent er and er. The superscript "2" is used in the manuscript to denote the old er (i.e. without the er-epenthesis). The combinations er and er are represented by two superscript variants: "er" and "er"; examples of each found in the word er fram: "er m" (2ra10) and "er m" (4ra13). The latter symbol of the two is employed approximately four times more frequently than the former. Both symbols seem to be used interchangeably and they also appear in the same word with similar contexts. The most commonly abbreviated word using the superscript "er" and "er" is "er" (or "er") er fraction frame er and er has only appeared contracted in all cases, with the latter syllable using both variants of the superscript.

Table 6: Frequency of superscript letters in manuscript.

Superscript letters														
r	1	o	2	n	m	e	a	7	v	ဃ	N	9	Z	Total
351	178	43	30	25	11	7	6	6	4	1	1	1	1	665

## 4. Linguistic and Orthographic Characteristics

The spelling of the scribe is fairly variable as it does vary on several circumstances not just between leaves, but also even within the same leaf.

The dental fricatives in the manuscript are denoted by the letters "þ" (in initial position) and "δ" (in medial and final position). The process of "δ" being replaced by "δ" began in the 13th century and gradually declined in use in the middle of the century; after 1400, "δ" is almost never seen (Stefán Karlsson 2002, 835).

The middle voice is only seen ending with the exponent "z" in the manuscript, for example, "verız" (1ra25, of *vefja* 'to wrap/fold'), "kveðz" (1vb17, of *kveðja*), "bıoðz" (2ra20, of *búa*), "lıkaz" (3vb25, of *líka*). The "z" ending gradually replaced the previous "sk"/ "zk" endings during the 13th century, becoming the dominant form in the 14th century. The orthographic form "z", although was gradually being replaced in the latter half of the 14th century, was still used after 1400 (Kjartan G. Ottósson 1992, 121-124; Stefán Karlsson 2004, 31).

The short vowels  $\emptyset$  and  $\emptyset$  are not orthographically distinguished by the scribe of the manuscript. There is one appearance of the letter " $\emptyset$ " used in the word " $\mathbb{Z}$ 08kv" (3ra31, singular, genitive, feminine of the word  $\mathbb{Z}$ 18ka 'bag'). The vowel resulting from the merger of  $\emptyset$  and  $\emptyset$  is thus realised as "av", "au", " $\mathbb{Z}$ 0", " $\mathbb{Z}$ 0" and " $\mathbb{Z}$ 0". The distinction between the vowel  $\emptyset$  and  $\mathbb{Z}$ 0 became more obscure around 1200 (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 11; Hreinn Benediktsson 2002, 60).  $\mathbb{Z}$ 1 below shows the frequency of each letter used to denote the vowels resulting from the merger of  $\mathbb{Z}$ 1 and  $\mathbb{Z}$ 2 words that have been abbreviated, however, are excluded.

Table 7: Distribution of the vowel resulting from the merger of  $\emptyset$  and  $\emptyset$  represented in the manuscript fragment.

Letter	Frequency
"o"	42
"გ"	31
" <b>a</b> "	5
"av"	3
"au"	2
"ø"	1

There is no distinction made by the scribe between the long vowels  $\phi$  ( $\alpha$ ) and  $\dot{\phi}$  ( $\dot{\alpha}$ ); the resulting vowel has been denoted only by " $\alpha$ ". For example, the plural form of  $br\dot{\phi}\delta ir$  (i.e.  $br\dot{\phi}\delta r$ ) is spelt as " $b2\alpha\delta 2$ " (2rb5). Below is a list of a few examples showing that both vowels are simply represented with the letter " $\alpha$ ":

é	ó
"mæla" (2ra17, <i>mæla</i> )	"ſð2bæ" (1vb27, Saurbæ)
"vınfæll" (2ra23, vinsæll)	"b2æδ2" (2ra34, <i>br</i> æð <i>r</i> )
"ṛaſzmælv" (2rb1, fastmælum)	"þæττι" (2rb32, <i>þætti</i> )
"æττι" (3va22, <i>άtti</i> )	"ærιδ" (2va19, <i>ørit</i> )
	"kæmí" (3ra27, <i>kæmi</i> )
	"ſækıa" (3va19, sækja)

"The merger of ø: and ę: probably began in the middle of the thirteenth century" (Hreinn Benediktsson 2002, 61, Stefán Karlsson 2004, 11).

The unrounding of the (long and short) vowel y (i.e. i + y > i, i + y > i, and ey + ei > ei) is non-evident in the manuscript fragment. There are no words in the manuscript that would suggest a merger of the rounded and unrounded vowel; a few examples of the words listed that could have shown evidence for derounding are as follows:

```
"Reykhol⊽" (1ra32, Reykholum)
"hey21" (1rb15, from the verb heyra 'to hear')
"kneyrð" (1rb22, from the verb kneyfa 'to quaff')
"ey2⊽" (1vb11, dat. pl. of ey 'island')
"Ryð1a" (1vb13, ryðja 'to empty')
"Fly1a" (2ra17, flýja 'to flee')
"lyſa" (2ra24, lýsa 'to light up/to proclaim')
```

The general derounding, although not witnessed in the manuscript, would have begun in the early 16<sup>th</sup> century, or just after the year 1500 (Guðvarður Már Gunnlaugsson 1994, 35–36; Stefán Karlsson 2004, 11; Haraldur Bernharðsson 2013, 157–161). On the other hand, there is an occurrence of, as it appears to be, rounding, or reverse spelling, that can be seen in the word "hybyl⊽" (4ra17, híbýlum). Regarding the aforementioned word, Guðvarður Már Gunnlaugsson (1994, 37) writes:

Einnig segir Noreen að til hafi verið tvímyndirnar hýbýli hk. ft. og híbýli (1970: 71, 80) og telur að ý í hý- sé eðlilegt u-hljóðvarp; de Vries (1977: 274) telur híbýli vera analógíska hliðarmynd við hýbýli, en hý- er komið úr \*hiwa.

In addition to this, Jón Helgason believes that the forms hýbýli, híbýli, and híbíli

have all appeared in Old Icelandic (1929b, 26-27). As the word only appeared once in the manuscript, its value is uncertain.

In contrast to and not part of the general derounding of y, y, and ey, a few occurrences of sporadic derounding appear in bykkja 'to think/seem to be' (and its variations) and the word "h216f" (2vb26, hryggs). Of the three occurrences in which the verb bykkja occurs, twice is the verb written with an "i" and once with a "y". The aforementioned variety of derounding, which can be seen early in the  $13^{th}$  century, cannot be considered as part of the general derounding as it was possibly due to it preceding a palatalised stop in the syllable that follows (Haraldur Bernharðsson 2013, 158; Hreinn Benediktsson 2002, 219).

It is evident in the manuscript that the orthographic change of "vá" to "vo" has begun and is in progress. Of the 24 cases found, only three of them contain the spelling "va"; the word  $v\acute{a}n$  and the plural preterite forms of the verb vera ( $v\acute{a}ru$ [-])are removed from the tally as they both had both side forms  $v\acute{o}n$  and  $v\acute{o}ru$ (-) coexisting (Haraldur Bernharðsson 2013, 151-153, Hreinn Benediktsson 2002, 237-240);  $v\acute{a}ru$  is always written as "v" in the manuscript. The use of the spelling "va", or "vá", is seen in "zva" (2rb33, masc. acc. pl. of tveir 'two'), "fva" (3rb17, 'so'), and "hu'kı" ( $huark\iota$ , 3va1, 'neither'); although the superscript "r" was usually an abbreviation for "ar" or "ra", the word "hu'kı" was not added in the tally due to uncertainties. The commonly used word  $sv\acute{a}$  tends to be used as evidence for this orthographic change; of the 16 occasions the word appeared in the text, only once did it appear as "fva" (3rb17). The change of "vá" to "vo" began in the early 14<sup>th</sup> century (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 14). Table~8 below lists the examples of "vá" and "vo", excluding the variations of  $sv\acute{a}$ .

Table 8: Examples of 'vá' and 'vo'.

vá	vo
	"Égþo2ſhvolſ" (1ra10, Bergþórhváls)
"va" (4rb15, <i>vá</i> )	"vozza" (2va30, vátta)
	"vo2kvn" (3rb3, várkunn)
	"vogv" (3va26, <i>vágu</i> )
	"vozta" (2va30, vátta)  "vozkvn" (3rb3, várkunn)  "vogv" (3va26, vágu)  "vopn" (4va31, vápn)

The fricativisation of *t* has not been fully realised in this manuscript fragment. Throughout the manuscript, the spellings for frequent words, bat (e.g. 2ra31) and at (e.g. 1ra15), commonly utilised as evidence of change have not been fricativised (i.e.  $at > a\delta$ ,  $bat > ba\delta$ ). Even though the majority of the t in unstressed word-final position is not fricativised, there is an example of a preterite participle that end with a "δ": "lazıδ" (2rb33, from láta 'to let'). Other examples in the preterite participles and neuter definite nouns showing that this phonological change has not yet occurred are: "horvδίz" (2rb17, sg. neut. nom. def. of hofuð 'head'), "lδιz" (3ra3, sg. acc. neu. def. of land 'land'), "Rιδιτ" (3ra28, pret. participle of ríða 'to ride'), "viτ" (3rb2, pret. participle of vera 'to be'), "boriz" (3rb4, pret. participle of bera 'to bear/to carry'), "82ep12" (4rb4, pret. participle of drepa 'to kill/ to slay'). There appears to be an instance of reverse/inverse spelling as well in the word "megiz" (2vb2, 2<sup>nd</sup> person plural of mega 'to be able to do'). Thus, it can be said that there is only one instance of the fricativisation of t and an instance of reverse/inverse spelling, while the majority has the orthographic "t". The fricativisation of t began to appear in the 13<sup>th</sup> century and remains rather common, at least in the orthography, well into the 16<sup>th</sup> century (Björn K. Þórólfsson 1925, xxvii).

The fricativisation of k (i.e. k > g) in unstressed word-final position is only partially realised in this fragment. Words, such as the conjunction ok and the personal pronoun ek, are not fricativised in the fragment (i.e. they are written as "ok" and "ek"). The adverb mjok only appears ending with "k" four times in the manuscript (2ra27, 2ra29, 2rb34, 3ra33) and not once with a "g". In the reflexive pronouns, the appearance of the fricativisation of k is more varied; the third person reflexive pronoun in the manuscript only appears as "figh" (1ra27, 1va9, 2va8, 3va14). The other personal pronouns in the accusative (i.e. first person singular and second person singular) are evenly spread out ending in "gh", "g" or "k" (see table below). This process of change began as early as the  $13^{th}$  century (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 19).

Table 9: Distribution of the endings in reflexive pronouns.

	mik	þik	sik	Total
k	3	1	0	4
g/gh	4	10	4	18

The utilisation of the spelling "gh", however, does not restrict itself only to the realms in which k has been fricativised. This spelling seems to have influence the spelling of "g" becoming "gh" in the environment in which it represents a voiceless velar fricative [x] or a voiced velar fricative [y], for example in the words sagt [saxt] and dagur [ta:yrr] (which would have been spelt as saght and daghur given this influence), although no such spellings occur in the manuscript. The expression of g by "gh" is of Norwegian influence, which will be further discussed below.

The diphthongisation of *eng* > *eing* is distinctively present; "eing" is the choice

of spelling except for the word "Fengy" (fengu from the verb fa 'to get'), which is written twice on 1vb12. A possible explanation for the spelling of the word "Fengy" is that the scribe was mindlessly copying off another manuscript and as both of instances appear on the same line, noticing the spelling escaped his attention. Words containing the diphthong "eing" include "eingín" (4va30 and 4vb 26, engin 'no one/none') and "leingi" (1rb13 and 3va10, lengi 'for a long time'). The diphthongisation of eng > eing began appearing by the year 1300; around that same time, ong was diphthongised to aung, but no evidence of this is present (although, evidence of this is always very ambiguous) in the manuscript (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 14). Below is a list of all words taken into consideration for this phenomenon (abbreviated words, such as " $\overline{ggy}$ " gong, are not included in the list):

```
    "Rongh" (1ra22, rong)
    "leingi" (1rb13, 3va10, lengi)
    "rengv" (1rb13, fengu)
    "ongv " (3rb16, engum)
    "reozeing " (3vb17, fédrengr)
    "ceingoa" (3vb22, tengda)
    "eingín" (4va30, 4vb26, enginn)
```

There is only one evidence of the *u*-epenthesis (also known as the *u*-insertion) being present in the manuscript in the word: "oſuɪpo2ſ" (3ra2-3, Ósvífrs from the name Ósvífr). Words that typically show signs of the *u*-epenthesis having taken place, such as maðr ('man') and niðr ('down/downward'), are spelt out in full as "mað2" (2va10) and "nið2" (3va9), are absent. Even though the word maðr in the fragment is often (eleven of 14 times) shortened to a mere "m<sup>r</sup>" (for example 1vb21), the "r" superscript has only been used as an abbreviation for "ar", there is no possible way we could find out if the word could be expanded in any other way

as this abbreviation is fixed and have been used both before and after the uepenthesis. The vowel "u" being inserted before the letter "r" (if a consonant other than an "r" precedes this "r") began around 1300 and became predominant by the mid 15<sup>th</sup> century (Jón Þorkelsson 1863, 4-6, Stefán Karlsson 2004, 14).

The diphthongisation of  $\acute{e}$  (i.e. [e:] > [ie] > [je]), which started appearing in the  $13^{th}$  century (Björn K. Þórólfsson 1925, xiv), is not present in the fragment. In the dative singular of the personal pronoun  $\acute{p}\acute{e}r$  (from  $\acute{p}\acute{u}$ ) and  $\acute{s}\acute{e}r$  (from  $\acute{s}ik$ ), only once is "þer" (3va4) written in full while  $\acute{s}\acute{e}r$  is always written out as "fer" (e.g. 3rb24). In other places,  $\acute{p}\acute{e}r$  and  $\acute{m}\acute{e}r$  are written out as " $\acute{p}$ " and " $\acute{m}$ "; in the manuscript, the ''-mark has always seem to represent "er".

There is only one clear evidence in the manuscript that the pronunciation of *ll* has merged with *rl*, resulting being pronounced as [tl]. "fkallaz" (2ra21, in the word *skarlatsskikkju*) has the spelling "ll" for *rl*, possibly indicating that the scribe pronounced both *rl* and *ll* the same. For example, the word *jarl* could have been spelt as "iall" had the pronunciation of *ll* and *rl* merged. Intriguingly enough, the word *jarl* is realised as "iazll" (3va2), spelt with two "l"s instead of one, which could suggest a pronunciation with [tl] as it appears to be a hybrid of two spellings (i.e. "rl" and "ll"), possibly mixing the earlier spelling from the exemplar with "rl" and the orthography of the scribe calling for "ll". These two consonant clusters appeared to have begun to merge in pronunciation in the fourteenth century (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 21, 46). At about the same time, the cluster *rn* became pronounced in the same way as *nn* if it was followed by a long vowel or a diphthong. There are, however, no explicit evidence made by the scribe through his orthography that the clusters *rn* and *nn* are pronounced the same, i.e. for example *einn* written as "eirn".

Similar to the preceding merger mentioned, another type of dental insertion is evident in the manuscript. Possible evidences for this dental insertion are marked in

the genitives "half zrazlz" (1vb30, sg. gen. neu. of hálftroll) and "pellz" (2ra11, sg. gen. neu. of Svínafell); the scribe usually writes the letter "z" following a dental stop, which would suggest that the scribe would have pronounced ll with a a dental stop inserted for those two instances. Similar to the two examples above, the word "avfzmanz" (2vb18, sg. gen. masc. of austmaðr) would suggest a dental insertion in nn preceding the letter "z" as well.

Upon following a dental stop in a sequence, the (genitive ending) s would be denoted by the letter "z", which happened well into the 16<sup>th</sup> century (Stefán Karlsson 2002, 834). This is evident in the following examples: "þo₂vallðz" (1ra26, from the name *Porvaldr*), "ĥðzlu" (2ra17-18, from *hræzla*), "lıðueízzlv" (2vb2, of *liðveizla*), "mozz" (3ra32, *móts*).

Small capitals are frequently used in the fragment, especially "6", "N" and "R". In most cases, "6" and "N" were used to denote geminate consonants (or long consonants), in words such as "vozkvn" (3rb3 várkunn) and "legia" (1rb27 leggja), as the First Grammatical Treatise recommends. Other than its use to denote geminate consonants, the small capital "6" is often seen in the initial position of names, for example "61zvz" (1vb31 Gizurr) and "6" (2ra5) for the name Gunnarr. The small capital "N", on the other hand, was namely used to represent the name Njáll in an abbreviated form. Most of its other uses appear as in the conjunction "en" (1ra25 en 'but, and'); the scribe has three spellings for the word: "en" (2vb11), "en" (as above) and "e\overline{n}", the latter two indicating "enn". The scribe does not appear to distinguish between the conjunction en ('but, and') and the adverb enn ('still, yet') in his spelling, using both interchangeably; this seems to be common among medieval scribes as both en and enn tend to be unstressed. The letter "R", although could seem to represent a long r, it mainly appeared in the word initial or end position, such as "Raugn" (1ra19 rogn) and "|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\overline{n}|\over

small capitals for long consonants was very rare after 1400 (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 45-46).

Table 10: Frequency of small capitals used.

Small capitals	Frequency
N	104
R	82
G	26
A	1
Total:	213

The letter "c" does not appear in the manuscript unless the letter "k" directly follows it. The short k is always represented with "k", whereas a long k is denoted by "k", "kk" and in most cases, "ck". The words in which "k" was used to symbolise kk are as follows: "vþyk $\tau$ " (2ra24 óþykkt), "fzakf" (3rb7, in the place name Arnarstakksheiðr), and "fek" (4va30, from fa); "kk" that was used to denote kk are in the following words: "giabakka" (1vb17 from the place name "Gjábakki"), "fkikkiu" (2ra21-22, from "skikkja" 'cloak/mantle'), "fkikkivna" (2rb11), "fkikkíuna" (3va28), and "ekki" (4ra8-9, all others spelt with "ck"). The usage of the letter "c" is confined to the position preceding "k". Writing "ck" for the long k is by far the most employed as was customary after the year 1300 (Hreinn Benediktsson 1965, 79-81; Stefán Karlsson 2002, 835).

The palatalization of g is only orthographically evident in the following words: "g1020" (1rb32), "g1020vz" (2ra8, 3<sup>rd</sup> pl., pret., ind., mid. of gera/gora 'do'), and "g102" (2rb36, adjective  $gorr \leftarrow gorr$ ). These words with this orthographical change stand along side words in which the palatalization of g is not orthographically

represented, such as "gæ71" (1ra25, 1rb23, from geta) and "gera" (1ra32); although, it is very likely that g was palatalised before front vowels, but has not been marked orthographically yet. There are no occurrences in the manuscript that reflect the palatalization of k, with the only example being " $\ker$ " (2rb20, from koma), which can only be expanded as " $\ker$ " with the bar representing m. The palatalization of g and g before g and g (g became common in the 14th century, and later, before g (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 45).

In unstressed syllables, the vowels "i" and "u" (or "v") are predominant, almost replacing the vowels "e" and "o" in the endings of words. There are twelve instances in which the front unrounded vowel was written "e" instead of "i"; these words are "fyne" (1ra15, syni, dat. sg. of sonur 'son'), "hne" (2va9, 2va10, henni, dat. sg. of pronoun hón), "fine" (3va28, sinni, reflexive pronoun), "pe" (3va29, beiri), "ipe" (3va34, i beiri), "fkickune" (3vb2, skikkjunni), "hne" (3vb3, henni), "víne" (3vb18, vini), "mine" (4ra14, minni, pronoun), "pingalkne" (4rb13, finngálkni), and "mvne" (4vb27, muni). The only words that could possibly indicate a preference for "o" instead of "u" (or "v") appear abbreviated in the manuscript as "e" (1ra22, 2va21, 2vb5, 3vb5, eru), which would only be expanded as "ero" as the scribe has only employed the "o" superscript for the vowel "o"; there are no instances in which the superscript "u" was used for this verb or any other word, which is probably due to it being a fixed abbreviation from the time when "o" was the predominant spelling. It is interesting to note that the endings in favour of the vowel "e" are mostly found on the third leaf verso. Apropos of the dating, Stefán Karlsson writes:

In the very oldest manuscripts the vowels e and o were predominant in endings where i and u are now written. i and u (or v) soon made their appearance, however, and in time became established as final vowels, i

earlier than u. In the thirteenth century some scribes seem to prefer i and o in endings, but by about  $1300 \ u/v$  was mostly written for older o, and fourteenth-century scribes in general use o only sporadically. Although i is the dominant spelling in final syllables, most scribes in this later period used e as well. (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 42-43)

As shown above, the scribe has a preference for "i" and "u" (or "v") for endings; the "o" in endings only appear in the form of the "o" superscript for the third person plural form of the verb *vera*. As Stefán Karlsson indicates, the use of the letter "e" in endings could be an indication of the later period.

In the verb vera 'to be', an analogical change is witnessed in which the third person singular form, er 'is', replaces the older first person singular form, em 'am'; this change in the manuscript, however, is incomplete. Although the dominant form in first person singular present indicative of vera is "er" (e.g. 2rb3, 3va2), there is one occurrence in which the older first person singular present indicative form em 'am' is used, which is seen abbreviated as "ē" (4ra12). It is not completely known, however, if this analogical change affected other verbs other than vera, but it was interesting to witness that there are examples in the first person singular present form being "fer" (1ra23, from sjá 'see') and "kveð2" (3vb35, 4vb21, of kveðja 'call attention to'), which would usually be used for the third person singular present indicative; these are also usually attributed to Norwegian influence and branded as Norwegianisms. In addition, Stefán Karlsson writes that the third person singular forms were replacing first person forms in the preterite indicative as well (2004, 29); for example, "in the preterite indicative, ek sagða 'I said' became eg sagði; ... in the preterite subjunctive ek segða 'I would said' became eg segði" (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 29). However, the older first person singular forms do linger throughout the

manuscript; these can be seen in the examples: "vıllba" (2ra19, 3vb36, 4ra7, of *vilja* 'want'), "mvnba" (3rb4, 4ra13, of *munu* 'shall, will'), and "æzlaba" (3vb23, *ætla* 'intend'). This analogical change began in the early 14<sup>th</sup> century and continued well into the 17<sup>th</sup> century (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 29–30).

For the nominative, singular, masculine and feminine form of the demonstrative pronoun  $sj\acute{a}$  'this', 'that' in the manuscript, the scribe seems to favour *þessi* over the older form  $sj\acute{a}$  in the nom. sg. masc. and fem., which lingered until late in the 14<sup>th</sup> century (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 28-29). Of the three instances, only on one occasion was it seen and was spelt out as "þefſı" (4rb17) while the others were abbreviated; the value of this is uncertain, but shall be considered. Unlike the aforementioned form, the scribe appears to have had a preference for the older accusative singular masculine form *þenna*, despite the fact that it began to be replaced by its younger version *þennan* in the 15<sup>th</sup> century (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 29). This form *þenna* only appears twice in the manuscript as "¡¬̄na" (2rb10, "í þenna") and "¬̄na" (3ra17); there are no occurrences of *þennan* in the manuscript.

As for the pronouns *nokkurr* and *nokkuð* 'some(one/thing)/any(one/thing)', the older forms, *nekkverr* and *nakkvarr*, have been replaced by the younger *nokkurr* and *nokkurr*. Four instances appear in the manuscript, two of them are spelt with the open rounded vowel "ð" ("nockvm" *nokkurum*, 2rb9; "nockvz" *nokkur*, 3rb2) and the other two spelt with the mid rounded vowel "o" (e.g. "nock" *nokkut*, 2ra37; "nockvz" *nokkurrar*, 4ra18). The younger forms *nokkurr* and *nökkurr* had replaced its older form by the second half of the 13<sup>th</sup> century, while the form spelt with "o" (i.e. the root vowel *o* replacing *ö*) became dominant in the centuries following that (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 29). Looking at Bernhard Luxner's MA thesis "On the History of the Icelandic Pronouns *nokkur* and *nokkuð*", he narrows the dating down in his findings stating that *nokkurr* was already seen in the middle of the 13<sup>th</sup> century

and while *nökkurr* disappeared around 1400, *nokkurr* only began to dominate and replace *nökkurr* in the middle of the 14<sup>th</sup> century (Luxner 2011, 82-84). It is also important to note that since the scribe uses the letter "o" to denote the mid rounded vowel "o" as well, it is uncertain how important it should be used for the purpose of dating.

Another inflexional change that occurred in the 15<sup>th</sup> century, which has yet to take place in the manuscript, in which the vowel "u" was dropped in the second syllable "ur" when the inflexional ending began with a vowel (i.e. *nokkurum* > *nokkrum*) (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 29); only one example in the manuscript can be used as evidence to show that this inflexional change has not taken place is "nỏckwm" (2rb9, sg. masc. dat.). The "2" superscript has only been utilised by the scribe to abbreviate "ur", thus it would be expanded as "nỏkk*ur*um".

Traces of Norwegian influences, although not dominant, can be seen throughout the manuscript. The small capital "R" was used twice in word initial position instead of the original "hr" as seen in the words "RæδδιΖ" (1vb18, from the verb hræðast 'to be afraid of') and "Rings" (2vb27, from the verb hringur 'ring/circle'); all other words of this nature do feature the initial letter "h" in front of "r", for example "hræδδνΖ" (2ra3, from the verb hræðast) and "hzæδδ2" (4ra14, 'afraid/frightened'). Two examples are seen with an analogical "v" fronting the words, which would have been without it if not for the Norwegian introduction of it; these two words in the manuscript are both realised as "vozδιz" (3rb13, 4vb12) from the verb verða 'to become'. The scribe does not seem to have been influenced the Norwegian practice in writing "æ" for "e", however, it is fascinating to note that the scribe might have shown an instance of orthographic variation in his use of "æ" for "e" in one word in which the scribe utilises "æ" instead of "e" in "mæðz" (2rb1, in all other cases, written as meðz 'with'). There are no examples of "manglende u-

omlyd i trestavelsesformer" ('*u*-umlaut not being orthographically expressed in trisyllabic words'; i.e. words written like *talaðu* instead of *tǫluðu*) (Stefán Karlsson 1978, 96).

A dominant Norwegian habit visible in the orthography of the scribe is his preference for "ú" over "ó" as the negative prefix of nouns and adjectives. Of the six occasions the negative prefix is utilised, four of them are spelt with the letter "v", which are "vgɪlloz" (2ra20, ógildr 'unworthy'), "vvíní" (2ra24, of óvinr 'enemy'), "vþykz" (2ra24, óþykkt), and "vvɪn<sup>m</sup>" (3ra18, of óvinr); the other two words that are spelt with the letter "o" are in the words "ogærv ſamlıgz" (4va13, ógæſusamligr 'luckless-looking') and "onyzz" (4vb27, of ónýtr 'useless/spoilt'). Intriguingly, the use of "ú" as the negative prefix is only restricted to the inner bifolio (i.e. the second and third leaves).

The "Norwegian habit of doubling a vowel letter to indicate length" was used three times for the word  $\acute{a}$ , which were written as the a+a ligature, "a" (1va15, 3va17, 4ra24); it is interesting to note that all these three instances are the last word of the line. The majority of the spelling for  $\acute{a}$  appears simply as "a" (e.g. 2ra3, 2ra6). This orthographic habit was increasingly common in the 14<sup>th</sup> century (Stefán Karlsson 2004, 43).

As mentioned earlier in the chapter, the portrayal of the fricative g (i.e.  $[\gamma]$ ) by the spelling "gh" is of Norwegian origin that was popular way of spelling in the  $14^{th}$  century; the words that exemplify the spelling "gh" for the fricative g are: "logh" (2ra28, i.e. log), "vigh" (3ra19, 3rb12, i.e. vig), "oagh" (3rb36, i.e. dag), "hvgh" (3va5, hug), "paflagh" (3vb13, i.e. the name Praslaug), "fvanlaghv" (4ra15, i.e. acc. of the name Svanlaug), and "reiknlighi" (4va12, i.e. of the adjective feiknligr). With its growing influence of the spelling "gh" for g of that time, however, the utilisation of the spelling "gh" extended itself to be used for the stop as well and two

words in the manuscript exemplify this: "Rongh" (1ra22, i.e. rong) and "pvnghz" (2vb4, i.e. pungt).

Also mentioned above, there are examples showing signs of Norwegianisms in the first person singular present form being "fer" (1ra23, from *sjá* 'see') and "kveð2" (3vb35, 4vb21, of *kveðja* 'call attention to'), which would usually be used for the third person singular present indicative.

These aforementioned features from the influence of the Norwegian spelling lived between 1200 and 1400, although after around the year 1350, a significant decline is observed when the Norwegian written language was severed from Iceland due to the Black Death plague in 1402-1404 (Stefán Karlsson 1978, 88, 96-7; Stefán Karlsson 2004, 43, 47-8).

#### 5. Date

Concerning the dating of the manuscript fragment, AM 162 B fol. 1 has been dated to the first half of the 15<sup>th</sup> century. Kristian Kålund's *Katalog* dates the fragment to "1ste del af 15. årh." ('the first part of the 15<sup>th</sup> century') (1889, 120), while Einar Ól. Sveinsson merely lists the fragment under "snemma á 15. öld" ('early in the 15<sup>th</sup> century') (Einar Ól. Sveinsson 1954, CLI) or "Early 15<sup>th</sup> century" in *Studies in the Manuscript Tradition of Njálssaga* (Einar Ól. Sveinsson 1953, 11). *Ordbog over det norrøne prosasprog (ONP)* dates the manuscript fragment from around 1400 to 1425 (1989, 434), in agreement with Finnur Jónsson's dating, also ca. 1400 – 1425 (1908, XLI). Apparently, *ONP* names the manuscript fragment "Reykjarfjarðarbók" as well; another manuscript, however, is named "Reykjarfjarðarbók" as well, AM 122 B fol., which is dated to 1375 – 1400 in *ONP* (1989, 433) and around 1400 on Kålund's *Katalog* (1889, 85). Despite both being called "Reykjarfjarðarbók", they are not part of the same book (as their measurements are different), both were merely once owned by Gísli Jónsson in Reykjarfjörður, hence the name "Reykjarfjarðarbók" (see chapter on Provenance).

The dating of AM 162 B fol. 1 will be based on the analysis of the palaeographic, orthographic, and linguistic features that were discussed above in the previous chapters.

Based on the analysis of the palaeography, the dating of the manuscript leans closely towards the early 15<sup>th</sup> century. Twelve out of 14 of these dateable features were predominant or began appearing in the 14<sup>th</sup> century. These aforementioned features include the use of the "two-storey a", the two-lobe Insular "F", and the "Tironian note" with the crossbar (refer to *Table 11* below). Most of these features

that were predominant or began appearing in the 14th century, however, are not able to narrow the dating as they do not develop much until a much later date, with the exception of the "two-storey a" as a "single-storey a" appears in the later half that century. The script type Gothic semi-cursive, on the other hand, pushes the dating towards 1400 or later (Guðvarður Már Gunnlaugsson 2007, 255). A palaeographic feature, which also pushes the dating up to from the 15th century and especially to the second half that thereof, is the scribe's use of the "r rotunda"; Stefán Karlsson writes that the use of the "r rotunda" without regard to the preceding letter is associated to the 15<sup>th</sup> century, while its two occurrences appearing in word initial position was rarely seen before 1500 (2002, 837); it is most striking to note that the scribe's profuse use of "2" in various positions conflicts with his extensive use of the small capitals. These two uses of the "r rotunda" in word initial are perhaps the rare instances appearing before 1500, but to be unbiased towards the given information, the dating based on the palaeographic features would seem to indicate that the manuscript is 15<sup>th</sup> century. The table below presents all the features considered for dating the palaeographic features:

Table 11: Palaeographic features considered for dating.

Palaeographic features		Dating
analysed		
Script type	Gothic semi-cursive (Hybrida)	Began to appear
		in Iceland from
		about 1400 and
		continued to be
		in use a little

		after mid-16 <sup>th</sup>
		century.
Letter "a"	Only the "two-storey a" is used for	Dominated in
	a.	the course of the
		14 <sup>th</sup> century.
Letter "d"	"looped d" is used for both $d$ and	The "looped d"
	ð, while "ð" does not appear.	became common
		during the 14 <sup>th</sup>
		century; the use
		of "ð" declines
		in the 14 <sup>th</sup>
		century.
Letter "f"	Only two-lobe Insular "ŗ" is used.	Predominantly
		used in the
		second half of
		the 14 <sup>th</sup> century
		to the 17 <sup>th</sup>
		century.
Letter "g"		The form of "g"
		used became
		predominant in
		the 14 <sup>th</sup> century
		and used
		onwards.
Letter "h"	Left stroke ends bending right,	This form was

	right stroke ends bending left.	predominant in
		the 14 <sup>th</sup> century
		and used
		onwards.
Letter "k"		This form of "k"
		was common
		during the 14 <sup>th</sup>
		century and
		later.
Letters "n" and "m"	Right minims do not extend below	Right minims
	line.	extending below
		the line became
		rare from about
		mid-14 <sup>th</sup>
		century.
Letter "r" (straight variant)	Resembles letter "v"	Common during
		14 <sup>th</sup> century and
		later, starting in
		charter script.
"r rotunda"	Appears without regard to position	Extensive use of
	and especially two of which found	"2" begun from
	in word-initial position.	the 15 <sup>th</sup> century;
		"2" in word-
		initial position
		rarely seen

		before 1500.
"long s", f	One stroke that extends below line	The extending
		below the line
		was predominant
		in the 14 <sup>th</sup>
		century and
		later.
Letter "y"	"v" upper half, right stroke	This type of "y"
	continues; without diacritic	appears in the
		13 <sup>th</sup> century and
		into the 14 <sup>th</sup>
		century.
Letter "z"	With crossbar	Common in the
		13 <sup>th</sup> century and
		more in the 14 <sup>th</sup>
		century.
"Tironian note"	With crossbar	Gained
		popularity in the
		14 <sup>th</sup> century.

The linguistic and orthographic features suggest a very-likely date of circa 1400 as most of these palaeographic features are consistent with both the  $14^{th}$  and  $15^{th}$  century. The majority of the linguistic and orthographic features evident in the manuscript began appearing or became predominant in the  $13^{th}$  and  $14^{th}$  centuries, while only feature of the general derounding of y is not evident in the manuscript, which allow some leeway in the manuscript being from as late as the mid  $15^{th}$ 

century. The profuse use of "r" rotunda is clearly more 15th century, especially with its use in the word-initial position. The use of the "z" ending in the middle voice, however, suggests a dating between 1250 and 1400 (the period when the spelling of the middle voice exponent "z" was dominant), while the good amount of evidence of Norwegian influences suggests the dating to be after 1200 and very likely before 1400. Given that most of the linguistic and orthographic features are predominant in the 14<sup>th</sup> century and some of the changes (e.g. diphthongisation of eng > eing and the orthographic change of "vá" to "vo") would have had taken place and became evident in the 14<sup>th</sup> century, it would suggest a date no earlier than 1300 to be at all probable. Keeping this in mind, the 14<sup>th</sup> century was when Norwegian influences in the orthography would have been dominating. The Norwegian influences in the manuscript, however, appears to be at half strength, with an important feature (namely the lack of *u*-mutation two or more syllabic words) missing; for example, the a+a ligature, "a", used to represent the long vowel a is only utilised in three occasions for this purpose, which equates to approximately one per cent of the representation of "a" in the manuscript, however, this feature remained part of the orthography long after Norwegian influence receded. The lack of Norwegianisms in the orthography could only indicate the beginning or the dwindling stages of Norwegianisms, with the latter being most probable. As mentioned before, most of the orthographic and linguistic features were predominant or began in the  $14^{\mathrm{th}}$ century; this leaves the only option of a date shortly after 1400, the period in which Norwegian influences on the orthography were on quick decline. The table below presents all the features considered for dating the linguistic and orthographic features:

Table 12: Linguistic and orthographic features used for dating.

Linguistic and orthographic		Dating
features		
Middle voice	Only "z" exponent	"z" began replacing
	used.	previous orthographic
		realisations of the -st
		exponents in the 13 <sup>th</sup>
		century; became dominant
		form in the 14 <sup>th</sup> century;
		gradually being replaced in
		the latter half of the 14 <sup>th</sup>
		century, although still used
		after 1400.
ø + ǫ merger	Completed; both	Distinction between vowels
	short vowels are not	became more obscure
	orthographically	around 1200.
	distinguished by	
	scribe	
$\delta(\alpha) + \xi(\alpha)$ merger	No distinction is	The merger began in the
	made between $cute{x}$	middle of 13 <sup>th</sup> century.
	and $\alpha$ ; only the	
	letter "æ" is used to	
	represent both	
	vowels.	
General derounding of <i>y</i>	Not witness.	Derounding would have

		begun just after 1500.
"vá" and "vo"	"vá" – 3; "vo" – 21	Change from "vá" to "vo"
		started in the early 14 <sup>th</sup>
		century.
Fricativisation of <i>t</i>	Begun but	Fricativisation of <i>t</i> began
	incomplete;	appearing in the 13 <sup>th</sup>
	Frequently used	century and remains rather
	words <i>þat</i> and <i>at</i>	common in the 16 <sup>th</sup>
	are not fricativised;	century.
	only two preterite	
	participles	
	fricativised.	
Fricativisation of $k > g$	Begun in reflexive	Began as early as the 13 <sup>th</sup>
	pronouns; solely	century, but not common
	used in third person	until second half of the 14 <sup>th</sup>
	reflexive pronoun.	century.
Diphthongisation of eng > eing	"eing" is the key	Began appearing by 1300,
	choice of the scribe	but not common until the
	except in the word	second half of the 14 <sup>th</sup>
	"rengv".	century.
<i>u</i> -epenthesis	Only one instance.	Process began around 1300
		and predominant by mid-
		15 <sup>th</sup> century.
ll + rl > [tl:] merger	Only one clear	Would have begun in the
	example.	14 <sup>th</sup> century.

Used as geminates	Scribe's usage would be
and abbreviating of	very rare after 1400.
personal names.	
Mostly "ck" for	The use is common after
long k with some	1300.
exceptions. Letter	
"c" is only used	
preceding "k".	
Orthographically	Became common in 14 <sup>th</sup>
evident mostly in	century.
the verb <i>gera/gøra</i> ;	
not	
orthographically	
represented in	
other verbs; no	
instances of	
palatalization being	
marked before the	
vowel e.	
Preference for "i"	14 <sup>th</sup> century or later.
and "u" (or "v") for	
endings; "o" in	
endings only appear	
superscripted for	
the third person	
	and abbreviating of personal names.  Mostly "ck" for long k with some exceptions. Letter "c" is only used preceding "k".  Orthographically evident mostly in the verb gera/gøra; not orthographically represented in other verbs; no instances of palatalization being marked before the vowel e.  Preference for "i" and "u" (or "v") for endings; "o" in endings only appear superscripted for

	plural form of vera.	
Analogical change in verbs	Majority of 1st	Began in early 14 <sup>th</sup> century
	person singular	and continued into the 17 <sup>th</sup>
	forms replaced by	century.
	third person	
	singular forms, not	
	just in <i>vera</i> .	
nokkur and nokkuð	nokkurr and	nokkurr begins to appear in
	<i>nǫkkurr</i> forms used	the middle of the 13 <sup>th</sup>
		century, begins to
		dominate and replace
		nokkurr in the middle of
		the 14 <sup>th</sup> century.
Norwegian influences	Available evidence,	Lived between 1200 1400,
	but of weak	significant decline after
	strength, except in	1400.
	the fricativisation of	
	g represented by	
	"gh".	

The dating analyses of the palaeographic, linguistic and orthographic features of the manuscript seem to agree on the dating in the early 15<sup>th</sup> century. Evidently, most of the features examined above have predominance in the 14<sup>th</sup> century and later, while certain features are pushing it later to the early 15<sup>th</sup> century, suggesting the manuscript is from an earlier period of the 15<sup>th</sup> century having still retained a lot of the typical 13<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> century features. Therefore, it can be concluded that AM

162 B fol. 1 is most probably to have been written in the early 15<sup>th</sup> century. As a result, it is in agreement with Kålund's dating to the "first part of the 15<sup>th</sup> century" (1889) and with *ONP*'s more precise dating of "c1400-1425" (1989, 434).

#### 6. Provenance

ur Nials Sogu sem gisle Jonsson i Reykiarfirde hefur ätt, og rifed i sundur.

- slip, by Árni Magnússon's hand, accompanying AM 162 B fol. 1

As far as the earliest known history of the manuscript is concerned, it is noted in the first chapter that Árni Magnússon attached a slip to the manuscript stating that a certain Gísli Jónsson (appears as "gisle Jonsson" on the slip) from Reykjarfjörður in Arnarfjörður (located in the West Fjords) had previously owned it, thus the naming of the manuscript "Reykjarfjarðarbók" (Einar Ól. Sveinsson 1953, 11; Úlfar Bragason 2014). Another manuscript, AM 122 B fol., which contains Sturlunga saga, is also named "Reykjarfjarðarbók", which Úlfar Bragason (2014) claims to have been owned by the same Gísli Jónsson around the middle of the 17<sup>th</sup> century. Based on further research done in the catalogue on handrit.is, Gísli Jónsson is not mentioned to have owned AM 122 B fol.; this could indicate an error in either of the manuscript's entry. However, based on available information on AM 122 B fol., it does not appear that it is related to AM 162 B fol. 1. Based on handrit.is, the support of AM 122 B fol. is of paper, which is an error as AM 122 B fol. is a well-known vellum; AM 162 B fol. 1 is also of skin. No further information, however, is provided on the slip on whom Gísli Jónsson is. According to an online article written by Úlfar Bragason (2014), Gísli Jónsson (d. 1679) was a chief legislative official in a sýsla (Ice. sýslumaður). Further searching of more information regarding Gísli Jónsson in Íslenzkar ævisrár came to no avail, as no entry on this Gísli Jónsson was available.

It is not certain if AM 162 B fol. 1 was obtained by Árni Magnússon directly from Gísli Jónsson, but it is implausible that that be the case as Árni Magnússon would have been at the age of sixteen when Gísli Jónsson had passed away; Árni would probably have stated it directly had he obtained the manuscript personally. According to written sources, Árni Magnússon began collecting manuscripts in 1685 (Már Jónsson 1998, 41; Sigurgeir Steingrímsson 2014). Below is a letter, written by Thomas Bartholín on the 24<sup>th</sup> of January 1685, from AM 285 B fol. on Árni Magnússon's first errand in collecting manuscripts:

Jeg hafver en Ißlender hos mig, som heeder Arnas Magnussen, hand skal til foraaret reÿße op for mig til Ißland, og indsancke hvis gamle böger hand kand offverkomme. ('I have with me an Icelander, who is called Árni Magnússon, he will travel to Iceland in the spring for me, and collect the old books that he comes across.')

There is no date available as to when Árni Magnússon did eventually acquire the manuscript. The next and only other date available on the movement and ownership of the manuscript is that on the 18<sup>th</sup> of July 1973, the Árni Magnússon Institute (*Stofnun Árna Magnússonar*) took custody of the manuscript (Handrit.is, 2013).

### 7. Earlier editions

There is no earlier edition existing that contains the complete text in AM 162 B. fol.

1. Some of the variants in the manuscript fragment, however, are rendered in Einar Ólafur Sveinsson's edition of *Brennu-Njáls saga* for Íslenzk fornrit (1954). None of the variants specifically named the manuscript, but always named as part of a group of manuscripts.

#### 8. This edition

This edition of AM 162 B fol. 1 is done in three different levels/editions: facsimile, diplomatic and normalised. These three editions have been digitally encoded in XML or *Extensible Markup Language* and have been edited in accordance with the guidelines set forth by the *Medieval Nordic Text Archive* (Menota) during the transcription process. The manuscript fragment is then transcribed in three levels simultaneously.

The facsimile edition reproduces the text as closely as possible as seen in the manuscript, that is to say that all abbreviations and special symbols/signs are printed as shown corresponding to the manuscript. Line breaks, page breaks and column breaks are reproduced as closely as possible as found in the manuscript fragment as well. However, as the first and fourth leaves are trimmed on the top and bottom of the pages, the line numberings for these two leaves (i.e. 1r, 1v, 4r, and 4v) are therefore reproduced based on approximations and the position in which they line up with the following or preceding leaves (i.e. 2r and 3v) as both bifolia are in some way bound to each other (as mentioned in Chapter 1). Punctuation is preserved as it appears in the facsimile level as well; this consists mainly of full stops, which are printed on the line regardless of the height in which the dots appear in the manuscript. Unclear or illegible characters and words (due to holes or having been rubbed off or trimmed off) are marked as unclear entities (i.e. <unclear> in XML, or <unclear>[0...0]</unclear> in areas that are trimmed off) where text is assumed to have been. Unfortunately, due to technological problems copying from HTML to the Word document, all unclear words and characters are underlined normally as this was manually edited. Small capitals and large minuscule are represented as they

appear in the facsimile edition. Special letter forms found in the manuscript are maintained, although generalised in the facsimile edition. That is to say that the characters in the transcription do not portray the unique characteristics of the handwriting of the scribe. For example, the letter "h" is simply printed as "h" without the decorative features (the bifurcated top of the ascenders and descenders extending below the line and bending left) portrayed. Even though the letter f does extend below the line, it is simply printed as "f" in the edition; likewise with the letter f, it is printed as "f", portraying its rounded, non-straightbacked f, but leaving the scribal habits aside (as described in the previous chapter on palaeography).

In the diplomatic level, all abbreviations are expanded and italicised, with the exceptions of words with portions trimmed off or unclear. The expansions are expanded in accordance to the written out words already available in facsimile. Most person names in the manuscript, however, are abbreviated and not once are they written out in full; for this reason, abbreviations of names are expanded with letters that seem characteristic of the scribe and that are used by the scribe. For example, Njáll (often abbreviated as "N", e.g. 2ra25, or "n", e.g. 2ra29) is expanded as "Niall" or "niall", since the letter "j" was never used and there is not distinguishing factor between the long and short a's in the manuscript. On the other hand, the name Hoskuldr (appearing in the manuscript as "h", e.g. 2ra32 and 2rb15, and once as " $\hbar$ " 2rb10) was the most complicated to expand; due to the fact that q was realised as "o", "o", "av", and "au", while /u/ was realised as either "u" or "v" and /s/ as either "s" or "f". In order to have the spelling of the name *Hoskuldr* consistent throughout the edition, it was decided to expand the name as "hoſkvlldr" since "o", "v" and "f" were the most dominant of the variations. The special letters " $\delta$ ", " $\mathfrak{r}$ ", "1", and " $\tau$ " (dotless i), are simply printed as "d", "f", "i" and "t" since no other

alternatives are used in the manuscript for the same phonological value (with the exception of "i"). The letter "2" is not retained in the diplomatic level as well since both "2" and "r" have no phonological difference, but orthographical. The letter "f", however, is preserved in the diplomatic edition as it can represent a different phonological value from the round variant, "s". Other special letters (for example, "o" and "w") are preserved in this level. Punctuation and word separations are preserved as in the manuscript; page breaks and column breaks are marked in the diplomatic as well, line breaks, however, are not.

In the third and final level, the spelling is normalised based on "classical Old Icelandic", or rather the spelling in which *Íslenzk fornrit* uses. The purpose of this is to standardise the spelling to make it easily read and accessible for scholars of medieval Icelandic or anyone interested in and are already familiar with the spelling utilised by *Íslenzk fornrit*; this is useful for the study of variations of *Njáls saga*. For this purpose, some special letters present in the diplomatic edition are replaced:  $\ddot{o}$  (as "ao", "o" and such) printed as "o" or "o" (depending on the origin of the vowel), "f" replaced by "s", and so on. This normalisation process is carried over into the orthographical aspect of grammar as well, i.e. the use of the punctuation and capitalisation is normalised based on linguistic context and evidence; full stops or commas are added to separate names and sentences, first letter of names and first letter of the first word of setences are capitalised. Scribal errors are also corrected accordingly. The only exceptions to this are words that have segments of it missing or trimmed off. 'Damaged' words (or sections that thereof), however, are corrected or reconstructed if adequate context is available.

## 9. Notes on the transcription

- 1ra7: The fourth word most likely read "bæδſ", but it is uncertainly as it is very dark and faded.
- 1ra8: A fold line runs through this line creating difficulties in legibility, and most certainly true for the first word "ſɪg0τalvm", which reads "sigtólum" in Einar Ólafur Sveinsson's edition of *Brennu-Njáls saga* (2010, 260). However, a skinny character seems to appear between "g" and "τ" in the word, thus it is left as "sig0tólum" in the normalised edition.
- 1ra12: The last word most likely reads "ſk'ðv" *skirðu*, but the superscript "1" is not seen and the last two letters are barely able to be made out due to the darkening of the area and the faded ink. There seems that there could be a line above the "k", but it is uncertain if that is part of the vertical stroke of the "þ" above the word. The word, though, has been expanded as "ſkirðv" and "skírðu" in the diplomatic and normalised level respectively.
- 1ra13: The name *Hallr* seems to be declined erroneously as it should appear in the accusative "hall" instead of "hallr" following the verb *skíra*.
- 1rb: Approximately three-quarters or more of the lines of the column have been trimmed off.
- 1rb7: After the first word "þa", the following and last apparent word is barely legible. It seems fitting that it would be a name beginning with *borg*.
- 1rb8: A fold line runs through this line, with the only word barely legible assumed to be "m".
- 1va: Approximately three-quarters of the lines in the column have been trimmed off.

- 1va10-11: The first words of these two lines have been rubbed off considerably.
- 1va14: The first word is illegible.
- 1va17: The line is considerably illegible, except a possible "f" and a possible "en".
- 1va18-22: The entire area has been rubbed off considerably, making it somewhat impossible to make out the words in the area.
- 1vb7: A string of characters following *þeir* is difficult to make out. The first character of that string of characters could appear to be a "τ", but it is very uncertain thus it is left as "0" in the transcription.
- 1vb8: Following "legg1a", it very likely that "ſ1g 1veð Fy2" follows. The uncertainty is due to the area being rubbed off.
- 1vb9: A fold line runs along slightly above this line, thus giving some difficulty in reading parts of the line, especially in the second half of the first half of the line.
- 1vb18-19: A fold line runs through between these two lines, creating faded line down into line 19, making the first half of line 19 uncertain.
- 1vb21: It is uncertain, but it seems that the last letter of the first word (*heimr*) is "R".

  This uncertainty is due to the crumple mark from the line below.
- 1vb22: The crease after the first word creates uncertainty regarding the following word(s).
- 1vb29-30: In the word *hálftrǫlls*, the scribe seems to have written "half|zı Rolz", of which the "ı" could have been an error.
- 2ra4: A crease and a small hole made it difficult for the word to be easily read, but it is very certain that the word is "p<sup>5</sup>".
- 2ra10-11: The parchment being dark makes it difficult to read the first words/characters of these two lines, but they most likely begin "h" and "v" respectively.

- 2ra36: The last word most likely reads "\$\vec{\beta}a\", however, the uncertainty is due to the spot, where the word is located, has darkened.
- 2rb: Approximately a third of the right-side of the column has been trimmed off.
- 2rb1: The word með is spelt with "æ", "mæð2".
- 2rb7-10: The first few words of these lines have been rubbed off making it difficult to be read. It is possibly due to the likeness of an initial on line 8 (see below).
- 2rb8: It is most likely an initial "p" as the first letter, but it seems to have either faded away or have been rubbed off.
- 2rb14: The p+p ligature, "p", has been used in the word "upp".
- 2rb19: The word "hm" has been inserted, possibly by the scribe, between "az" and "ollm".
- 2rb35: A thick crease runs through the entire line, creating difficulties in reading.
- 2rb36: Darkened areas creates difficulty in reading, also due to the crease in the previous line.
- 2va: Approximately a sixth of the left side of the manuscript has been trimmed off. The column as a whole is very worn out, rendering the readability difficult.
- 2va12: Although the "l" is illegible, the word most likely reads "k'lmanlıgz".
- 2va35: A crease line from a fold runs through the entire line, barely allowing the first two words to be made out.
- 2va37: The word in the middle of the line has been completely rubbed off, rendering it unreadable.
- 2vb2: The word *liðveizlu* has a "t" inserted before the "z".
- 2vb7: A seemingly unnecessary nasal bar is above the " $\mathfrak{r}$ " in " $ne\overline{\mathfrak{r}}n\delta 2$ ".
- 2vb9: A fold mark, accompanied by holes, runs through the line, rendering extreme difficulty reading.

- 2vb35: The fold crease continues from the previous column into this line, rendering similar difficulties in reading the line.
- 3ra2-7: Holes in these lines creates uncertainty in the transcription. With the help of *Íslenzk Fornrit XII* and the *Reykjabók*-edition, some of these gaps were filled in in 'unclear' marks.
- 3ra35: The preexisting fold wore off the text in the beginning of the line, rendering it indecipherable.
- 3rb4-8: Despite the hole, there does not appear to be a gap in the text, which indicates that the hole had been there upon writing, thus the scribe had worked around the hole.
- 3rb10-13: Unlike the one described above, this hole had eaten into some of the words. Fortunately, the hole was narrow enough for most of the words decipherable.
- 3rb14: A large hole creates a gap in the text between the first "m" and the next alleged "m".
- 3rb26-29: A large hole creates the first segment of the sentences unreadable.
- 3rb37: The third one most likely reads "bvnδnır", although with great uncertainty as a hole has swallowed the word, leaving the first character.
- 3va4-8, 10-11, 13-16, 26-30: Hole on the right side of the column creates gap in the text.
- 3vb2-7: A hole from the right side creates difficulty in reading, along with large amounts of lost words.
- 3vb27: Short text is red has faded too much to be legible.
- 4ra: Lost text on trimmed areas on the top and bottom.
- 4rb: Lost text on trimmed areas on the top, bottom and right side.
- 4va: Lost text on trimmed areas on the top, bottom, and left side.

4va21: The last word "vnδ2aδ1z" has an odd first "d", possibly a correction by the scribe.

4vb: Lost text on trimmed areas on the top and bottom.

# **Bibliography**

- Björn K. Þórólfsson. 1925. *Um Íslenskar orðmyndir á 14. og 15. öld og breytingar beirra úr fornmálinu*. Reykjavík: Fjelagsprentsmiðjan.
- Derolez, Albert. 2003. The Paleography of Gothic Manuscript Books: From the Twelfth to the Early Sixteenth Century. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Einar Ó. Sveinsson. 1953. "Studies in the manuscript tradition of Njálssaga." *Studia Islandica 13* (H.F. Leifur).
- Einar Ól. Sveinsson, editor. 1954. *Brennu-Njáls saga*. Reykjavík: Hið íslenzka fornritafélag.
- Finnur Jónsson, editor. 1908. *Brennu-Njálssaga (Njála)*. Halle A. S.: Verlag von Max Niemeyer
- Guðvarður Már Gunnlaugsson. 2007. "Manuscripts and Palaeography." In *A Companion to Old Norse-Icelandic Literature and Culture*, edited by Rory McTurk, 245-264. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.
- Guðvarður Már Gunnlaugsson. 1994. *Um afkringingu á /y, ý, ey/ í íslensku*.

  Málfræðirannsóknir 8. Málvísindastofnun Háskóla Íslands, Reykjavík.
- Handrit.is. "Skráningarfærsla handrits: AM 162 B iota fol." Accessed 14 August 2013. http://handrit.is/is/manuscript/view/AM02-0162B-iota
- Haraldur Bernharðsson. 2013. Icelandic: a hsitorical linguistic companion. Reykjavík.
- Hreinn Benediktsson. 1965. Early Icelandic Script: As Illustrated in Vernacular Texts from the Twelfth and Thirteen centuries. Reykjavík: The Manuscript Institute of Iceland.
- Hreinn Benediktsson. 2002. *Linguistic Studies, Historical and Comparative*.

  Reykjavík: Institute of Linguistics.

- Íslenzkar æviskrár frá landnámstímum til ársloka 1940 1–5. Páll Eggert Ólason, compiler. Hið íslenzka bókmenntafélag, Reykjavík. 1948–1952.
- Jón Helgason. 1929b. Málið á Nýja testamenti Odds Gottskálkssonar. *Safn*Fræðafjelagsins um Ísland og Íslendinga. København.
- Jón Þorkelsson. 1863. *Um r og ur í niðrlagi orða og orðstofna í íslenzku*. Prentsmiðja Íslands, Reykjavík.
- Kjartan G. Ottósson. 1992. The Icelandic Middle Voice: The Morphological and Phonological Development. Department of Scandinavian Languages, Lund University, Lund.
- Kålund, Kristian. 1889. *Katalog over den Arnamagnæanske Håndskriftsamling*. Vol. 1. København: Kommissionen for det Arnamagnæanske legat.
- Luxner, Bernhard. 2011. On the History of the Icelandic Pronouns nokkur and nokkuð:

  An Examination of Selected Manuscripts from the 13<sup>th</sup> to the 16<sup>th</sup> century. A

  master's thesis, University of Iceland.
- Már Jónsson. 1998. Árni Magnússon: Ævisaga. Reykjavík: Mál og menning.
- Noreen, Adolf. 1970. *Altnordische Grammatik I*. Altisländische und altnorwegische Grammatik (Laut- und Flexionslehre) unter Berücksichtigung des Urnodischen. Max Niemeyer Verlag, Tübingen.
- Sigurgeir Steingrímsson. "Hver var Árni Magnússon." Accessed 26 March 2014. http://www.arnastofnun.is/page/hver\_var\_arni\_magnusson
- Stefán Karlsson. 2002. "The development of Latin Script II: in Iceland." In *The Nordic Languages: An International Handbook of the History of the North Germanic Languages*, Edited by Kurt Braumüller, Ernst Håkon Jahr, Allan Karker, Hans-Peter Naumann, Ulf Teleman Oskar Bandle, 832-840. Berlin and New York: Walter de Gruyter.
- Stefán Karlsson. 2004. The Icelandic Language. Exeter: Short Run Press Limited.

Ordbog over det Norrøne prosasprog. Registre. 1989. København: Den Arnamagnæanske commission.

Úlfar Bragason. "Reykjarfjarðarbók Sturlungu." Accessed 10 March 2014.

http://www.arnastofnun.is/page/arnastofnun\_hand\_manadarins\_reykjarfj\_bok\_sturlungu.

de Vries, Jan. 1977. Altnordisches etymologisches Wörterbuch. E. J. Brill, Leiden.

### Facsimile text of AM 162 B fol. 1

1r

\_\_\_\_\_

7 randa ívd2 alandı bædí ıbvna ímıdıv balld2 fig?zalym hallda fidzeynir lez fidan fnjallr m ollo ham gialloa haoes i hazt szeoia hialloes ve ſzliða ſkallði. þaðan  $\mathring{\beta}$   $\overline{b}$ 2  $\mathring{\tau}$  bgþo2ſhvolſ  $\tau$  τοk N  $\mathring{V}$ 10 rru τ óll hív hs. en m v son geck mest a mozi b2 β þaðn vefzr yð ar þa kov þ2 ihavka ðal e íkðiz  $\stackrel{r}{b}$  hallr  $\stackrel{r}{\epsilon}$   $\stackrel{r}{v}$   $\stackrel{h}{h}$  þzeve $\stackrel{r}{\epsilon}$  þaðn  $\stackrel{\circ}{b}$   $\stackrel{h}{b}$ 2  $\stackrel{t}{\epsilon}$   $\stackrel{d}{g}$ míneí.  $\stackrel{r}{b}$  eplði 13 plock a mozi μm pozvalloz hín veili ε fenoi haπ 02δ vlβı vGa fyne az h fkyllδı å az bgbnδı ε δ2e 16 pa þeg israð e kvað h t v þa. Vgs bialba mun ek vlpi endilí z bod senda m e v stala szýriugla ſz ſynı vga. az gnyſkuza geiziſ goðúg βy² argan рп è v rwgn ов righ reki h en mvnk anan. vlв 19 vga son kvað aðza a mozí. Gez kvað ek svins bo az ſynði ſan elboði zaπa hv2β v hleypi ſkβi harboz vea pið. þoar rapaka rækin röngh e 22 mal a ggı fer ek by'z mínv meiní mínlikz blvg v az gína z æzla ecki ek fagði vlið az va gining 25 вів l hs. en gæti h at h veвіz e tvngan oв hoв νδ.  $\bar{\epsilon}$  ep $\hat{t}$   $\hat{g}$  fen<br/>δι  $\bar{m}$  ap $\hat{t}$   $\hat{t}$  þozvallðz hín veila τ logov o20 vlβl. bo2vallo2 habo1 m̄ τ mằ v ligh  $\bar{\epsilon}$  hapði  $\bar{b}$   $\dot{v}$  ozð az íзгла ру $\dot{z}$   $\bar{b}$ m ablaíkoga heið 28 1. b2 bgb τ gvðleig riðv nv o2 havka ðal. þeir

mæττν m eín $\overline{\mathbf{v}}$  é Reið imot  $\overline{\mathbf{b}}$ m fa spði aτ gvð

31 é h̄ pan þa. h̄ m l̄ nιοτα ſkallz þv þozgılſ bồ binſ a reykholv az ek v gera p˙ nιοſn az þ̄z h˙

.....

- 7 þa <u>kviðling</u> [0...0]
  - <u>m</u> [0...0]
  - hıalzı boz vz [0...0]
- 10 b2ωτ ωίτ <u>v1</u> [0...0]
  - во2 allz vefž [0...0]
    - moð íkallð [0...0]
- 13 leingi py [0...0]
  - ıngı fı∂an ₹ [0...0]
  - þv hey27 fag [0...0]
- 16  $\delta_1 \, \frac{k}{6} \, f_2^2 \, e_3^2 \, a_7 \, [0...0]$ 
  - bgb aτ bo2 [0...0]
  - aτ h liβδι [0...0]
- 19 þizz hz feg þv [0...0]
  - Braz byż b1[0] [0...0]
  - landı melly [0...0]
- 22 þa é kneyβð [0...0]
  - aτ gvδ gæτι [0...0]
  - aδ2a v1fv [0 0...0]
- 25 hίτι bví τ [0...0]
  - ſιο ſιδan ſ [0...0]
  - legia  $h_{\overline{a}}^{n}[\underline{0}]$  [0...0]
- 28 *τ* fτeinv [0...0]
  - [0...0]

1v

\_\_\_\_\_\_

- 7 [0...0] <u>1ατνόν</u> βν ok
  - [0...0] a τ þa ģử ell
  - [0...0] a figh  $\bar{\epsilon}$  hlio
- 10  $[0...0] [\underline{0}] \underline{1} \overline{\underline{n}} \text{ med}_2$ 
  - [0...0] <u>en</u> ellò è hei
  - [0...0] <u>þа</u>ng $\tilde{b}$  һар $\delta$ і
- 13 [0...0] allr brena
  - [0...0]  $[\underline{00000}]$  er  $\overline{h}n$
  - [0...0] rody  $\overset{\circ}{k}$ ssi a
- 16 [0...0] ίνδιτ pell 02
  - [0...0] [0]f[00000]en[00]
  - [0...0]
- 19 [0...0]
  - [0...0]
  - [0...0]
- 22 [0...0]
  - [0...0] *ϵ* [<u>0</u>]vaδ
  - [0...0 0]<u>aδ[0]</u> æτlaτ
- [0...0] n  $\overline{p}$  a al $\overline{p}$ 
  - [0...0] hỏpðing2
  - [0...0] b  $\epsilon \stackrel{r}{v} \delta$

- 28 [0...0] az  $g^{\dagger}$  [0...0] leiða.  $g^{\dagger}$  [0...0] l. si $g^{\dagger}$
- 31 [0...0] <del>pgb</del> [0...0]

.....

- δ2apí. þa ggv þ² ½ GIZV² hviði τ hiallði τ bvðv að leggia í gig iveð βy² þa m̄ τ β̄ vð t i ílðz τ boða την kg² τοκ þessv vel τ þagv þ² alla þa vnð
  þa biðgv þ² hiallði τ GIZV² skip íið t islðz τ v²
- δν feinbvň.  $\overline{b}$ 2 τοkν land a ey2 $\overline{v}$  er x vikv2  $\overline{v}$  ap fvm pengv  $\overline{b}$ 2 fer þa hefta e $\overline{n}$  pengv  $\overline{m}$   $\overline{t}$  aτ
- Ryðia íkip lízz. Riða þa v xxx maπa t þingí τ gðv þa kíznv mm az þ² íkyllðv vbvň vða. hial lzi v ept az Reyδ mvla þz spðv az h v ſek ο²
- 16 διη  $\overline{v}$  goðga. en þa ế  $\overline{p}$ 2  $\overline{k}$ ov ívellan kæzlv op $\overline{a}$   $\overline{p}$  giabakka  $\overline{k}$ 0 hiallzi ep $\overline{c}$   $\overline{p}$ m  $\overline{c}$  kveðz e vilia fyn a  $\overline{p}$  heiðn $\overline{v}$   $\overline{m}$ m az  $\overline{h}$  κæððiz þa. κιδν ην  $\overline{m}$  $\underline{d}$
- 19  $[\underline{0...0}]$   $\varepsilon$  Riðv meðz þylkzv liði a  $\overline{p}g$ .

  heiði  $\overline{m}$  þylkzv  $\varepsilon$  a mozi  $\varepsilon$   $\overline{v}$  þa ívo  $\dot{n}$  az allr  $p\overline{r}g$ heim $\overline{R}$   $\overline{m}$ ði  $\overline{b}$ iaz e $\overline{n}$  þo  $\overline{v}$ ð  $\overline{p}$   $\dot{e}$ . þozgeir hez  $\dot{m}$   $\dot{e}$
- 22 bio [0...0]vazni h̄ v̄ ziozva son þozkels son lan gs moð h hez þozvn τ v̄ þozszeins ðozz sigmðar son gnopa b̄δ son gvðzið hez kona h̄s h var
- 25 δοτὰ þozkels hiní ſv̄τα oz hleiði gði bzoð h̄s
  v̄ ozm τανſkv bakr pað hlena hiní gamla oz
  ſôzbæ. Þ̄z kezill τ þozkell v̂ ſyn þoziſ ſnepiſ kezilſ

10 fo h bmilí oʻznolpí fo h bioznolpí fo h gmí fo h loð inkiπa kezilí fo h hængí fo h hallbíar h fo h halp zræolz oz haapniízv kíz h m ziollðvðv bvð í i h
31 ε v þa gizva ε hiallzi imoípellínga bvð, vm ða g ep² ggv h v²zzuegíu z lóg bgí ε ne pðv h v²z zue g

2r

19

\_\_\_\_\_\_

az viδ2 alla nozzína  $\bar{\epsilon}$  æzlaδ $\bar{h}$  az bzena yδ2 1 ını. en  $\overline{b}$   $\stackrel{r}{b}$   $\stackrel{v}{v}$  az  $\overline{k}$ o  $\overline{v}$  nozzına  $\overline{\epsilon}$   $\stackrel{v}{v}$  $\delta$  ba eckı ab b̄z b̄z hzæððvz h̄. Siðn gylgði h̄ b̄m a leid ok τ mıkıll man pıolldı. þa ærladı β adza ar ggv ar 4 veíza τ fezzı þa g G o fon τ G lamba fon az vega az β en hm vð bilz ε þozðv þz e a þigh az Raða ε 7 é h habði ba mla þa mlav bysla a mozi. en b ko az b2 zrudv ₹ g102dvz 18ale1k ab b2a hnd ı t h  $\bar{\epsilon}$  m  $\bar{l}$ v n eckı við<br/>2  $\bar{h}$  h  $\bar{v}$ 2 é  $\bar{p}$ 2 b<br/>vnðvz. en h gab bm lizið t læti boz (vo jm v hð. h boz a 10 víż † ívina βellz vm hasíziz az heimboði ε τοk plosi v hm vel. hillðigvn v b β lm li t h. b sagði hılldığı m az paleik fe medi ydi n fonv. ok 13 þicki m $\overline{b}$  illa  $\overline{\epsilon}$  vil ek bioða  $\dot{b}$  az þv κι $\dot{\delta}$  e vef $\dot{c}$ т man ek ва в bvízað ıſkapza вellı en ek man fenda bg b200v2 mín az bua 10ffa bæ þa mv 16 b ívm mæla íagði h az ek βlyia þaðn βy² hðz lu sak z vil ek þ b e. þa e b lika sagði b az szoz

vandræði ag illa é b fagði h. bt hellde villda

- ek va vgıllo2 en mg m hlyzı ıllz ap m. h bıooz heím pam noz līδ. ploíi gap hm ſkallaz ſkikk
- 22 ια τ hlaðbvín ιſkavτ nιδ2. Rιδ2 h nv heím ιοſſa bæ τ è nv ky2τ vm hδ. h v m ſvo vinſæll aτ h aτ βa vvíní. hín ſama v vþykτ með2 þ allā
- veżn. N hapði zekiz τ polzrl lon ka é þozða ħ h̄n
  hapði τ polzr velzz þozhalli algml lon elliða gml
  lon. þozhallr v rolkr m τ miok hðgiða h̄ hapði
- 100 nvm lỏgh ag N. a $\overline{h}$   $\overline{v}$  hin þ21ði mef $\overline{z}$  laga m aisllði. N vastri miok sn $\overline{e}$ ma  $\overline{v}$  viz  $\overline{z}$   $\overline{g}$ a  $\overline{m}$  nið ko2 $\overline{n}$  ssín snemmenðis
- 31 **P**az v ein dag az m ko ínemiðil t bph

  \[
  \bar{p}\_2 \overline{\text{ggv}} \text{peg a zal n lí τ h τ rægði m h h}

  \]

  þa en az vanda íinv τ hapði þa en mg nyí
- 37 meδ2 off  $\overline{\epsilon}$  ga az noc $\overline{k}$   $\overline{p}$  vıl ek  $\overline{t}$  vı $\overline{n}$ a fagδι

.....

- 1  $\dot{m}$  τ bvnδv  $\bar{b}$ 2 mæδ2 βαίτπæl $\bar{v}$  τ ik [0...0]  $\bar{k}$ 0  $\bar{v}$  kvellδιτ.  $\bar{b}$ g  $i\dot{p}$ 0 in  $\bar{b}$ τ  $\bar{b}$ 2 ταlα [0...0] er ek iraða  $\dot{g}$ 0 með2  $\bar{b}$ m in1 in2 in2 in3 in4 in5 in6 in6 in8 in9 i
- 4 þa ğ kvað² è hinv be² v raðin. ſr p [0...0]
   ki nið² v kvellðið e ecki bæð² hs [0...0]
   hina ſómv oβ vða ko m τokv n ſy [0...0]
- 7 ε (vo kı ε rıðv ı βετ (ıðan.

  beír β h t é b2 kov 10 bæ ε [0...0]

- gồi nỏckvm. veði v gott ε [ [0...0]
- 10 ιμπα τιπα vaknaδι ή hviτa nel goδι [0...0]
  - ı lín τ τοk yğ lkıkkıvna β l navz h τ [0...0]
  - pv  $1\overline{h}$ nδ fer  $\overline{\epsilon}$  eí $\overline{\epsilon}$  fvð 1aδ2 $\overline{\epsilon}$   $\overline{b}$ 0 $\frac{1}{\epsilon}$  [0...0]
- far kozníny  $\overline{p}_2$  (kp hopdy  $\overline{p}$  medz ( [0...0]
  - kyllov allır a hm vina. İkp İpt vpp [0...0]
  - $e\overline{n}$  è h sa  $\overline{h}$  villòi  $\overline{h}$  vnòan snva. þa [0...0]
- 16 at  $\overline{h}m \in m \overline{h}$  hírð  $\dot{e}$  at opa a hæl h [0...0]
  - ín  $\bar{\epsilon}$  hoỷ  $\bar{t}$   $\bar{h}$ s  $\bar{\epsilon}$   $\bar{k}$ o 1 hopy díz  $\bar{\epsilon}$  pell [0...0]
  - m li þta v è h pell gvð hialpi m en в [0...0]
- 19 hliopv  $\overline{p}_2$  þa at ' $\overline{h}$ m' ollm megin  $\overline{\epsilon}$  vnv [0...0]
  - fen. þa m li r rað ker m ihvg hv2 [0...0]
  - ſkp.  $\bar{p}$  ſagðı  $\bar{m}$  at ek mvn heím.  $\bar{p}$   $\bar{p}$  [0...0]
- 22 mvn ek  $\bar{p}$  vp  $\bar{t}$   $\bar{g}$   $\bar{t}$   $\bar{t}$  fegia  $\bar{b}$ m  $\bar{t}$   $\bar{t}$  in [0...0]
  - ılla yβ vkínv. en ek veít at þģδ2 [0...0]
  - mık  $^{\frac{1}{c}}$ at lyfa vıgín<br/>v $\overline{\epsilon}$ mv<br/>n ek þ ġa [0...0]
- 25 ına  $\overline{b}$ m mesz mala spell  $\overline{v}$ ða. ek [0...0]
  - a man 10ssa bæ ε viτa hỷ2sv sk10ττ [0...0]
  - ε mvn ſpy21a  $\stackrel{r}{b}$  τιδιηδίη ε mvn ek [0...0]
- 28  $\mathring{\beta}$ ττα αβ  $\overline{p}$ m τιδιηδίη  $\mathring{\beta}$  þv ívo me [0...0]
  - $\overline{\mathfrak{b}}_2$  bzæðz  $\overset{\circ}{\mathfrak{b}}$   $\overline{\mathfrak{h}}_{e1}$   $\overline{\mathfrak{e}}$   $\overset{r}{\mathrm{k}}_1$ . en  $\overset{\circ}{\mathfrak{e}}$   $\overline{\mathfrak{b}}_2$   $\overline{\mathrm{k}}$  ov [0...0]
  - N τιδιηδίη. hό2mvlig τιδιηδι fag [0...0]
- 31 flik $\tau$  ill $\tau$  at vita.  $\overline{p}\tau$   $\overline{p}$  è fat $\tau$  at se [0...0]
  - pellr m' nær vm trega at m' þæzzı [0...0]
  - a laτιδ τνα fonv mína τ liβδι h. [0...0]
- 34 vkvn ſagði ſkp þv éτ miok ga [0...0]
- $\underline{az}$  β  $\underline{p}$  al $\underline{l}_1$   $\underline{h}$   $\underline{e}$   $\underline{e}$   $\overline{p}$  (1δ2  $\underline{e}$  $\overline{n}$  ellı (ag [0...0]

g102 e $\overline{\mathbf{n}}$   $\underline{b}$   $\underline{\overline{h}}$  $\tau$  ep $\dot{\overline{\tau}}$  mvn  $\overline{\mathbf{k}}$ oa  $\underline{\mathbf{h}}[\underline{\mathbf{0}}]$  [0...0]

37 ſagði ſkp δωδι mín ₹ konv mi [0...0]

2v

22

\_\_\_\_\_

[0...0]  $\delta_1$  N.  $\hbar_7$   $f_p^{\dagger}$  by  $f_n^{\dagger}$   $f_n^{\dagger$ 1 [0...0]  $\overline{gga}$  mozi gipzv þi $\overline{n}$ i lagði n  $\overline{b}$ z þv  $\overline{n}$ z [0...0]  $\underline{u}$   $\underline{u}$   $\underline{v}$   $\underline{v}$   $\underline{v}$   $\underline{v}$   $\underline{u}$   $\underline{u}$   $\underline{v}$   [0...0] <u>a</u> $\overline{h}$ n mazzı allo<u>21 oklavckvanol</u>  $\overline{t}$  zala. [0...0]  $gv\acute{N}$  vakna $\delta i \in \mathring{B}$  at  $\mathring{h}$   $\mathring{v}$  [000000][0...0] zv 02 <u>længini</u>.  $\mathring{h}$  m  $\overline{l}_1$   $\mathring{h}$   $\delta_{1r}$  haba  $\delta_{2a}\overline{v}$ 7 [0...0] goð  $\epsilon$  leiziz az  $\overline{h}$ m  $\mathring{h}$ .  $\overline{b}$ 2 leizvðv  $\overline{h}$ s  $\epsilon$ [0...0] þa hapði hilldig2 klæzz figh å h þa ok [0...0] ed2 hne  $\frac{1}{c}$  gd1[111]  $\epsilon$   $\beta$ 11[0...0] [0...0] ala made  $\overline{h}$ da<u>r</u>  $\underline{\epsilon}$  fagde  $\underline{h}$ ne az  $\overline{b}$ 2  $\underline{[0000]}$ 10 [0...0] eðan þaðn  $\varepsilon$  kallaði íkp a mik  $\varepsilon$  lyízi  $\overline{h}$ [0...0] no s k 0 manlıgz vk vı bza sagoı h ep e [0...0]  $\tau$   $\mathring{h}$   $\tau$ ok ſkıckıv<u>n</u>a.  $\tau$   $\mathring{p}$ δı bloδ<u>ız</u> m<u>e</u>δ2  $\tau$ 13 [0...0] an  $\underline{1}$  blodli $\underline{\beta}$ r $\underline{\hat{r}}$   $\underline{\tau}$  b2a $\underline{u}$  $\underline{\tau}$  f $\underline{v}$ 0 fa $\underline{\hat{m}}$   $\underline{\tau}$  lagdi [0...0] <u>fina</u> NV fendi h man up  $\frac{1}{7}$   $\frac{r}{90}$  az fegia [0...0]  $\overset{r}{v}$   $\overset{\circ}{\beta}$   $\overset{r}{m}$   $\varepsilon$  habor add  $\underline{l}$ agz  $\underline{\tau}$ 1 $\underline{o}$ 1 $\underline{o}$ 1 $\underline{o}$ 1 $\underline{o}$ 1 16 [0...0] l oz mk  $\overline{b}$ góz m $\overline{l}$ ı t kezıllı. NV e h δωδ2 [0...0] <sup>n</sup>/<sub>7</sub> nv adz <del>e</del> mvn nv <u>hviv bv</u> heß <u>heiz</u> 19 [0...0] [0000]  $\overline{h}$  az ek hapa <u>ærið mózgv heiziz</u> [0...0] <u>laða</u> az ek<u>ki</u>  $\overline{m}$  <u>oi</u> þef<u>fi2</u> <u>oag</u> [000] <u>m</u> [0...0] v  $\stackrel{\circ}{\text{e}}$  vo2 $\stackrel{\circ}{\text{o}}$  i [00]  $\stackrel{\circ}{\text{e}}$  ek v1 $\stackrel{\circ}{\text{o}}$ 2 va [00] [00] [00]

[0...0]  $\stackrel{\circ}{o}$ gvm  $\stackrel{\circ}{b}$  fem ek a  $\delta o \stackrel{\circ}{c} \stackrel{\circ}{n} \stackrel{f}{l} [0]$   $\stackrel{\circ}{v} \stackrel{\circ}{v}$  vílz  $\stackrel{\circ}{b} \stackrel{\circ}{v}$ 

- [0...0]  $[\underline{0}]$  $\tau$   $\stackrel{t}{m}$   $l\underline{y}$  $l\underline{1}$  viginv  $\stackrel{t}{\underline{e}}$  veí $\tau$  ek  $\overline{\underline{p}}$  lag $\delta_{\underline{1}}$   $ke\tau[\underline{0}]$
- [0...0] þycki m  $\underline{\text{fem illz}}$  lei $\underline{\delta_1}$  ag  $\overline{\text{hm}}$  e $\overline{\underline{n}}$   $[\underline{000}]$ z
- 25 [0...0] laδı  $\dot{v}$  kezıl þa βοκ  $\overline{h}$ m ſem  $\underline{o}$ δ[0000] ſ $\underline{\delta}$ 
  - [0...0]  $\overline{m}$   $\delta_1$   $\overline{crv2}$   $\overset{\longleftarrow}{ua}$   $\overline{h}$ m  $\varepsilon$   $\overset{\rightarrow}{v}$   $\overline{b}$  rad  $\overline{b}$ 2a az
  - [0...0]  $[\underline{0}]$  sa v<u>igi</u>nv  $\epsilon$  bua mal<u>i</u>z az  $[\underline{000}]$   $\frac{1}{c}$   $\underline{b}$  ings
- 28 [0...0]  $\stackrel{n}{\beta}$  10ssa bæ.  $\overline{\beta}$ ngaz  $\overline{k}$ ov  $\underline{lx}$  b $\stackrel{t}{\underline{v}}$   $\overline{\beta}$ 2  $\stackrel{e}{\underline{e}}$  næs
  - [0...0] [0]βgı.  $\overline{m}$  haβδι x  $\overline{m}$  meδ2  $\underline{s}$   $\overline{h}$  ſyń
  - [0...0]  $\epsilon$  nepň vozta az be<u>ni $\overline{u}$ </u>  $\epsilon$  nep<u>ň</u>  $\underline{m}$ an
- 31  $[0...0\ 0]\underline{m}a^{\frac{1}{6}}$  einf  $\overline{p}$  leiz h sem  $\overline{h}$  vissi  $\frac{1}{6}$   $\underline{h}$   $\dot{v}$ 2
  - [0...0] en  $\beta$  hавол hавол  $\overline{h}$  fial $\underline{\mathring{g}}$  fæ2 $\overline{z}$  en  $\overline{h}$
  - [0...0] a  $\overline{h}$ n $\delta$  fkp. en sar $\overline{\underline{u}}$  a  $\overline{h}$ m  $[\underline{00}]$  b2æ $\underline{\delta}$ 2 $\overline{v}$
- 34 [0...0] [0] kvaδδι <u>h</u>eiman v[0000]angſ bva
  [0...0] epŧ <del>b</del>
  - [0...0]  $[\underline{0}]_2\underline{\delta}_2$   $\overline{b}$ m  $\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle{\mathrm{f}}}{\mathrm{e}}$   $\overline{b}_2$  by  $\overline{b}_2$  by  $\overline{b}_3$
- 37 [0...0] gh h spδ[0...0] allar (vei $\hat{\tau}$  mæll

.....

- 1  $au_1$ ılla  $extbf{gy}^{\overline{z}}$ .  $\overline{b}_2$   $extbf{N}$  s s s  $\overline{b}$  in a sigm ellida gms son  $\overline{\epsilon}$  badv  $\overline{h}$  lidueszzlv  $\overline{b}$  megiz  $\overline{b}$  von uita sagdı  $\overline{h}$  az ek mun ydz veita az ol $\overline{l}$ m hin $\overline{v}$
- 7 **M**aðz é ne $\overline{p}$ nðz gvð $\overline{m}$ ðz hin k é bio a móðzv uðll $\overline{u}$  ieyia  $\frac{1}{p}$ ði  $\overline{h}$   $\frac{1}{v}$  eyiolpí fon  $[\underline{0}]\underline{h}$   $\underline{h}$  fon auðv $\underline{h}$   $[\underline{0}...0]$
- 10  $\underline{bo}$ 2(zeiní íoň íkp gmí íoň kambaní [00000]  $\underline{guom}$ [0...0] hez hallb  $\mathring{h}$   $\mathring{v}$  o20 $\underline{o}$ 2 hia $\underline{lm}$ 6. en mo $\delta$   $\overline{h}$ n

hez reginleib doz læmð hins soðsfeyssol þn ė kend fæmδhlid ifkaga bdi mod eyiolbf b[0] 13 guð $\overline{m}$   $\dot{\delta}$   $\dot{v}$  val $\dot{g}$ ð2 runolpf doz $\dot{c}$  moð  $\overline{h}$ nar  $\dot{v}$ valbozg  $\overline{h}$ n<u>ar</u> moð 102vn hin <u>o</u>bozna ðoz $\hat{z}$  ofvallðz  $\overline{k}$ gí hiní helga [0...0] po $\delta$  eyiobí v helga 16 δοτέ helga hinf magza è nam eyia βιο2δ fon ey uinδ aylzmanz ε rubiôzzv δοτξ kiaruall ira kgl moδ helgv δοτ helga v bozvn hyzna δοτ ke 19 zıll Blaznegl v bıarı lon bvnv gml lon hılı 02 logni moδ dml v hvoz en hvar moδ v bgδz δ[0] 22 haleygí kgí ab haloga landi þozlaug h kona gmð hını Rama eylibi lou arı popul ſon iarlkezilí ſon Repſkiða ſon hinſ gamla hðiſ ħ moð þozlaug δοτ þozð havbða biar h fon byzðv 25 fm102f h20aldz fon hllagf fon h216f b1arn fon [000]ní  $\delta$ v ragňí loň loðbzok ligð loň ringí loň ranviss son radboz son mod hoisar skida d 28  $[0...0]\delta_{g}^{r}\delta_{2}\delta_{0}\delta_{\overline{c}}$  kıazvall ıra  $\overline{k}$ gl. gv $\delta_{\overline{m}}\delta_{2}$  var hobðingi mikill  $\overline{h}$   $\overset{\mathrm{r}}{\mathrm{v}}$  aðig2 az  $\underline{\mathtt{Be}}$   $\overline{h}$  habði  $\overset{\circ}{\mathtt{h}}$ nð 31 ra[0] hiona h̄ saz yĝ voingv allra hoβoingia β nozdan land ívo az ívm lezv bvízadı íma en ſvma ток h ав libi en ſvm letv godo2d [000] в 34 hm e è B hm koiz alle hie mese<u>a</u> manval B  $\overline{1}\delta$ inv o[0...0]v[0]  $\varepsilon$  [0...0] hua[0000]  $\varepsilon$  plioza  $\overline{m}$  kezıll  $\overline{b}$ p  $\overline{\epsilon}$   $\overline{m}$ g hıń bedzízv  $\overline{m}$  gv $\delta\overline{m}$ dz  $\overline{v}$   $\overline{v}$ 2 afgmf elliða gmf for  $\tau$  ærlaði  $\overline{h}$   $\dot{b}$   $\dot{t}$  liðueizzlv. 37

\_\_\_\_\_\_

- 4 en [0...0]  $\mathfrak{p}[0...0]$   $\overset{1}{\tau}$  huamf  $\overline{\mathfrak{p}}$   $\overset{1}{\delta}$   $\varepsilon$  bio 1 fælingf dalf [0...0] oz $\underline{\mathfrak{p}}$   $\underline{\mathfrak{m}}$  [0...0]  $\varepsilon$   $\overset{1}{\tau}$  fon  $\mathfrak{p}$  pozízeiní  $\mathfrak{p}$  pozí<u>kabizz</u>  $\mathfrak{p}$   $\mathfrak{p}$  [0...0] for  $\mathfrak{m}$  moíz $\overset{1}{\tau}$  fkegí aurnolpí fő
- βοι fagoι h va fon þozgils
   reyð fiðv. þozolβ moſzf fkeg atti oſkv ðoz² þoz
   [0...0] καυδα. moð þozgmſ hez þoza δοzziz
- 10 <u>oleiβí βει</u>laní þozízeiní íon hiní <u>R</u>auða oleiβí <u>íon</u> hiní <u>huiza</u> ingiallð<u>í</u> íon helga <u>íon</u> en moð ingi <u>all</u>ðz hez þoza δοτξ íιξό ozmí ioga Ragní íona<u>r</u>
- 13  $\underline{loo}$ bzok en moố (nozza hez þozo<u>ıl fyfź gıfla śs</u>  $\underline{[000]}$  Snozrı gooı  $\overline{v}$  vin mikill <u>afgmf ellioa gmf</u> fon.  $\overline{\tau}$   $\underline{aezlao}$   $\overline{h}$   $\overline{b}$   $\underline{b}$   $\underline{l}$  lio $\underline{loueizzlv}$  Snozrı  $\overline{v}$  vi $\overline{z}$ fź  $\overline{m}$
- a ıflði  $\overline{p}$ 2a è è v po2ípa $\underline{r}$   $\overline{h}$  v goð2 vi $\overline{n}$  finvm en  $\underline{d}$   $\underline{d}$  vvi $\overline{n}$ . J  $\overline{p}$ na  $\overline{r}$ 1ma  $\underline{v}$  þíng reið mikil  $\underline{a}$ 2  $\underline{d}$ 3  $\underline{d}$ 4  $\underline{d}$ 5 pio2ðun $\underline{d}$ 5  $\underline{d}$ 6 hopðv  $\underline{d}$ 7 mo2g mal  $\underline{d}$ 7 bv
- 19  $\sharp$ loſı ſpy² vıgh h [O]agʃ [O...O]  $\sharp$ lınſ  $\bar{\epsilon}$  a $\bar{\epsilon}$ lar  $\bar{\epsilon}$  mıkıllar ahyoıu  $\bar{\epsilon}$  reiðı  $\bar{\epsilon}$  bo  $\bar{\epsilon}$   $\bar{\epsilon}$  vel ſzıllz  $\bar{\epsilon}$  m  $\bar{\epsilon}$  ſagð² mala  $\bar{\epsilon}$ bvn
- 22 <u>að2ın</u> ía íem haβð<u>2</u> haβðı ửιτ epτ vig h <u>ok</u>

  <u>leτ h</u> ś βaττ v μ β βίπατ h íenði o2ð íiðv halli m

  <u>agi</u> íinv [0] τ lioτi íyni hs aτ þ2 íkyllðv βiolma
- 25  $\underline{\text{mióg}} \ \frac{1}{\tau} \ \text{þíngí lioż þozzi bezz hóbðing ebni } [\underline{000}]$

- [0] hm v p β fpað. ep h riði þ2iu ſum t þíngſ τ kuæmí h heill heím. at þa mði h vða meſtr

  28 hopðingi i ætt ſiñe τ ellzt h hapði riðit eitt ſvm t þingſ. eñ nv ætlaði h añat ploſi ſe[000] o rð kol þozſteinſ ſyne τ glumſ hillðiſ ſyne hinſ

  31 gamla geirleipſ ſon amða ſon τøſkv bakſ ok moðolpſ ketilſ ſon. τ riðv þ² allir t motz v h hallr het τ at piolma miok pl reið þ til er
- 34  $\overline{h}$   $\overline{k}$ 0 1  $\overline{k}$ kıu bæ  $\overline{t}$  ( $\overline{t}$ 7  $\overline{t}$ 2 afbin fon þarþa fenð  $\overline{h}$   $en[\underline{0\ 0000000}] \ egilf fyne \ b20002 fyne fi<math>\overline{n} \neq \underline{k}$ 0  $\overline{m}$   $\overline{p} \neq Reið \overline{h} \ \overline{p} \ \overline{t} \ \overline{e} \ \overline{h} \ \overline{k}0 \ \overline{t} \ hopða \ b2eckv. \ \overline{p} \ bio \ \overline{p} \overline{g}$

37 mr (kræzí þozkelí son hins pa $\bar{g}$ . plosi bað  $\bar{h}$ n

.....

- 1 Riða τ þingí meðz š. en h iazzi þ τ mli t βl opt heß þv bonði ửiz glaði en nv. en þo e nóckvz vozkvn a az ívo íe βloíi mli þ heß nv viíz az
- $\overline{h}$ nða bo21 $\overline{z}$  az ek  $\overline{m}$ ða gepa talla min a eigv az e bo21 $\overline{z}$  hepði az bo21 $\overline{z}$ . e illv  $\underline{k}[0...0]$  að enða  $\overline{m}$  ill $\overline{z}$  ap leiða. þaðn
- 7 reið  $\overline{h}$   $\overline{v}$  arfi (zakí heiði  $\overline{\tau}$  a íol heím $\underline{a}$   $\overline{\underline{v}}$  kuellðið  $\dot{\overline{p}}$  bío loð $\overline{m}$ ð2 vlpí íon  $\overline{h}$   $\dot{\overline{v}}$  við  $\underline{p}$   $\overline{\underline{l}}$  mikill ploíi  $\dot{\overline{v}}$   $\dot{\overline{p}}$  vm nozzina. en  $\overline{\overline{v}}$  mozgi $\ddot{\overline{n}}$  epter
- 10 Reið með2 hm lỏðmð2 iðal. þ bio Rvnolß íon vlpf o[0]goða β m li τ Rvnolß h mvnv v hapa s ar fogv2 v vigh .h. eτ þv m fano2ð2 eπ koin nær

	heß meı $[\underline{0}]$ e $\overline{n}$ ſaklæſ ð²epín v̂ız. $\overline{\epsilon}$ é $\overline{h}$ ol $\overline{l}$ m $\overline{m}$ hm
16	δαυδι $\overline{\epsilon}$ þick ong $\overline{\overline{v}}$ ια $\overline{\overline{p}}$ n mi $\overline{\overline{k}}$ ſem $\overline{v}$ poſ $\overline{\epsilon}$ ra $\overline{\overline{h}}$ s. þa
	mvn $\overline{h}$ m voa ıllə $\overline{t}$ lıðve ıəzlv $\overline{m}$ fagði $\overline{p}$ fva $\overline{m}$
	$\overline{\mathfrak{b}}$ ſagðı κνπ. ep eckı δ2e $\mathring{\mathfrak{c}}$ † hvar $\mathring{\mathfrak{c}}$ nv az go2τ
19	fagði β $\overline{l}$ nv $\stackrel{\rm e}{\rm e}$ kvaðð b $\stackrel{\rm r}{\rm v}$ τ lyf τ viginv fagði $\overline{\bf R}$
	hử2 ắ $\delta$ 1 $\overline{b}$ ſag $\delta$ 1 $\overline{b}$ ſag $\delta$ 2 fon ſag $\delta$ 1 Rvnol $\mathring{b}$
	hứ 2 ív $\ddot{\xi}$ ír þ v $\overline{h}$ m íagði $\overline{\mathfrak{p}}$ $\overline{l}.$ Skyll ð2 é $\overline{h}$  
22	$\overline{\mathtt{R}}$ . en $\overline{\overline{\mathtt{b}}}$ mvn ek fazz $\overline{\widetilde{\mathtt{p}}}$ fegia az pleirí hlioza ap
	$\overline{h}$ m ıll $\overline{c}$ e $\overline{n}$ gozz. En þeff vil ek þik biðia az þv
	ge $\dot{\beta}$ ко кеіді $\bar{\tau}$ та $\bar{k}$ $\bar{b}$ ар $\dot{e}$ mıní $\bar{\tau}$ z vandı fer $\bar{b}$ $\bar{\tau}$
25	mvn goð boð bioða βy² ſonv ſína. ₹ allir hin
	$b[\underline{00}]$ β $\overline{l}$ m $\overline{l}$ ι κίττν $\dot{\overline{t}}$ þíngí κ $$ ε í $\overline{k}$ ν mι $\overline{k}$ mega
	[ <u>000</u> ] migh nema τ΄ τ΄ ένα δεαgi en τ'α ſkyl
28	δι. $S[\underline{00}]$ eττν $\overline{b}$ 2 ταlίην. $\overline{\tau}$ heτ $\overline{R}$ . $\overline{\beta}$ δι $\underline{n}$ 1. $\overline{R}$ . $\overline{l}$ enδι
	02δ [ $\underline{00}$ ] hi $\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{\overline{$
	$\overline{\mathfrak{h}}$ ngaz. р $[00]$ ко þaðn 10lla bæ

- 31 **h**ılldıgvử v vzí τ m l̄ı. Nv ( l̄v allır heima
  m̄ va vzí e˙ p l̄o Ridz ig̈d en kon fkvlv

  zıallda hı́n τ zæſza τ bva p l̄ ondvgı́. Sıdan r̂
- 34 [00] 1 τunίτ. hılldıgvɨ fɨn þeg aτ hm τ m li ko heill
  τ fæll βndı τ é pegiτ [0...0]
   p̄ine. h f lv v eτa dag vd dagh τ κιδα [0...0]

3v

 $<sup>\</sup>tau$  kaίτ i pallin vnòan s hæginòinu.  $\tau$  m li hūki

- é ek  $\overline{k}$ g2 ne 1a2ll  $\overline{\epsilon}$  vıl ek eckı <u>lata</u> ġa haí<u>a</u>zı vn δır m  $\overline{\epsilon}$  p eckı az ípozza <u>mık</u> hıllδıgvn m  $\overline{k}$ zı
- [0...0]g ep illa ep. hillòigvň hlo az [0...0]
   a hla² τ m li ecki è en mk az ň mynv við
   gangaſz τ voa að2 en lykr hyn ſezzīz nið2 hia
- 10 βlosa  $\overline{\epsilon}$  τόlνδν þav leingi hlíoz $\overline{\epsilon}$  S<u>iðn</u>  $\overline{v}$  b<u>o</u>2δ  $\underline{\epsilon}$ ek en βlosi τοk lav $\overline{g}$   $\overline{\epsilon}$  lið  $\overline{h}$ s. β $\overline{l}$  hug<u>ði</u> aτ hn[0]klæð</u>ín v  $\overline{\epsilon}$   $\overline{v}$  κό $\overline{g}$  ei $\overline{h}$   $\overline{\epsilon}$  nv $\overline{m}$  ia $\overline{m}$ an enðan[ $\underline{0}$ ]  $\overline{h}$  kastaði því
- 13 ι beckín τ villδι e þera ser a τ reist ap b<u>oz</u>δδuk  $\underline{m}\overline{v} \ \overline{v} \ \dot{p} kaδι \ sigh \ \dot{p} \ a \ \overline{v} \ kastaði \ \dot{v} \ ma\overline{n}a \ si[\underline{0...0}] \ eðn$  set villδι eðað  $\overline{m}$  sina eta. þa  $\overline{k}$ ο hill
- 16 διgvň ιſτυβυπα τ g2eιδι hιτ β όgv s τ g2eτ. ſkap

  þv<u>ngτ</u> e β nv βnδkona ſagδι β lι en þo e þ vel

  e þv g2æ goðn man h<u>v e</u>pt mælι <u>ſ</u>ka<u>l</u> ek aβ
- 19 β hapa ſagði hvn eð<u>i</u> liðuei[<u>0]</u>zlv β<u>l</u> m<u>l</u>i ſækia mvn ek mal þízz t pvllra laga. τ t þia ſazza e goð m̄ ſea az v ſe vel hallðn ap iala ſzaði. h
- 22 m l

  n he p

  n m o

  n h p

  n e

  p h æzzı ep² bıgh az mæ

  la. p l

  m l

  e fkoz² bıgh g

  mleik τ fe ek hvaz è bv

  vıll. h

  mællzı. mı

  n hapoı mı

  g

  z ar

  no

  z o

  m

  v b

  zo
- δίr ὁznolpí ὁz pozíaríkog v þozð βyígoða peð þín. τ vogv bzæðz þin h̄ a íkapza pell [0...0]l bein τ egill. Hillðigvn geck p̄m iíkala [0...0]pp
- 28 kıſzv ſı $\overline{n}$ e zok vp ſkıkkſuna þa è ĥ ha[ $\underline{0...0}$ ]egſz

ap pl̄ τ 1 p̄2e v h vegín τ hapði h þ [0...0]eízz I bloðiz allz. hvn geck þa in iszvpvna [0...0]ick

1 iuna. hvn geck þegiandi az pl̄ þa v pl̄ mez² τ ap bo² bo2ðinv. hillðigvn lagði þa yp pl̄ skickiuna ðvnði þa bloð v h̄ allan. h ml̄i þessa skickíu gapz

4 þv pl̄ h τ vil ek nv gepa þ h̄na ap². v h τ iþse vegin. skyz ek þ t gvðs τ goð2a maña az ek sær i þigh py² alla k̄pza ksz þins τ g mānðom. ok

[0000]zkv þína az þv hepn allra þ̄2a [0...0] sem h

.....

hapði a fer ðavðū eð² he½ h[00]f m niðing²
ella β̄ ka[0...0] ſkickuñe ₹ k[00] aτ[0...0]
pang hne β̄ m̄ li þv eð hið meſða [000]az[00]

- 4 vill $\delta$  az  $\mathring{v}$  zækím  $\overline{p}$  up  $\mathring{e}$  ol $\overline{l}$ m [0...0]ví ok  $\mathring{e}$  kől $\underline{\delta}$  [0...0]
  - ı<br/>andlızı fəvnd $\overline{v}$  fem blod  $[\underline{0...0}]$ nd<br/>  $\overline{v}$  <br/>p $[\underline{0}]$ r f $\underline{e}$
- nar ſzunòv blar ſem hel. p̄2 pl̄ Riðv þa ιbz
   h̄ Rið² t̄ hollza vaðſ τ̄ bið² b̄ ſigβ ſſ τ̄ ana [000]
   )J'ngiallð² bio az kellðū b²oð h²oðnyi moðvr hˆ
- þa v bon h hiní hvíza ingialloz íoh hiní ížka gr pínz íoh hiní roða íolva íoh þozízeiní íoh bíerkia bana. Ingialloz azzi bílagv δοτ egilí þoz lóh βyí
- goða. moð egilf v þzaflagh ðozð þozfæinf zizlingf moð þzaflag v við ðozð evínv kpa. p $\overline{l}$  fenði ozð in giallði  $\overline{p}$  kellð $\overline{v}$  az  $\overline{h}$  kæmi  $\overline{v}$  moz v  $\overline{h}$ . Ingiallði  $\overline{p}$
- þeg v hín βταπδα man. Ingiallδ2 v mikill m ok f

  tkr. pala

  t hin τræfταfτí m τ peδ2eing goδ2

	$\dot{v}$ víne lína. β $\overline{l}$ βagh $\overline{h}$ m vel $\overline{\epsilon}$ m $\overline{l}$ i. mikill vanði
19	ẻ $\overline{k}$ oın az $\overline{h}$ ndı off $\varepsilon$ ể nv vanz 02 az raða bið2
	ek þigh þess mag az þv skiliz e v migh вуг en
	lyk y ğ vandzædı fi ı Ingıalldı m $\overline{l}$ ı v $\overline{v}$ van z e ek $\overline{v}$
22	$\overline{k}$ οίn βy² τeing $\delta$ a ſak $\overline{v}$ Ν $\varepsilon$ ſſ $\overline{h}$ s. $\varepsilon$ as ſa ſτο2h $\overline{l}$ a έ
	ĥ ízenð 2 a milli. β $\overline{l}$ m $\overline{l}$ i $\overline{p}$ æzlaða ek þa é gip
	τα $\mathring{p}$ b2οδν2 δοτ $\mathring{\bar{c}}$ mína aτ $\mathring{p}$ ν he $\mathring{\bar{c}}$ m $\mathring{p}$ aτ $\mathring{p}$ ν l $\overline{\mathring{g}}$
25	m² aτ hỷıu malı. $\overline{b}$ ẻ τ lıkaz ſagðı Ingıallð² aτ $\underline{e}$ k
	ġι ſvo. $e\overline{n}$ þo vil vil βγ2ſτ $\overline{h}$ eı Riða τ þaðn 't þi $\underline{n}$ gſ
	$\mathbf{S}$ Ιβ fyủ fp̊δν az $\mathbf{g}$ $\overline{\mathbf{l}}$ $\dot{\mathbf{v}}$ ν hollza capızulı
28	vað $\bar{\bf \epsilon}$ πιδν þa $\dot{\bar{\bf t}}$ mozz $\dot{\bar{\bf v}}$ $\overline{\bf h}$ . $\bar{\bf \epsilon}$ $\dot{\bar{\bf v}}$ $\dot{\bar{\bf p}}$ kezıll
	02 ṁ̃k $\bar{\epsilon}$ lambı b20 $\delta$ h̄s. b̄kell ma2 $\delta$ 2 $\bar{\epsilon}$ ſ1g $\bar{m}$ $\delta$ 2
	b20 $\acute{\delta}$ $\overline{b}$ 2a. $\acute{b}$ $\acute{v}$ $\varepsilon$ lambı (1 $\mathring{g}$ $\acute{\delta}$ fon $\varepsilon$ gv $\mathring{s}$ l fon $\varepsilon$ $\overline{\mathring{g}}$ nı
31	gv $\bar{\mathbb{N}}$ sson. Vebzandz ha $\bar{\mathbb{m}}$ da son. $\bar{\mathfrak{p}}$ stood vpp az
	mozı $\overline{b}$ m $\overline{\epsilon}$ pagnaδı $\overline{b}$ m ol $\overline{l}$ m blıδlıga. $\overline{b}$ 2 $\overline{g}$ gv
	$\bar{\tilde{\beta}}$ m az a $\bar{n}$ í. $\bar{\beta}$ hapði ap $\bar{b}$ m fa $\bar{n}$ fo $\hat{g}$ $\bar{\epsilon}$ fkilr þa
34	hứgı a τ runolp 1 dal. p l m lı t kezılí 02 mk þig
	kveð2 ek ar þv hý2ſv hðſnuín ḗr þv a $\overline{\text{p}}_{\overline{2}a}$ m
	al eð 2 íıg $\mathring{p}$ íf. kezıll m $\overline{l}_1$ $\overline{p}$ vıll ða ek a $\overline{z}$ íæt $\mathring{t}$ yz
37	δι meδε off en bo her ek (viz eiδa, az (kiliaz

4r

\_\_\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>vò hm az fizia. a m li hinf villòa ek biòia þig az þv</u>
<u>vei</u>z² m² lið τ mag v min v. haß f v fkiozz τ kveð z ek ki m³ðv zaka vnð vanð ræði þ²a en þo vil ek fp
<u>v²</u>ia þigh þeff hý² fa é hín pavleití è pio² men

 $[\underline{00}]$  by  $2r \neq e$  for illilig fem  $\overline{g}gin$  fe v $\tau$  ó2 fio $\overline{g}$  bio2  $g[\underline{0}]$ nn. Ikp m $\overline{1}$ ı hı $\underline{2}$  $\overline{z}$  eckı  $\overline{b}$  mıolkı bín h $\dot{v}$ r ek  $\overline{e}$ .  $\overline{b}$  $\overline{z}$ ek mvn þoza þ mmgga é þv sið þyð. ₹ mvnða ek 13 allo h2æδδ2 þo az ívein íæzi a gauzv mine βyž m fem þv eð. é  $\overline{b}$   $\overline{\epsilon}$  fkyllóa að fækia fvanlaghv 16 fyſż þina è eyðiſ arnſaxa τ þav ſzeðia kollr τok v oz hybylv þi<u>n</u>v ε þozð þv ecki az az haga. a m ggvm vz ecki è hez von ½ ż nockv² liðveízzlv. ok ggv b2 þa t mavð2vellinga bv t r spðv hv t g k 19 v b. bm v fagz az h v b. a geck iπ ibvðina. haf æzı  $\stackrel{r}{v}$ ı mıð bvði $\overline{n}$ e.  $\overline{\tau}$  faz  $\stackrel{r}{b}$  gvð $\overline{m}$ ðz. a geck  $\overline{b}$ yż  $\overline{h}$ 22  $\bar{\epsilon}$  kvaðði vel. gvð $\bar{m}$ ð2  $\bar{\epsilon}$  ok  $\bar{h}$ m vel  $\bar{\epsilon}$  bað  $\bar{h}$  ſi $\bar{\epsilon}$ ſia. a m lī e vil ek sizia. en bidia vil ek þig liðveizzlv. bz þv er kamaín τ mikill hopðingi. ecki íkal va æ 25 mozi β lagdi gvdmd2. en ep m lyniz az veiza β liδ þa  $\underline{\text{meg}}$ v  $\dot{v}$  vel  $\overline{\tau}$ ala  $\overline{v}$   $\overline{b}$  ſiδ  $\overline{\tau}$   $\overline{\tau}$  ok  $\overline{b}$  ollv vel. a þackaði  $\overline{\underline{h}}$ m oð ozð lín.  $\overline{\underline{h}}$ 00 m  $\overline{\underline{h}}$ 1.  $\overline{\underline{h}}$  la  $\overline{\underline{e}}$  ei $\overline{\underline{n}}$ 28 ılıδı þi<u>nv</u> é ek hep hozpz a v ízunð ε lizz m oglig pleſzv mm bm e ek heß adz ſed. hvz e ſa m ſagdı а. Bio²  $\overline{m}$   $\overline{g}$ ga [0000]2 [0] 1ar $\mathring{p}$  a harf lít  $\varepsilon$  Bol  $117a\delta$ 2 31 mikill vexτι τ e<u>rn</u>lig2 τ fuo fkioτlig τ karllmzkv az hellőz vil ek  $\overline{\underline{h}}$  † lióf e $\overline{\overline{n}}$  x aőza.  $\overline{\tau}$  é þo maőz

.....

7 loδιnkiπa kezilí íoň [0...0]
kell hapði ἥiz vzan [0...0]
δι δ2epiz ípellýkia [0...0]

10 aví $\dot{\tau}$  1 (νιþιοδ  $\bar{\tau}$  βο2 [0...0]

```
hiudv þadan imstr v [0...0]
            ſιδν αττι bkell ατ fækıa [0...0]
13
            mæzzı h pıngalkne e [0...0]
            meδ2 \overline{b}m az \overline{h} δ2ap [0...0]
           ı adal fyflv. \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle\Gamma}{p} va \overline{h} az [0...0]
           \frac{1}{c} sviþio\delta \epsilon þaðn \frac{1}{c} no [0...0]
16
            ga þækvki þessi yg [0...0]
           zı fınv. \overline{h} bolz alıofu [0...0]
           <sup>å</sup> meδ2 b2æδ<sup>m</sup> ſ1 [0...0]
19
            \delta v \ \overline{b}_2 \ ba ıllmælı [0...0]
            þozkell hak þoz [0...0]
22
           az \overline{h} \overline{m} \delta_1 eigi [0...0]
            \bar{v} \ \overline{h} \ b \ kalla \delta_2 \ [0...0]
            kı 102\delta \overline{v} ne [0...0]
25
           AS_{gm}^{1} [0...0]
            <sup>1</sup>/<sub>c</sub> pela [0...0]
            p1 m1k1ll ₹ [0...0]
           \overline{h}s. \overline{fl}v \dot{v} \dot{h} \dot{\overline{c}} [0...0]
28
            ſkapvanδ2 [0...0]
            laż ecki † zaka [0...0]
31
           ра ſv̄та ſkvo. [0...0]
```

4v

\_\_\_\_\_

[0...0] malız ₹ man ſvo v[0...0] vn̄ın. ₹ veiz ek h̄z β̂

	[00] <u>17</u> ar þv ærlað ar ek
10	$[00]$ $\delta \overline{m} \delta 2$ $\varepsilon$ $\overline{m} \delta a$ vilia
	[00] αδι þα τ þοττι þvngτh
	$[00]$ ıklı $\varepsilon$ hın pe ıknlıghı è
13	$[00]$ kpleið ogæ pv íamlig2 $\epsilon$
	[00] kp $ au$ é þ íkollð læíz az
	$[00]$ mh heiß migh allo2í $\overline{b}$
16	$[00]$ mín $\epsilon$ $\overset{\scriptscriptstyle\Gamma}{b}$ ız $\overset{\scriptscriptstyle\Gamma}{v}$ $\overline{h}$ fem $b$ v
	$[00]$ íz riðíz $\frac{1}{c}$ alþingil ok
	[00] þ kng2a ar ģa l10fa
19	$[00]$ Er $\beta$ $\epsilon$ ſkyll $\delta$ a a $\epsilon$
	[00] marın é þv azz
	$[00]$ þín $\epsilon$ vnð2að1z
22	[00] 2kell íþrt væ ap
	$[00]$ illi reiði $\bar{\epsilon}$ m.
	[00] hín meíza ka
25	[00] δ2. ₹ þeg ek β
	[00] allz þv hapa
	[00] reiðða oxin
28	[00] a ek ıhndı
	[00] vo ek þin í
	[00] pek eingín
31	[00] eízz vopn az

7 v. n m l

ma va az δ2agı t

peff e va vıll

Gvδ m
δ2 hín k [p[00] h

v2[v k

pız hap[0000]

[0...0] æ $\delta_2^m$  fin $\overline{v}$   $\overline{\tilde{p}}$  ś

 $\overline{b}$ m bo2kazlı [0000]  $\overline{h}$  m $\overline{l}$ ı fvo kv $\overline{n}$ ıgz  $\underline{h}$ v 10 v  $\ddot{\beta}$ ız með2 off liofuez $\ddot{\eta}$ g $\overline{v}$   $\bar{\tau}$  he $\dot{\beta}$  ek all[0...0]mıkla îka $\overline{m}$  eða <u>fvi</u>vðing bya  $\overline{b}$ m fem nv [0...0] 13 ein þýzæng bzoðvz sin þv skalla g meðz ollv l 1δι mínv  $\overline{\epsilon}$  veiτα n ll þa e δο $\overline{h}$  v $\overline{h}$ . en e $\overline{h}$   $\overline{h}$ 2 рва lıdı medz anaz ıvm l ek ııalı veлza þ lıð. ei $^{\bar{h}}$  1azaði þeffv  $\bar{\epsilon}$  lez fegia a.  $\bar{h}$  m $\bar{l}$ i olikr 16 ė gudmd2 βleſzv hoβdingiv a ſagdi n b̄za Anan dag epż pvndvz  $\overline{b}_2$  [00000000] 19 a τ c h hiallzi ſkegia ſon τ ein þýzæng  $\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle\Gamma}{b}\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle\Gamma}{v}$  þa  $\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle\Gamma}{\epsilon}\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle\Gamma}{m}$  v ſ  $\overline{h}$  hapðı þa ap  $\overline{h}$ nð $\overline{v}$  ſoknína τ fellτ ihndz figß ff. a mli þigh kvedz ek byzf 22 zan az þv g h h ε hiallza ε ein þýzængi az ek v fegia yoz i hvznebin koiz e malinv yoz e nv  $kv\overline{n}$ ıgz az m heß að fozz malız en fvo e [00] $\dot{v}$  vaxız az  $\dot{m}$  he $\dot{g}$  adz  $\dot{v}$ ız az vıgı  $\dot{h}$   $\bar{\epsilon}$  fæzz  $\bar{h}$ 25  $^{t}_{b}$  farı e eingin  $\dot{v}$   $\dot{\bar{c}}$  ne $\overline{b}$ noz  $\bar{\epsilon}$  fyniz  $\underline{\vec{m}}$  fem  $\overline{b}$ mal mvne onyzz płaga fakir. ba viliū v [0]a 28  $\overline{b}$   $\overline{b}$ m (ago) hıallzı. bo2hallr a.(  $\overline{m}$   $\overline{\epsilon}$  k<u>vað</u>  $\overline{b}$  eckı Rað ar  $\dot{e}$   $\dot{g}_1$   $\bar{b}$  leynz að ðo $\dot{m}$   $\dot{g}_1$  v[0...0]β fagði fagði hiallzi. þozhallr m li eg βz viza

nv þe $_{g}^{r}$  az rangz he $_{g}^{2}$  viz  $_{\tau}^{1}$  bvíz. þa mega  $\overline{b}_{2}$ 

fuo biarga fokiπi az fenda þeg man ap þ[000]

31

# Diplomatic text of AM 162 B fol. 1

# || 1r ||

- 1 randa ívdr alandi
- 2 bædí ibvna ímidiv
- 3 balldr fig?talvm hallda
- 4 fidreynir let fidan
- 6 hadrí i hattar ftedia
- 7 hialldrí veftlida íkalldi.

þadan forv þeir til bergþorfhvolí ok tok niall vid tru ok öll hív hans. en mærdr valgardí íon geck meft a moti þeir forv þadan veftr yfir ar þa komv þeir ihavka dal ok íkirdiz þar hallr ok var hann þrevetr þadan forv þeir til grimíneí. Þar efldi flock a moti þeim þorvalldr hín veili ok íendi hann ord vlfi vga íyne at hann íkylldi fara at þangbrandi ok drepa þegar iftad ok kvad hann til visv þeíía.

- 1 Vgf bialfa mun ek vlfi
- 2 endilf ok bod fenda
- 3 mer er vid ftala
- 4 ftýriuglæft fyni vga.
- 5 at gnyfkuta geitif
- 6 goduarg fyrir argan
- 7 þann er vid rægn of rignir
- 8 reki hann enn mvnk anan.

vlfr vga son kvad adra a motí.

- Get kvad ek íviní þo at íyndi
- 2 fan elbodi tanna
- 3 hvarf vid hleypi skarfi
- 4 harbardz vea fiardar.
- 5 boat rafaka rækin
- 6 Rongh ero mal a gangi
- 7 fer ek fyrir míny meiní
- 8 mínlikt flvgv at gína

ok ætla ecki ek sagdi vlfr at vera ginningarfifl hans. en gæti hann at hann vefiz eigi tvngan of hófvd. ok eptir forv fendi menn aptr til þorvalldz hín veila ok fogdv ord vlff. þorvalldr hafdi mart manna vm figh ok hafdi þat vid ord at fitia fyrir þeim ablafkoga heidi. Þeir þangbrandr ok gvdleifr Ridv nv or havka dal. þeir mættv manni eínvm er Reid imot þeim ía spurdi at gydleifi er hann fan þa. hann mælti niota íkallt þv þorgilí brodur þiní a neykholvm at ek vil gera þer nioín at þeir hafa [0...0] | col. b | ba kvidling [0...0] mer [0...0] hialti for vt [0...0] brat aftr vi [0...0] for all veftr [0...0] modir skalld [0...0] leingi fy [0...0] ingi sidan ok [0...0] by heyrt sag [0...0] di kriftir eigi at [0...0] þangbrandr at þor [0...0] at hann lifdi [0...0] þitt hvat ſegir þv [0...0] Bræt ſyrir bi0 [0...0] landi mellv [0...0] þa er kneyfd [0...0] at gvd gæti [0...0] adra viív 0 [0...0] hrifti bví ok [0...0] íio fidan f [0...0] legia ha0 [0...0] ok fteínv [0...0] G[0...0] giord [0...0] ma [0...0] | 1v | [0...0] iatvdv þessv ok [0...0] a ok þa gervir ell [0...0] a sigh ok hlio [0...0] [0]inn medr [0...0] en elld er hei [0...0] þangbrandr hafdi [0...0] allr brena [0...0] er hann [0...0] Rodv kroffi æ [0...0] íverdit fell or [0...0] [0][[00000]en[00] [0...0] ok 0vad [0...0] [0]ad[0] ætlat [0...0] n þat a alþingi [0...0] hôfdingiar [0...0] b ok vard [0...0] at gert [0...0] leida. en [0...0] 0. sidan [0...0] þangbrandr [0...0] | col. b | drapí. þa gengy þeir til gizvr hviti ok hiallti ok bydy at leggia fig ived fyrir þeffa menn ok fara vt til iflandz ok boda trv konvngr tok þeffv vel ok þagv þeir alla þa vndan þa biógv þeir hiallti

ok gizvr skip sit til islandz ok vrdv seinbynir. Þeir tokv land a eyrvm er x vikvr vorv af svmri fengv þeir ser þa hefta enn fengv menn til at rydia íkip lítt. rida þa vid xxx manna til þings ok gerdv þa kriftnym monny at þeir íkylldy vidbynir verda. hiallti var eptir at Reydar myla þviat spurdy at hann var fekr ordin vm godga. en þa er þeir komv ivellan kætlv ofan fra giabakka kom hiallti eptir þeim ok kvedz eigi vilia fyna þat heidnym monnym at hann ræddiz þa. ridv ny margir [0...0] ok ridv medr fylktv lidi a þing. heidnir menn fylktv ok a moti ok var þa ívo nær at allr þingheimr mvndi beriaz enn þo vard þat eigi. Þorgeir het madr er bio [0...0]vatni hann var tiorva son þorkels sonar langf modir hans het borvn ok var borfteinf dottir figmvndarfonar gnopa bardar fonar gvdrid het kona hans hon var dottir borkels hinf svarta or hleidrar gardi brodir hans var ormr tavskv bakr fadir hlenna hiní gamla or íórbæ. þeir ketill ok þorkell vorv íynir þorií ínepií ketilí íonar brimilí örnolff fonar biornolff fonar grimf fonar lodinkinna ketilf fonar hængf fonar hallbiarnar fonar halftraolz or hrafmniftv kriftnir menn tiolldvdv bydir finar ok vorv þeir eizvr ok hiallti imoſfellínga bvd. vm daginn eptir gengv hvarrirtuecíu til lógbergſ ok nefndv hvarrir tueciv [0...0] | | 2r | | at vidr alla nottína ok ætladi hann at brena ydr ini. en þat bar vid at kom vm nottina ok vard þa ecki af þviat þeir hræddyz hann. Sidan fylgdi hann þeim a leid ok ok mikill man fiolldi. þa ætladi þer adra at gongv at veíta ok fetti þa grana gunnarfson ok gunnar lamba son at vega at þer enn honvmm vard bilt ok bordv beir eigi a bigh at Rada ok er hann hafdi betta mælt ba mæltv fyrft a moti. en þar kom at þeir trudv ok gjordvz ifaleikar af þeira hendi til hofkvlldí ok mæltv nær ecki vidr hann hvarr er beir fvndvz. en hann gaf beim litid til læti for ívo fram vm hrid. hoskvlldr for avftr til ívina fellz vm hæftit at heimbodi ok tok flofi vid honvm vel. hilldigvnr var þar flofi mælti til hofkvlldf. þat fagdi hilldigvnr mer at faleikar fe medr ydr nialf fonym. ok þicki mer þat illa ok vil ek bioda ber at by Ridir eigi veftr ok man ek fa ber byftad ifkapta felli en ek man fenda borgeir brodyr mín at bua iolla bæ þa myny þat lymir mæla lagdi holkvlldr at ek flyia þadan fyrir hrædzlu fakir ok vil ek þvi þat eigi. Þa er þat likara fagdi flofi at ftorvandrædi af illa er þat fagdi hofkvlldr. þviat helldr villda ek vera vgilldr en margir menn hlyti illt af mer. hofkvlldr biodz heím fam nottum fidar. flofi gaf honvm íkallaz íkikkiu ok hladbvín ifkavt nidr. Ridr hofkvlldr nv heím iollabæ ok er nv kyrt vm hrið. holkvlldr var madr ívo vinlæll at hann at fa vvinl. hín lama var

vþykt medr þeim allan vetrin. Niall hafdi tekit til foftrí son kara er þordr het hann hafdi ok foftr veítt þorhalli afgrimf (on ellida grimffonar. þorhallr var rofkr madr ok miok harðgiðr hann hafdi fuo nymit logh af viali at hann var hin þriði meftr lagamaðr aiflandi. viall varafti miok ínemma ym varit ok færa menn nidr kornin lín lnemmendil Þat var einn dag at mordr kom lnemmidil til bergborfhvols þeir gengv þegar a tal nialí fynir ok hann ok rægdi mordr hofkvlld þa enn at vanda linvm ok hafdi þa en margar nyiar lógvr ok egiar nv faft íkarphedin ok þa brædr at fara ok drepa hoſkvlld ok kvad hann mvndv elligar ſkiotara ef þeir færi eigi þegar at honvm gera ſkal þer koft a lagdi lkarphedinn ef þv vill fara medr oll ok gera at nockut þat vil ek til vinna lagdi | col. b | mordr ok bvndv þeir mædr faftmælvm ok ík [0...0] koma vm kvelldit. bergbora ípurdi nial hvat beir tala [0...0] er ek irada gerd medr beim fagdi viall fi [0...0] ba fra kvadr er hinv betri vorv Radin. [karphedinn [0...0] ki nidr vm kvelldit ok ecki brædr hans [0...0] hina fómv ofan verda kom mordr tokv nialí fynir [0...0] ok ívo kari ok ridv i brott íidan. þeír forv þar til er þeir komv iofía bæ ok [0...0] gardi nóckvrvm. vedr var gott ok f [0...0] ibenna tima vaknadi hofkvlldr hvita nef godi [0...0] i sín ok tok yfir skikkivna flosa navt hann t [0...0] pv ihond ser ok eítt sverd iadra ok for til [0...0] far korníny þeir íkarphedinn hofdy þat medr í [0...0] kylldy allir a honym vinna. ſkarphedinn ſprat vpp [0...0] enn er hoſkvlldr ſa hann villdi hann vndan ſnva. þa [0...0] at honvm ok mælti hírd eigi at opa a hæl h [0...0] ín ok hogr til hans ok kom i hofvdít ok fell [0...0] mælti betta vid er hann fell gvd hialpi mer en f [0...0] hliopy beir ba at 'honvm' ollym megin ok yny [0...0] fen. þa mælti mordr nad kemr mer ihvg hverr [0...0] fkarphedinn. þat fagdi mordr at ek mvn heím. fara f [0...0] mvn ek fara vpp til griotar ok íegia þeim tidin [0...0] illa yfir verkínv. en ek veít at þorgerdr [0...0] mik til at lyla vigínv ok mvn ek þvi gera [0...0] ina þeim meft mala ípell verda. ek [0...0] a man iolla bæ ok vita hverrlv lkiott [0...0] ok mvn lpyria þar tidindín ok mvn ek [0...0] fretta af þeim tidindín far þv ívo me [0...0] þeir brædr forv heim ok kari. en er þeir komv [0...0] viali tidindín. hórmvlig tidindi sag [0...0] slikt illt at vita. þviat þat er satt at se [0...0] fellr mer nær vm trega at mer þætti [0...0] a latid tva íonv mína ok lifdi hoíkvlldr. [0...0] varkvn íagdi skarphedinn þv ert miok ga [0...0] at þer falli nær eigi er þat sidr enn elli sag [0...0] gior enn þer hvat eptir mvn koma h[0...0] íagdi íkarphedinn dædi mín ok konv mi [0...0] | | 2v | | [0...0] di

niall. hvat ípar þv mer fagdi kari. erfuít mvn [0...0] ganga moti giptv þinni fagdi niall þviat þv mvnt [0...0] iugari verda ſagdi niall. ſia einn hlutr var ſo at niali [0...0] at hann matti alldri oklavckvandi til tala. [0...0] igvnr vaknadi ok fann at hofkvlldr var [0...0] tv or fængini. hon mælti hardir hafa dravm [0...0] godir ok leitit at honvm hofkvldi. þeir leitvdv hans ok [0...0] þa hafdi hilldigvnr klætt figh ferr hon þa ok [0...0] edr hne til gerdifiní ok fin[0...0] ala madr mardar ok lagdi hne at beir [0...0] edan badan ok kalladi lkarphedinn a mik ok lyfti hann [0...0] nd ser kar0manligt verk væri þetta fagdi hon ef e [0...0] t hon tok ſkickivna. ok þerdi blodit medr ok [0... 0] an i blodlifrarnar ok braut ívo faman ok lagdi [0...0] fina nv fendi hon man upp til griotar at legia [0...0] var fur mordr ok hafdi adr lagt tidindin þar var [0...0] l or merk þorgerdr mælti til ketillf. Nv er hofkvlldr dædr [0...0] <sup>n</sup> nv adr ok mvn nv hveriu þv hefir heit [0...0] hann at ek hafa ærid morgv heitit [0...0] lada at ekki mvndi þeffir dagar [000]m [0...0] v ero vordnir [00] er ek vidr va [00] komin þviat [0...0] ögvm þar íem ek a dottur nialí Ovort vílt þv [0...0] Ot mordr lyfi viginv eigi veít ek þat fagdi ket0 [0...0] þycki mer fem illt leidi af honvm enn [000]t [0...0] ladi vid ketil þa for honvm fem od0000 ívo [0...0] mvndi trvr uera honvm ok var þat rad þeira at [0...0] 0ſa viginv ok bua malit at [000] til þings [0...0] fan ioffa bæ. þangat komv ix bvar þeir er næf [0...0] 0fgi. mordr hafdi x menn medr ser hann fynir [0...0] ok nefnir votta at benium ok nefnir man [0... 0 0]ma til einí þat leit hann íem hann viííi eigi hverr [0...0] en þvi hafdi hafdi hann íialfr íært en hann [0...0] a hond fkarphedni. en sarum a honym [00] brædrym [0...0] 0 kvaddi heiman v[0000]angí bva [0...0] eptir þat [0...0] [0]rðr þeim er þeir fvndvz ok var þat þeira [0...0] gh hoſkvlldſ spurd[0...0] allar ſveitir ok mæll | col. b | ti illa fyrir. þeir nialſſynir forv at finna aſgrim ellida grimíson ok badv hann lidueítzly þess megit þer vonir uita sagdi hann at ek mun ydr veita at ollvm hinvm ftærftvm malum enn þo fegir mer þvnght vm malín hvgrin. þviat margir ero eptir mælif en víg þetta mæliz illa fyrir vm allar íveitir. nv forv nialí íynir heim Madr er nefndr gydmyndr hin Riki er bio a módry uóllum ieyia firdi hann var eyiolfí (on [0]naríar íonar audvnar [0...0] borfteinf sonar skrof grimf sonar kambanf [00000] gudm[0...0] hez hallbera hon var dottir borodz hialmí, en modir hennar het reginleif dottir fæmvndar hiní fodrfeyí[0]a vid þann er kend læmvndarhlid ilkaga firdi modir eyiolfl f[0] gudmvndar var valgerdr Runolfl dottir modir hennar

var valborg hennar modir iorvn hin oborna dottir ofvalldz konvngf hinf helga [0...0] fodur eyioff var helga dottir helga hiní magra er nam eyia fiord son eyuindar avftmanz ok rufiórtv dottur kiarualí ira konvngí modir helgv dottur helga var þorvn hyrna dottir ketilí flatnefí var biarnar fonar byny grimf fonar herfif or fogni modir grimf var hervor en hervarar modir var þorgerdr d[0] haleygí konvngí af haloga landi borlaug het kona gydmyndar hiní Rika dottir atla hiní Ramma eyliff fonar arnar bardarfonar iarlketilf fonar Reffkida fonar hinf gamla herdif het modir borlaugar dottir bordar havfda biarnar sonar byrdusmiors hroaldz sonar hrodlags sonar hries biarnar sonar [000]nsidv ragnars sonar lodbrokar sigurdar sonar rings sonar ranviss sonar radbardz sonar modir herdisar skida dottur [0...0]dgerdr dottir kiarvals ira konvngs. gvdmvndr var hofdingi mikill hann var adigr at fe hann hafdi hond ra[0] hiona hann sat yfir virdingv allra hofdingia fyrir nordan land Ívo at Ívmir letv bvftadi fina en ívma tok hann af lifi enn ívmir letv godord [000] f honvm ok er fra honym komit allt hit mefta manval fra landiny o[0...0]y[0] ok [0...0] hua0000 ok fliotamenn ketill byskup ok margir hinir bedzftv menn gydmvndr var vinr afgrimf ellida grimf fonar ok ætladi hann þar til lidueitzlv. | | 3r | | Snorri het madr ok enn kalladr godi [000] bio at hellga felli [000] gydryn osuiforf ottir keypi at honym landit ok bio hon bar fidan. en fno[000] f[0...0] til huamí fiardar ok bio i íælingí dalí [0...0]orgrimr [0...0] ok var íon þorfteiní þoríkabitz þo[0... Ollonar moftrar (kegl aurnolff fonar fiskareka en ari hin frodi fagdi hann vera fon borgils reydar sidv. þorolfr moftrar íkeg atti oskv dottur þor [0...0] Rauda. modir þorgrimí het þora dottir oleifí feilaní þorfteiní íonar hiní Rauda oleifí íonar hiní huita ingialldí íonar helga íonar en modir ingialldz het bora dottir sigurdar orms ioga Ragnars sonar lodbrokar en modir snorra het bordis fyftir eifla surs [000] Snorri godi var vinr mikill afgrimf ellida grimffonar. ok ætladi hann þar til lidueitzly Snorri var vitraftr madr a iflandi þeira er igi vorv forfpair hann var godr vinvm finvm en grimr vvinvm. J þenna tima var þíng Reid mikil æ ollvm landz fiordungvm ok hofdv menn morg mal til bvit flosi spyr vigh hoskvllds [0]ags [0...0] sins ok aflar honym þat mikillar ahygiu ok reidi þo var hann vel ftillt honvm var fagdr mala tilbvnadrin fa fem hafdr hafdi verit eptir vig hofkvlldf ok let hann ser fatt vm þat fínnaz hann fendi ord fidv halli magi finvm [0] ok lioti fyni hans at þeir ſkylldv fiolmenna miỏg til þíngſ liotr þotti betz hỏfdingia efni [0000] honvm var þat fyrir ſpad. ef

hann ridi þriu fumur til þíngf ok kuæmí hann heill heím. at þa mvndi hann verda meftr hofdingi i ætt sinne ok ellztr hann hafdi Ridit eitt svmar til þings. enn nv ætladi hann annat flosi se[000] ord kol þorfteiní fyne ok glumí hilldif fyne hinf gamla geirleiff fonar amvnda fonar tøfkv bakí ok modolff ketilf fonar. ok Ridv þeir allir til motz vid hann hallr het ok at fiolmenna miok flofi Reid bar til er hann kom i kirkiu bæ til svrtz asbiarnar sonar barba send hann en [0 0000000] egils syne brodvr fyne finvm ok kom þar ok reid hann þar til er hann kom til hofda breckv. Þar bio þorgrimr ſkrætí þorkelſ ſon hinſ fagra. floſi bad hann | col. b | Rida til þingſ medr ser. en hann iatti þvi ok mælti til flosa optar hefir þv bondi verit gladari enn nv. en þo er nóckv2 vorkvn a at svo se flosi mælti þat hefir nv vift at handa borit at ek munda gefa til alla mina eigv at eigi borit hefdi at borit. er illv k[0...0] ad enda mvn illt af leida. þadan reid hann vm arnar ftakí heidi ok a íol heíma vm kuelldid þar bío lodmundr vlff íon hann var vinr flofa mikill flofi var þar vm nottina. en vm morgininn epter Reid medr honvm lodmvndr i dal. þar bio Rvnolfr son vlfs o[0]goda flosi mælti til Rvnolff her mvnv ver hafa sannar fogvr vm vigh hofkvlldf ert bv madr fanordr enn komin nær frett ok mvn ek trva þvi er þv fegir fra. hvat til faka hefir vordit m[0...0]m ævnolfr mælti ecki þarf bat ordvm fegra at hann hefir mei[0] enn saklæs drepin verit. ok er hann ollvm monnvm harmdaudi ok þickir ongym iafmn mikit sem niali foftra hans, þa myn honym verda illt til lidveitzly manna fagdi flofi fva myn þat fagdi Rynolfr. ef ecki dregr til hvat er ny at gort fagdi flofi nv ero kvaddir bvar ok lyft viginv fagdi Rvnolfr hverr gerdi þat fagdi flofi. mordr valgardz fon fagdi rvnolfr hversv trvír þv honvm sagdi flosi. Skylldr er hann mer sagdi rvnolfr. en þat mvn ek satt fra ſegia at fleirí hliota af honvm illt enn gott. En þeſſ vil ek þik bidia at þv geſir no neidi ok takir þat af er minftz vandi ser þviat mvn god bod bioda fyrir sonv sína. ok allir hinir b[0...0] flosi mælti Ríttv til þíngí Rvnolfr. ok íkvlv mikit mega [00...0] migh nema til verra dragi en vera íkyldi. S[0... 0]ettv þeir talínv. ok het Rvnolfr ferdini. Rvnolfr fendi ord [0...0] hinvm ípaka frenda íinvm. hann reid begar bangat. f[0...0] reid badan ioffa bæ hilldigvnnr var vtí ok mælti. Ny fkyly allir heimamenn vera vtí er flofi Ridr igard en konvr skylv tiallda hylín ok ræfta ok bya flofa ondygí. Sidan reid [00] i tunít. hilldigvær íneri þegar at honvm ok mælti kom heill ok íæll frendi ok er fegit [0...0] þinne. her íkvlv ver eta dag verd dagh ok Rida [0...0] þa vorv b[0...0] eftar þeira. floíi

geck inn iftvfv ok [ett[000000] || 3v || ok kaftar i pallin vndan ser hægindinu. ok mælti huarki er ek konvngr ne iarll ok vil ek ecki lata gera hasati vndir mer ok þarf ecki at spotta mik hilldigvnr mælti þviat hvn var ftædd nær. þat er illa er þer mislikar þviat þetta gerdv ver af heilum hvgh [0... 0] ef þv hefir heilan hvg vid mig þa lofar þat fi[0...0] [0...0]g ef illa ef. hilldigvnr hlo at [0...0] a hlatur ok mælti ecki er en mark at ner mvnv vid gangaft ok verda adr enn lykr hvn settiz nidr hia flosa ok tólvdu þav leingi hlíott Sidan vorv bord tekin en flosi tok lavgar ok lid hans. flosi hugdi at hn0klædínv ok vorv rófar einar ok nymit iannan endan0 hann kaftadi því i beckín ok villdi eigi река ser a ok reift af borddukinym ok þurkadi sigh þar a ok kaftadi til manna si[0...0] edan settiz Flosi vndir bordit ok bad menn sina eta. þa kom hilldigvnr iftufuna ok greidi harit fra ögvm ser ok gret. Ikapbvngt er þer nv frendkona lagdi floli en þo er þat vel er þv græter godan man hvert eptir mæli íkal ek af þer hafa íagdi hvn edr liduei0zlv floíi mælti íækia mvn ek mal þítt til fvllra laga. ok til þeira fatta er godir menn fea at ver fe vel halldan af iala ftadi. hon mælti hefmna mvndi hoskvlldr þín ef hann ætti eptir þigh at mæla. flosi mælti eigi skortir þigh grimleik ok se ek hvat er þv vill. hon mællti. minna hafdi milgert arnor ommv brodír ornolfl or forlarlkogvm vid þord freysgoda fedr þín. ok vogy brædr þinir hann a skapta fell [0...0]l beinn ok egill. Hilldigynr geck fram ifkala [0...0]pp kiftv finne tok vpp fkikkíuna þa er hon ha[0...0]egít af flofa ok i þeire var hoſkvlldr vegín ok haſdi hon þar [0...0]eítt I blodit allt. hvn geck þa inar iftvfvna [0...0]ickiuna. hvn geck þegiandi at flofi þa var flofi mettr ok af borit bordinv. hilldigvnr lagdi þa yfir flofa ſkickiuna dvndi þa blod vm hann allan. hon mælti þeſſa ſkickíu gaft þv floſi hoſkvlldi ok vil ek nv gefa ber hana apter. var hann ok ibese vegin. Íkyt ek þvi til gvdí ok godra manna at ek íæri þigh fyrir alla krapta kriftz þiní ok fur manndom. ok [0000]zkv þína at þv hefnir allra þeira [0...0] ſem hoſkvlldr | col. b | hafdi a ſer davdum edr heitir h[00]ſ mannz nidingr ella floſi ka[0...0] ſkickiunne ok k[00] at[0...0] fang henne floſi mælir þv ert hit mefta [000]at[00] villdir at ver tækím bat upp er ollvm [0...0]ví ok ero kóld [0...0] iandliti ftvndvm íem blod [0...0]ndvm f0r íem nar ftundvm blar sem hel. þeir flosi ridv þa ibrot hann ridr til hollta vads ok bidr þar sigfvs sona ok anarra [000] Yngialldr bio at kelldum brodir hrodnyiar modyr hofkylldf þa vory bórn hofkylldf hiní hvíta ingialldz íonar hiní fterka geirfínz íonar hiní Róda íolva íonar þorfteiní íonar

berserkiabana. Ingialldr atti þraslægv dottur egilf þordar sonar freysgoda. moðir egilf var þraslægh dottir þorfteiní titlingí modir þraflægar var vnr dottir evíndar karfa. flofi íendi ord ingialldi fra kelldvm at hann kæmi til moz vid hann. Ingialldr for þegar vid hín fimtanda man. Ingialldr var mikill madr ok fterkr. falatr ok hin træftaftí madr ok fedreingr godr vid víne lína. floli fagnar honvm vel ok mælti. mikill vandi er komin at hendi off ok er nv vant or at rada bidr ek þigh þeff magr at þv íkiliz eigi vid migh fyr en lykr yfir vandrædi þeífi Ingialldr mælti vid vant er ek vm komín fyrir teingda íakir vid nial ok íonv hans. ok anarra ftorhluta er her ftendr a milli. flofi mælti þat ætlada ek þa er gipta þer brodvr dottur mína at þv hetir mer þvi at fylgia mer at hveriu mali. bat er ok likaz fagdi Ingialldr at ek geri fvo. enn bo vil vil fyrft heim Rida ok badan til þingf SIfví fynir fpyrdy at flofi var vid holltavad ok Ridy þa til motz vid hann, ok var þar ketill or merk ok lambi brodir hans. þorkell mærdr ok figmvndr brodir þeira. Þar var ok lambi figvrdar fon ok gvnarr lambason ok grani gvnarsson. Vebrandr hamvnda s. flosi stod vpp at moti þeim ok fagnadi beim ollvm blidliga, beir gengv fram at anní, flosi hafdi af beim sanar sogur ok skilr þa hvergi a ok Runolf i dal. flosi mælti til ketilf or merk þig kvedr ek at þessv hverrsv hardsnuín ert þv a þetta mal edr sigfví fynir. ketill mælti þat villda ek at sættir yrdi medr off en þo hefir ek svarit eida. at skiliaz | 4r | | [0...0] vd honvm at sitia. asgrimr mælti hins villda ek bidia þig at þv veittir mer lid ok magym minym, hafr ívar íkiott ok kvedz ekki myndy taka vndir vandrædi þeira en þo vil ek ípyria bigh bess hverr sa er hín favleití er fiorir men [00] fyrr ok er svo illiligr sem gengin se vt ór siosar biổr g[0]nn. ſkarphedin mælti hirt ecki þat miolki þín hverr ek em. þviat ek mvn þora þar fram ganga er þv sitr fyrir. ok mvnda ek allo hræddr þo at sveinar sæti a gautv minne fyrir mer sem þv ert. er þat ok íkylldara at íækia ívanlaghv fyftur þina er eydif arníaxa ok þav ftedia kollr tokv or hybylvm binvm ok bordir by ecki at at hafa. afgrimr mælti gongvm vt ecki er her von til til nockvrar lidveítzlv. ok gongv þeir þa til mavdrvellinga bvdar ok spurdv hvart gvdmvndr hinn Riki var þar, þeim var fagt at hann var þar, afgrimr geck inn ibvdina, hafæti var i midri bvdinne, ok fat þar gvdmvndr. afgrimr geck fyrir hann ok kvaddi vel. gvdmvndr tok honvm vel ok bad hann sitía. afgrimr mælti eigi vil ek fitia. en bidia vil ek þig lidveitzlv. þviat þv ert kappfamr ok mikill hôfdingí. ecki íkal vera æ moti þer fagdi gvdmvndr. en ef mer fyniz at veita þer lid þa megv vit vel tala vm þat fidar ok tok hann ollv vel. afgrimr þackadi honvm od ord fín. gvdmvndr mælti. madr sa er einn ilidi þinv er ek hef horft a vm ftund ok litz mer ogurligri fleftvm monnvm þeim er ek hefir adr sed. hverr er sa madr sagdi asgrimr. fiorir menn ganga [0000]r [0] iarpr a hars sit ok fol litadr mikill vexti ok ernligr ok fuo fkiotligr til karllmennzkv at helldr vil ek hann til lidf enn tiv adra. ok er þo madrinn [0...0] | col. b | lodinkinna ketilí íonar [0...0] kell hafdi farit vtan [0...0] di drepit ípellvirkia [0...0] avftr i íviþiod ok for [0...0] heriudv þadan iæftr v [0...0] íidv atti þorkell at fækia [0...0] mætti hann fingalkne e [0...0] medr þeim at hann drap [0...0] i adal syslu þar va hann at [0...0] til íviþiodar ok þadan til no [0...0] gera þrekvirki þessi yfir [0...0] ti sinv. hann bardiz aliofu [0...0] Rika medr brædrvm fi [0...0] dv þeir þa illmæli [0...0] þorkell hakr þor [0...0] at hann mvndi eigi [0...0] var hann þvi kalladr [0...0] ki iordvm ne [0...0] ASgrimr [0...0] til fela [0...0] pi mikill ok [0...0] hans. ſkvlv ver her til [0...0] ſkapvandr [0...0] latir ecki til taka [0...0] at hann var iblam [0...0] fa ívarta íkvo.  $[0...0] \mid \mid 4v \mid \mid [0...0]$  malit ok man ívo v [0...0] vnnin. ok veit ek hvat ber [0...0] it at by ætladir at ek [0...0] dmvndr ok mvnda vilia [0...0] adi þa ok botti þvngth [0...0] ilki ok hin feiknlighi er [0...0] karpleitr ogæfv famligr ok [0...0] karp ok er þer fkolld læft at [0...0] manni hefir migh alldrí þat [0...0] mín ok bariz vid hann ſem þv [0...0] ít ʀidít til alþingiſ ok [0... 0] þer kringra at gera lioía [0...0] Er þer ok íkylldara at [0...0] merarinar er þv atz [0...0] þín ok vndradiz [0...0] rkell (pratt vpp af [0...0] illi reidi ok mælti. [0...0] hín mefta ka [0...0] dr. ok þegar ek þer [0...0] allt þv hafa [0...0] reidda oxin [0...0] a ek ihendi [0...0] vo ek þrain í [0...0] fek eingín [0...0] eítt vopn at [0...0] ædrvm ſinvm fra ser [0...0] | col. b | var. niall mælti ma vera at dragi til þeff er vera vill Gvdmvndr hín Riki (p[00] hverrfv farit haf[0000] þeim þorkatli [0000] hann mælti ívo kvnnigt hv v farit medr off liofuetningvm ok hefi ek all[0...0] mikla íkamm edr ívivirding fyrir þeim íem nv [0...0] fyrir íkarphedinn ok er þetta al vell vordit. Sidan mælti [0...0] einar þveræng brodvr fin þv fkallt fara medr ollv lidi mínv ok veita nials fonvm þa er domar vt fara. en ef þeir þurfa lidí medr anat ívmar íkal ek fialfr veita þat lid. einar iatadi þeífv ok let fegia afgrimi. hann mælti olikr er gudmvndr fleftvm hófdingivm afgrimr fagdi niali þetta Anan dag eptir fvndvz þeir afgrimr ok gizvr hviti hiallti íkegia íon ok einar þverængr þar var þa ok mordr valgardí íon hann hafdi þa af hondvm íoknína ok fellt ihendr figfví íonvm. afgrimr mælti þigh

kvedr ek fyrftan at þeífv gizvrr hín hviti ok hiallta ok einar þverængi at ek vil íegia ydr i hvernefnin komit er malinvm ydr er nv kvnnigt at mordr hefir adr íott malit en ívo er [00] vid vaxit at mordr hefir adr verit at vigi hoſkvlldſ ok ſært hann þvi ſari er eingín var til nefmndr ok ſyniz mer ſem þat mal mvne onytt fur laga ſakir. þa vilium ver [0]a þat fram ſagdi hiallti. þorhallr aſgrimſſon mælti ok kvad þat ecki Rad at eigi feri þat leynt adr domar feri v[0...0] þat ſagdi ſagdi hiallti. þorhallr mælti ef þeir vita nv þegar at rangt hefir verit til bvít. þa mega þeir ſuo biarga ſokinni at ſenda þegar man af þ000 [0...0].

## Normalised text of AM 162 B fol. 1

<102. kapítuli>
[0...0]

1 randa suðr á landi
2 beðs í bæna smiðju
3 Baldr sig?tólum halda.
4 Siðreynir lét síðan
5 snjallr moldhamar gjalda
6 hauðrs í hattar steðja

hjaldrs Vestliða skaldi.

7

Þaðan fóru þeir til Bergþórshváls, ok tók Njáll við trú ok ǫll hjú hans. En Mǫrðr Valgarðsson gekk mest á móti. Þeir fóru þaðan vestr yfir ár. Þá kómu þeir í Haukadal ok skírðisk þar Hall, ok var hann þrévetr. Þaðan fóru þeir til Grímsness. Þar efldi flokk á móti þeim Þorvaldr inn veili, ok sendi hann orð Úlfi Uggasyni, at hann skyldi fara at Þangbrandi ok drepa þegar í stað, ok kvað hann til vísu þessa:

- 1 Yggs bjálfa mun ek úlfi
- 2 Endils ok boð senda,
- 3 mér er við stála
- 4 stýriuglaust syni Ugga,
- 5 at gnýskúta Geitis
- 6 goðvarg fyrir argan,
- 7 þann er við rogn of rignir
- 8 reki hann en munk annan.

# Úlfr Uggason kvað aðra á móti:

- Get kvað ek, svíns þó at syndi
- 2 sann élboði tanna
- 3 hvarf við hleypiskarfi
- 4 Hárbarðs véa fjarðar.
- 5 Þó at ráfáka rækin,
- 6 rọng eru mál á gangi,
- 7 sér ek fyrir mínu meini,
- 8 mínlíkt flugu at gína.

"Ok ætla ekki ek," sagði Úlfr, "at vera ginningarfífl hans. En gæti hann, at hann vefisk eigi tungan of hǫfuð." Ok eptir fóru sendimenn aptr til Þorvalds hín veila ok sǫgðu orð Úlfs. Þorvaldr hafði mart manna um sik ok hafði þat við orð, at sitja fyrir þeim á Bláskógaheiði. Þeir Þangbrandr ok Guðleifr riðu nú ór Haukadal. Þeir mættu manni einum, er reið í mót þeim; sá spurði at Guðleifi, er hann fann þá. Hann mælti: "Njóta skalt þú, Þorgils, bróður þíns, á Reykhólum, at ek vil gera þér njósn, at þeir hafa [0...0] þá Þorgkviðling [0...0] mér [0...0] Hjalti fór ut [0...0] braut austr vi [0...0] fór allt vestr [0...0] móðir skáld [0...0] lengi fy [0...0] ingi síðan ok [0...0] þú heyrt ſag [0...0] di kristir eigi at [0...0] Þangbrandr at Þorr [0...0] at hann lifði [0...0] þitt hvat segir þú [0...0] Braut fyrir bj[0] [0...0] landi mellu [0...0] þá er kneyfd [0...0] at guð gæti [0...0] aðra vísu 0 [0...0] hristi búss ok [0...0] sjá síðan s [0...0] leggja haðo [0...0] ok steinu [0...0].

#### <103. kapítuli>

G[0...0] gjǫrð [0...0] ma [0...0] játuðu þessu ok [0...0] a ok þá gǫrvir ell [0...0] a sik ok hljó [0...0] [0]inn meðr [0...0] en eld er hei [0...0] Þangbrandr hafði [0...0] allr brenna [0...0]er hann [0...0] róðukrossi á [0...0] sverðit fell ór [0...0] [0]s[00000]enn[00] [0...0] ok [0]vað [0...0] [0]ad[0] ætlat

[0...0] n þat á alþingi [0...0] hǫfðingjar [0...0] b ok varð [0...0] at gǫrt [0...0] leiða. En [0...0]. Síðan [0...0] Þangbrandr [0...0].

## <104. kapítuli>

[0...0] dráps. Þá gengu þeir til Gizurs hvíti ok Hjalti ok buðu at leggja sik í veð fyrir þessa menn ok fara út til Íslands ok boða trú. Konungr tók þessu vel ok þágu þeir alla þá undan. Þá bjoggu þeir Hjalti ok Gizurr skip sitt til Íslands ok urðu seinbúnir. Þeir tóku land á Eyrum, er tíu vikur váru af sumri. Fengu þeir sér þá hesta, en fengu menn til at ryðja skip sitt. Ríða þá við þrjá tigu manna til þings ok gerðu þá kristnum monnum at þeir skyldu við búnir verða. Hjalti var eptir at Reyðarmúla, því at ⟨þeir⟩spurðu, at hann var sekr orðinn um goðgá. En þá er þeir komu í Vellankotlu ofan frá Gjábakka, kom Hjalti eptir þeim ok kvezk eigi vilja sýna þat heiðnum monnum, at hann hræddisk þá. Riðu nú margir [0...0] ok riðu meðr fylktu liði á þing. Heiðnir menn fylktu ok á móti ok var þá svá nær, at allr þingheimr mundi berjask, en þó varð þat eigi.

#### <105. kapítuli>

Porgeirr hét maðr, er bjó [0...0]vatni; hann var Tjǫrvason, Þorkelssonar langs. Móðir hans hét Pórunn ok var Þorsteinsdóttir, Sigmundarsonar, Gnúpa-Bárðarsonar. Guðríðr hét kona hans; hon var dóttir Þorkels ins svarta ór Hleiðrargarði; bróðir hans var Ormr tǫskubakr, faðir Hlenna ins gamla ór Saurbæ. Þeir Ketill ok Þorkell váru synir Þóris snepis, Ketilssonar brimils, Qrnolfssonar, Bjǫrnólfssonar, Grímssonar loðinkinna, Ketilssonar Hængssonar, Hallbjarnarsonar hálftrǫlls ór Hrafnistu. Kristnir menn tjǫlduðu búðir sínar, ok váru þeir Gizurr ok Hjalti í Mosfellingabúð. Um daginn eptir gengu hvárir tveggju til lǫgbergs, ok nefndu hvárir tveggju [0...0].

#### <109. kapítuli>

[0...0] at viðr alla nóttina, ok ætlaði hann at brenna yðr inni. En þat bar við, at 〈Hǫgni〉 kom um nóttina, ok varð þá ekki af því, at þeir hræddusk hann. Síðan fylgði hann þeim á leið ok mikill mannfjolði. Þá ætlaði 〈hann〉 þér aðra atgongu at veita ok setti þá Grana Gunnarsson ok Gunnar

Lambason at vega at bér, en honum varð bilt ok þorðu þeir eigi á þik at ráða." Ok er hann hafði betta mælt, þá mæltu fyrst á móti. En þar kom, at þeir trúðu, ok gerðusk í fáleikar af þeira hendi til Hoskulds, ok mæltu nær ekki viðr hann, hvar er þeir fundusk. En hann gaf þeim lítit tillæti, fór svá fram um hríð. Hoskuldr fór austr til Svínafells um haustit at heimboði, ok tók Flosi við honum vel. Hildigunnr var þar. Flosi mælti til Hoskulds: "Þat sagði Hildigunnr mér, at fáleikar sé meðr yðr Njálssonum, ok þykki mér þat illa, ok vil ek bjóða þér, at þú ríðir eigi vestr, ok man ek fá þér bústað í Skaptafelli, en ek man senda Þorgeir, bróður minn, at búa í Ossabæ." "Þá munu bat sumir mæla," sagði Hoskuldr, "at ek flýja þaðan fyrir hræzlu sakir, ok vil ek því þat eigi." "Þá er þat líkara," sagði Flosi, "at stórvandræði af." "Illa er þat," sagði Hoskuldr, "því at heldr vilda ek vera ógildr en margir menn hlyti illt af mér." Hoskuldr bjósk heim fám nóttum síðar. Flosi gaf honum skarlatsskikkju, ok (var) hlaðbúin í skaut niðr. Ríðr Hoskuldr nú heim í Ossabæ. Ok er nú kyrrt um hríð. Hoskuldr var maðr svá vinsæll, at hann, at fá óvini. In sama var óþykkt meðr þeim allan vetrinn. Njáll hafði tekit til fóstrs son Kára, er Þórðr hét. Hann hafði ok fóstr veitt Þórhalli, Ásgrímsson Elliða-Grímssonar. Þórhallr var roskr maðr ok mjok harðgorr. Hann hafði svá numit log af Njáli, at hann var inn þriði mestr lagamaðr á Íslandi. Njáll várasti mjok snemma um várit, ok færa menn niðr kornin sín snemmendis.

#### <110. kapítuli>

Pat var einn dag, at Mǫrðr kom snemmendis til Bergþórshváls. Þeir gengu þegar á tal, Njálssynir ok hann, ok rægði Mǫrðr Hǫskuld þá enns at vanda sínum ok hafði þá enn margar nýjar sǫgur ok eggjar nú fast Skarpheðin ok þá bræðr at fara ok drepa Hǫskuld ok kvað hann mundu elligar skjótara, ef þeir færi eigi þegar at honum. "Gera skal þér kost á," sagði Skarpheðinn, "ef þú vill fara meðr oss ok gera at nǫkkut." "Þat vil ek til vinna," sagði Mǫrðr. Ok bundu þeir meðr fastmælum, ok sk [0...0] koma um kveldit. Bergþóra spurði Njál: "Hvat þeir tala [0...0] er ek í ráðagerð meðr þeim," sagði Njáll; "sj [0...0] þá frá kvaddr, er in betri váru ráðin." Skarpheðinn [0...0] ki niðr um kveldit ok ekki bræðr hans [0...0] ina sǫmu ofan verða kom Mǫrðr, tóku

Njálssynir [0...0] ok svá Kári ok riðu í brott síðan. Þeir fóru þar til, er þeir kómu í Ossabæ, ok [0...0] garði nokkurum. Veðr var gott ok s [0...0].

## <111. kapítuli>

Í þenna tíma vaknaði Hoskuldr Hvítanessgoði [0...0] i sín ok tók yfir skikkjuna Flosanaut; hann t [0...0] pu í họnd sér ok eitt sverð í aðra ok fór til [0...0] sár korninu. Þeir Skarpheðinn họfðu þat meðr s [0...0] kyldu allir á honum vinna. Skarpheðinn spratt upp [0...0] En er Hoskuldr sá hann, vildi hann undan snúa. Þá [0...0] at honum ok mælti: "Hirð eigi at hopa á hæl, h [0...0] in," ok høggr til hans, ok kom í hofuðit, ok fell [0...0] mælti þetta við, er hann fell: "Guð hjálpi mér, en f [0...0] Hljópu þeir þá at honum ollum megin ok unnu [0...0] senn. Þá mælti Morðr: "Ráð kemr mér í hug." "Hver [0...0] Skarpheðinn. Þat sagði Morðr, "at ek mun heim, fara f [0...0] mun ek fara upp til Grjótár ok segja þeim tíðin [0...0] illa yfir verkinu. En ek veit, at Þorgerðr [0...0] mik, til at lýsa víginu, ok mun ek því gera [0...0] ina þeim mest málaspell verða. Ek [0...0] a mann í Ossabœ ok vita, hversu skjótt [0...0] ok mun spyrja þar tíðendin, ok mun ek [0...0] frétta af þeim tíðendin. "Far þú svá me [0...0] þeir bræðr fóru heim ok Kári. En er þeir kómu [0...0] Njáli tíðendin. "Hormulig tíðendi," sag [0...0] slíkt illt at vita, því at þat er satt at se [0...0] fellr mér nær um trega, at mér þætti [0...0] a látit tvá sonu mína ok lifði Hoskuldr." [0...0] várkunn," sagði Skarpheðinn; "bú ert mjok ga [0...0] at þér falli nær." "Eigi er þat síðr, en elli," sag [0...0] gørr en bér, hvat eptir mun koma." h0 [0...0] sagði Skarpheðinn. "Dauði minn ok konu mi [0...0] [0...0] di Njáll. "Hvat spár þú mér?" sagði Kári. Erfitt mun [0...0] ganga móti giptu þinni," sagði Njáll, "því at þú munt [0...0] júgari verða," sagði Njáll. Sjá einn hlutr var svá, at Njáli [0...0] at hann mátti aldri ókløkkvandi til tala. [0...0]

#### <112. kapítuli>

Hildigunnr vaknaði ok fann, at Hoskuldr var [0...0] tu ór sænginni. Hon mælti: "Harðir hafa draum [0...0] góðir, ok leitit at honum Hoskuldi." Þeir leituðu hans ok [0...0] Þá hafði Hildigunnr klætt sik; ferr hon þá ok [0...0] meðr henni til gerðisins; ok fin[0...0] [0...0] alamaðr Marðar ok

sagði henni, at þeir 0000 [0...0] neðan þaðan, "ok kallaði Skarpheðinn á mik ok lýsti hann [0...0] nd sér." Karlmannligt verk væri þetta," sagði hon, "ef e [0...0] t hon tók skikkjuna ok þerrði blóðit meðr ok [0...0] an í blóðlifrarnar ok braut svá saman ok lagði [0...0] sína. Nú sendi hon mann upp til Grjótár at segja [0...0] var fyrir Morðr ok hafði áðr sagt tíðendin. Þar var [0...0] l ór Mork. Þorgerðr mælti til Ketils: "Nú er Hoskuldr dauðr [0...0] nú áðr, ok mun nú, hverju þú hefir heit [0...0] [0000] hann, "at ek hafa ærit morgu heitit [0...0] lada, at ekki mundi þessir dagar 000m [0...0] v eru orðnir; [00] er ek viðr va [00] kominn, því at 0 [0...0] ogum, þar sem ek á dóttur Njáls." "Hvárt vilt þú," [0...0] 0t Morðr lýsi víginu?" "Eigi veit ek þat," sagði Ket[0] [0...0] þykki mér sem illt leiði af honum en [000]t." [0...0] talaði við Ketil, þá fór honum sem od[0000] svá [0... 0] mundi trúr vera honum, ok var þat ráð þeira, at [0...0] 0sa víginu ok búa málit at [000] til þings. [0...0] fan í Ossabæ. Þangat kómu níu búar, þeir er næs [0...0] 0fgi. Morðr hafði tíu menn meðr sér. Hann sýnir [0...0] ok nefnir vátta at benjum ok nefnir mann [0...0 0]ma til eins; þat leit hann sem hann vissi eigi, hverr [0...0] en því hafði hafði hann sjálfr sært. En hann [0...0] á hond Skarpheðni. En sárum á honum [00] bræðrum [0...0] 0 kvaddi heiman vættvangsbúa [0...0] eptir bat [0...0] Orðr þeim, er þeir fundusk, ok var þat þeira. [0...0] g Hoskulds spurð[0...0] allar sveitir ok mællti illa fyrir. Þeir Njálssynir fóru at finna Ásgrím Elliða-Grímsson ok báðu hann liðveizlu. "Þess megit bér vánir vita," sagði hann, "at ek mun vðr veita at ollum inum stærstum málum, en bó segir mér þungt um málin hugrinu, því at margir eru eptirmæls, en víg þetta mælisk illa fyrir um allar sveitir." Nú fóru Njálssynir heim.

#### <113. kapítuli>

Maðr er nefndr Guðmundr inn ríki, er bjó á Mǫðruvǫllum í Eyjafirði; hann var Eyjólfsson, [0]narssonar, Auðunar [0...0] Þorsteinssonar skrofa, Grímssonar kambans. [00000] Guðmundar hét Hallbera, hon var dóttir Þórodds hjálms, en móðir hennar hét Reginleif dóttir Sæmundar hins suðreyska. Við þann er kennd Sæmundarhlíð í Skagafirði. Móðir Eyjólfs, f[0] Guðmundar, var Valgerðr Runólfsdóttir, móðir hennar var Valborg; hennar móðir Jórunn in óborna, dóttir Ósvalds konungs ins helga. [0...0] fǫður Eyjólfs, var Helga, dóttir Helga ins magra, er nam Eyjafjorð; son

Eyvindar Austmanns ok Rufjortu dóttur Kjarvals Írakonungs. Móðir Helgu, dóttur Helga, var Þórunn hyrna, dóttir Ketils flatnefs, var Bjarnarsonar bunu, Grímssonar hersis úr Sogni; móðir Gríms var Hervor, en Hervarar móðir var Þorgerðr, dóttir Háleygs konungs af Hálogalandi. Þorlaug hét kona Guðmundar ins ríka, dóttir Atla ins ramma, Eilífssonar arnar, Bárðarsonar, Jarl-Ketilssonar refs, Skíðasonar ins gamla. Herdís hét móðir Þorlaugar, dóttir Þórðar hofða, Bjarnarsonar byrðusmjors, Hróaldssonar, Hróðlaugssonar hryggs, Bjarnarsonar [000]nsíðu, Ragnarssonar loðbrókar, Sigurðarsonar Hringssonar, Randvéssonar, Ráðbarðssonar. Móðir Herdísar Skíða, dóttur [0...0]ðgerðr dóttir Kjarvals Írakonungs. Guðmundr var hofðingi mikill; hann var auðigr at fé hann hafði hund ra[0] hjóna. Hann sat yfir virðingu allra hofðingja fyrir norðan land, svá at sumir létu bústaði sína, en suma tók hann af lífi, en sumir létu goðorð [000] f honum. Ok er frá honum komit allt it mesta mannval frá landinu. O[0...0]v[0] ok [0...0] hva0000 ok Fljótamenn Ketill byskup ok margir inir bestu menn. Guðmundr var vinr Ásgríms Elliða-Grímssonar, ok ætlaði hann þar til liðveizlu.

## <104. kapítuli>

Snorri hét maðr, ok enn kallaðr goði. [000] bjó at Helgafelli, [000] Guðrún Ósvífrsdóttir keypti at honum landit ok bjó hon þar síðan. En Sno⟨rri⟩ f[0...0] til Hvammsfjarðar ok bjó í Sælingsdals [0... 0]orgrímr [0...0] ok var son Þorsteins þorskabíts þo[0...0]sonar Mostrarskeggs Qrnólfssonar fiskareka, en Ari hinn fróði sagði hann vera son Þorgils reyðarsíðu. Þórólfr Mostrarskegg átti Ósku, dóttur Þor [0...0] rauða. Móðir Þorgríms hét Þóra, dóttir Óleifs feilans Þorsteinssonar ins rauða, Óleifssonar ins hvíta, Ingjaldssonar, Helgasonar, en móðir Ingjalds hét Þóra, dóttir Sigurðar orms-í-auga Ragnarssonar loðbrókar, en móðir Snorra hét Þórdís, systir Gísla Súrs [000]. Snorri goði var vinr mikill Ásgríms Elliða-Grímssonar, ok ætlaði hann þar til liðveizlu, Snorri var vitrastr maðr á Íslandi þeira er eigi váru forspáir. Hann var góðr vinum sínum en grimmr óvinum. Í þenna tíma var þingreið mikil á ollum landsfjórðungum ok hofðu menn morg mál til búit.

Flosi spyrr víg Hoskulds [0]ags [0...0] síns ok aflar honum þat mikillar áhyggju ok reiði; þó var hann vel stillt. Honum var sagðr málatilbúnaðrinn sá, sem hafðr hafði verit eptir víg Hoskulds, ok lét hann sér fátt um þat finnask. Hann sendi orð Síðu-Halli, mági sínum, [0] ok Ljóti, syni hans, at þeir skyldu fjolmenna mjok til þings. Ljótr þótti bezt hofðingjaefni [0000] honum var þat fyrir spát ef hann riði þrjú sumur til þings ok kæmi hann heill heim, at þá mundi hann verða mestr họfðingi í ætt sinni ok ellstr. Hann hafði riðit eitt sumar til þings, en nú ætlaði hann annat Flosi [6]000] orð kol Þorsteins syni ok Glúmi Hildissyni ins gamla, Geirleifssonar Ámundasonar toskubaks, ok Móðólfs Ketilssonar ok riðu þeir allir til móts við hann. Hallr hét ok at fjolmenna mjok. Flosi reið þar til er hann kom í Kirkjubæ til Surts Ásbjarnarsonar. Þar þá send hann en[0 0000000] Egilssyni bróðursyni sínum ok kom þar ok reið hann þar til er hann kom til Hofðabrekku. Þar bjó Þorgrímr skrauti Þorkelsson ins fagra, Flosi bað hann ríða til þings meðr sér. En hann játti því ok mælti til Flosa: "Optar hefir þú, bóndi, verit glaðari en nú, en þó er nokkur várkunn á, at svá sé." Flosi mælti: "Þat hefir nú víst at handa borit, at ek munda gefa til alla mína eigu, at eigi borit hefði at borit, er illu k[0...0] að enda mun illt af leiða. Þaðan reið hann um Arnarstakksheiði ok á Sólheima um kveldit; þar bjó Loðmundr Úlfsson, hann var vinr Flosa mikill, Flosi var þar um nóttina. En um morgininn eptir reið meðr honum Loðmundr í dal. Þar bjó Runólfr, son Úlfs o[0]goða Flosi mælti til Runólfs: "Hér munu vér hafa sannar sogur um víg Hoskulds. Ert þú maðr sannorðr en kominn nær frétt, ok mun ek trúa því, er þú segir frá, hvat til saka hefir orðit m[0...0]m." Runólfr mælti: "Ekki þarf þat orðum fegra at: hann hefir mei[0] en saklauss drepinn verit; ok er hann ollum monnum harmdauði, ok þykkir engum jafnmikit sem Njáli, fóstra hans." "Þá mun honum verða illt til liðveizlumanna," sagði Flosi. "Svá mun þat," sagði Runólfr, "ef ekki dregr til." "Hvat er nú at gort?" sagði Flosi. "Nú eru kvaddir búar ok lýst víginu," sagði Runólfr. "Hverr gerði þat?" sagði Flosi. "Morðr Valgarðsson," sagði Runólfr. "Hversu trúir þú honum?" sagði Flosi. "Skyldr er hann mér," sagði Runólfr, "en þat mun ek satt frá segja, at fleiri hljóta af honum illt en gott. En þess vil ek þik biðja, at þú gefir ró reiði ok takir bat af, er minnst vandi sé, því at mun góð boð bjóða fyrir sonu sína, ok allir inir b[0...0] Flosi mælti: "Ríð þú til þings, Runólfr, ok skulu mikit mega [00...0] mik, nema til verra dragi en vera

skyldi." S[0...0]ettu þeir talinu, ok hét Runólfr ferðinni. Runólfr sendi orð [0...0] inum spaka, frænda sínum. Hann reið þegar þangat. F⟨losi⟩ reið þaðan í Ossabæ.

## <106. kapítuli>

Hildigunnr var úti ok mælti: "Nú skulu allir heimamenn vera úti, er Flosi ríðr í garð, en konur skulu tjalda húsin ok ræsta ok búa Flosa ondvegi." Síðan reið [00] í túnit. Hildigunnr sneri þegar at honum ok mælti: "Kom heill ok sæll, frændi, ok er fegit [0...0] þinni. "Hér skulu vér eta dagverð dag ok ríða [0...0] Þá váru b[0...0] estar þeira. Flosi gekk inn í stofu ok sett[000000] ok kastar í pallinn undan sér hægindinu ok mælti: "Hvárki er ek konungr né jarl, ok vil ek ekki láta gera hásæti undir mér ok þarf ekki at spotta mik. Hildigunnr mælti, því at hon var stodd nær: Þat er illa er þér mislíkar, því at þetta gerðu vér af heilum hug." [0...0] "Ef þú hefir heilan hug við mik, þá lofar þat si[0...0] [0...0]g, ef illa ef." Hildigunnr hló at [0...0] a hlátur ok mælti: "Ekki er enn mark at; nær munu við gangask, ok verða áðr en lýkr." Hon settisk niðr hjá Flosa, ok toluðu þau lengi hljótt. Síðan váru borð tekin, en Flosi tók laugar ok lið hans. Flosi hugði at handklæðinu, ok váru raufar einar ok numit í annan endann[0]; hann kastaði því í bekkinn ok vildi eigi þerra sér á ok reist af borðdúkinum ok þurrkaði sik þar á ok kastaði til manna si[0...0] eðan settisk Flosi undir borðit ok bað menn sína eta. Þá kom Hildigunnr í stofuna ok greiddi hárit frá augum sér ok grét. "Skapbungt er bér nú, frændkona," sagði Flosi, "en bó er þat vel, er bú grætr góðan mann." "Hvert eptirmæli skal ek af þér hafa," sagði hon, "eðr liðveizlu?" Flosi mælti "Sækja mun ek mál þitt til fullra laga ok til þeira sætta, er góðir menn sjá, at vér sé vel haldan af í alla staði." Hon mælti: "Hefna mundi Hoskuldr þín, ef hann ætti eptir þik at mæla. Flosi mælti: "Eigi skortir þik grimmleik, ok sé ek hvat, er þú vill." Hon mælti: "Minna hafði misgort Arnórr, ommubróðir Ornólfs ór Forsárskógum við Þórð Freysgoða, foður þinn, ok vágu bræðr þínir hann á Skaptafell [0...0]1 beinn ok Egill." Hildigunnr gekk fram í skála [0...0]pp kistu sinni; tók upp skikkjuna þá, er hon ha[0...0]egit af Flosa, ok í þeiri var Hoskuldr veginn, ok hafði hon þar [0... 0]eitt í blóðit allt. Hon gekk þá innar í stofuna [0...0]ikkjuna. Hon gekk þegjandi at Flosi. Þá var Flosi mettr ok af borit borðinu. Hildigunnr lagði þá yfir Flosa skikkjuna; dunði þá blóð um hann

allan. Hon mælti: "Þessa skikkju gaft þú, Flosi, Hoskuldi, ok vil ek nú gefa þér hana aptr. Var hann ok í þessi veginn. Skýt ek því til guðs ok góðra manna, at ek særi þik fyrir alla krapta Krists bíns ok fyrir manndóm ok [0000]zku bína, at bú hefnir allra þeira [0...0] sem Hoskuldr hafði á sér dauðum, eðr heitir h00s manns níðingr ella." Flosi ka[0...0] skikkjunni ok k00 at[0...0] fang henni Flosi mælir: "Þú ert hit mesta [000]at[00] vildir, at vér tækim þat upp, er ollum [0...0]us ok eru kold [0...0] í andliti stundum sem blóð [0...0]ndum f[0]r sem nár, stundum blár sem hel. Þeir Flosi riðu þá í brott. Hann ríðr til Holtavaðs ok bíðr þar Sigfússona ok annarra [000] Ingjaldr bjó at Keldum, bróðir Hróðnýjar, móður Hoskulds. Þau váru born Hoskulds ins hvíta, Ingjaldssonar ins sterka, Geirfinnssonar ins rauða, Solvasonar, Þorsteinssonar berserkjabana. Ingjaldr átti Þraslaugu, dóttur Egils, Þórðarsonar Freysgoða; móðir Egils var Þraslaug, dóttir Þorsteins tittlings; móðir Þraslaugar var Unnr, dóttir Eyvindar karfa. Flosi sendi orð Ingjaldi frá Keldum, at hann kæmi til móts við hann. Ingjaldr fór þegar við inn fimmtánda mann. Ingjaldr var mikill maðr ok sterkr; fálátr ok inn traustasti maðr ok fédrengr góðr við vini sína. Flosi fagnar honum vel ok mælti: "Mikill vandi er komin at hendi oss, ok er nú vant ór at ráða. Biðr ek þik þess, mágr, at þú skilisk eigi við mik fyrr en lýkr yfir vandræði þessi." Ingjaldr mælti: "Við vant er ek um kominn fyrir tengða sakir við Njál ok sonu hans ok annarra stórhluta, er hér stendr á milli." Flosi mælti: "Þat ætlaða ek, þá er gipta þér bróðurdóttur mína, at þú hétir mér því at fylgja mér at hverju máli." "Þat er ok líkast," sagði Ingjaldr, "at ek geri svá, en þó vil vil fyrst heim ríða ok þaðan til bings."

# <107. kapitúli>

Sigfússynir spurðu, at Flosi var við Holtavað, ok riðu þá til móts við hann, ok var þar Ketill ór Mǫrk ok Lambi, bróðir hans, Þorkell Mǫrðr ok Sigmundr, bróðir þeira. Þar var ok Lambi Sigurðarson ok Gunnarr Lambason ok Grani Gunnarsson, Vébrandr Hámundarson. Flosi stóð upp at móti þeim ok fagnaði þeim ǫllum blíðliga. Þeir gengu fram at ánni. Flosi hafði af þeim sannar sǫgur, ok skilr þá hvergi á ok Runólf í Dal. Flosi mælti til Ketils ór Mǫrk: "Þik kveðr ek at þessu:

hversu harðsnúinn ert þú á þetta mál eðr Sigfússynir?" Ketill mælti: "Þat vilda ek, at sættir yrði meðr oss. En þó hefir ek svarit eiða at skiljask [0...0]

## <119. kapítuli>

[0...0]ud honum at sitja. Ásgrímr mælti: "ins vilda ek biðja þik, at þú veittir mér lið ok mágum mínum." Hafr svarar skjótt ok kvezk ekki mundu taka undir vandræði þeira, "en þó vil ek spyrja þik þess hverr sá er inn folleiti, er fjórir menn [00] fyrr ok er svá illiligr sem genginn sé út ór sjáfarbjor g[0]nn. Skarpheðinn mælti: "Hirð ekki þat, mjólki þinn, hverr ek em, því at ek mun þora þar fram ganga, er þú sitr fyrir, ok munda ek allóhræddr, þó at sveinar sæti á gotu minni fyrir mér sem þú ert. Er þat ok skyldra at sækja Svanlaugu, systur þína, er Eydís járnsaxa ok þau Steðjakollr tóku ór híbýlum þínum ok þorðir þú ekki at at hafa." Ásgrímr mælti: "Gongum út; ekki er hér ván til til nokkurrar liðveizlu." Ok gongu þeir þá til Moðrvellingabúðar ok spurðu, hvárt Guðmundr inn ríki var þar. Þeim var sagt, at hann var þar. Ásgrímr gekk inn í búðina. Hásæti var í miðri búðinni, ok sat þar Guðmundr. Ásgrímr gekk fyrir hann ok kvaddi vel. Guðmundr tók honum vel ok bauð hann sitja. Ásgrímr mælti: "Eigi vil ek sitja, en biðja vil ek þik liðveizlu, því at þú ert kappsamr ok mikill hofðingi." "Ekki skal vera á móti þér," sagði Guðmundr, "en ef mér sýnisk at veita bér lið, þá megu vit vel tala um þat síðar," ok tók hann ollu vel. Ásgrímr þakkaði honum od orð sín. Guðmundr mælti: "Maðr sá er einn í liði þínu, er ek hef horft á um stund, ok lízk mér ógurligri flestum monnum, þeim er ek hefir áðr sét." "Hverr er sá maðr?" sagði Ásgrímr. "Fjórir menn ganga [0000]r [0] jarpr á hárslit ok follitaðr, mikill vexti ok ernligr ok svá skjótligr til karlmennsku, at heldr vil ek hann til liðs en tíu aðra. Ok er þó maðrinn [0...0] loðinkinna, Ketilssonar [0...0] kell hafði farit utan [0...0] di drepit spellvirkja [0...0] austr í Svíþjóð ok fór [0...0] herjuðu þaðan í austr v [0...0] síðu átti Þorkell at sækja [0...0] mætti hann finngálkni e [0...0] meðr þeim at hann drap [0...0] í Aðalsýslu Þar vá hann at [0...0] til Svíþjóðar ok þaðan til no [0...0] gera þrekvirki þessi yfir [0...0] ti sínu. hann barðisk á Ljósv [0...0] ríka meðr bræðrum si [0...0] du þeir þá illmæli [0...0] Þorkell hákr Þor [0...0] at hann mundi eigi [0...0] var hann því kallaðr [0...0] ki í orðum né [0...0].

## <120. kapítuli>

Ásgrímr [0...0] til fela [0...0] pi mikill ok [0...0] hans. Skulu vér hér til [0...0] skapvandr [0...0] látir ekki til taka [0...0] at hann var íblám [0...0] fa svarta skúo. [0...0] [0...0] málit ok man svá v [0...0] unnin. Ok veit ek hvat þér [0...0] it at þú ætlaðir, at ek [0...0] ðmundr ok munda vilja [0...0] aði þá ok þótti þungt [0...0] ilki ok inn feiknligi er [0...0] karpleitr ógæfusamligr ok [0...0] karp ok er þér skuldlaust at [0...0] manni hefir mik aldri þat [0...0] mín ok barizk við hann sem þú [0...0] it riðit til alþingis ok [0...0] þér kringra at gera ljósa [0...0] Er þér ok skyldara at [0...0] merarinnar er þú ázt [0...0] þín ok undraðisk [0...0] rkell spratt upp af [0...0] illi reiði ok mælti: [0...0] hín mesta ka [0...0]ðr. Ok þegar ek þér [0...0] allt þú hafa [0...0] reidda øxin [0...0] a ek í hendi [0...0] vá ek Þráin S [0...0] fékk engin [0...0] eitt vápn at [0...0] æðrum sínum frá sér [0...0] var. Njáll mælti: "Má vera at dragi til þess, er vera vill." Guðmundr inn ríki sp[00] hversu farit haf[0000] þeim Þorkatli [0000] hann mælti svá: "Kunnigt hv v farit meðr oss Ljósvetningum, ok hefi ek all[0...0] mikla skamm eðr svivirðing fyrir þeim sem nú [0...0] fyrir Skarpheðinn, ok er þetta alvel orðit." Síðan mælti [0...0] Einar Þveræing, bróður sín: "Þú skalt fara meðr ollu liði mínu ok veita Njálssonum, þá er dómar út fara, en ef þeir þurfa liðs meðr annat sumar, skal ek sjálfr veita þat lið." Einarr játaði þessu ok lét segja Ásgrími. Hann mælti: "Ólíkr er Guðmundr flestum hofðingjum." Ásgrímr sagði Njáli þetta.

#### <121. kapítuli>

Annan dag eptir fundusk þeir Ásgrímr ok Gizurr hvíti, Hjalti Skeggjason ok Einarr Þveræingr. Þar var þá ok Mǫrðr Valgarðsson; hann hafði þá af hǫndum sóknina ok selt í hendr Sigfússonum. Ásgrímr mælti: "Þik kveðr ek fyrstan at þessu, Gizurr inn hvíti, ok Hjalta ok Einar Þveræing, at ek vil segja yðr í hvernefnin komit, er málinum yðr er nú kunnigt, at Mǫrðr hefir áðr sótt málit, en svá er [00] við vaxit, at Mǫrðr hefir áðr verit at vígi Hǫskulds ok sært hann því sári, er engin var til nefndr, ok sýnisk mér sem þat mál muni ónýtt fyrir laga sakir." "Þá viljum vér 0a þat fram," sagði Hjalti. Þorhallr Ásgrímsson mælti ok kvað þat ekki ráð, at eigi færi þat leynt áðr dómar færi

v[0...0] þat," sagði sagði Hjalti. Þorhallr mælti: "Ef þeir vita nú þegar, at rangt hefir verit til búit, þá mega þeir svá bjarga sǫkinni at senda þegar mann af þ[0...0].